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Auditors’ report on the financial statements 
issued by an independent auditor 

 
To the Sole Shareholder of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U.: 

 
 

Report on the annual financial statements 
 

Opinion     

 
We have audited the financial statements of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. (the Company), comprising 
the balance sheet at 31 December 2021, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of changes in 
equity, the statement of cash flows, and the report corresponding to the year then ended. 

 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, of the equity and financial position of the Company at 31 December 2021, and the results of 
its operations and cash flows corresponding to the year then ended, in accordance with the applicable 
regulatory financial reporting framework (identified in Note 1.2 to the report) and, in particular, to the 
accounting principles and criteria contained therein. 

 

Basis for the opinion    
 

We performed our audit in accordance with the regulations governing financial auditing in force in Spain. 
Our responsibilities under those regulations are later described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. 

 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with ethics requirements, including those relating 
to independence, which are applicable to our audit of the financial statements in Spain pursuant to 
the regulations governing financial auditing. Consequently, we have not provided services other than 
financial auditing, nor have we involved ourselves in situations or circumstances which, in 
accordance with the abovementioned regulatory standards, have affected independence to the extent 
where it is compromised. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we obtained provides a sufficient and appropriate basis for our 
opinion. 

 

Key audit matters 
 

 
Key audit matters are those which, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters have been addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matters    Handling of the audit 

 

Credit risk impairment of financial assets at 
amortised cost 

 

The determination of credit risk impairment is 
based on internal expected loss calculation 
models. In the context of the COVID-19 crisis, 
the estimation of credit risk impairment has 
become more complex, due to adaptations to 
internal models to incorporate new 
assumptions and elements of judgement. 
These include the consideration of guarantees 
in government-backed transactions and the 
consideration of adjustments to collective 
provisioning models to adapt them to uncertain 
macroeconomic scenarios. This estimation 
requires a high degree of judgement on the 
part of management and is one of the most 
significant and complex estimates in 
the preparation of the accompanying financial 
statements and, therefore, it has been 
considered one of the key audit matters. 

Our work has included the involvement of internal 
specialists in credit risk models and has focused 
on the analysis, assessment and verification of 
internal control, as well as detailed testing of the 
impairment estimation. 

 
Regarding the internal control system, we 
obtained an understanding of the process of 
estimating credit risk impairment and performed 
tests on the adequacy of controls at the various 
stages of the process. 

 
The regular assessment of credit risk monitoring 
alerts and the recording of impairment, where 
applicable, have also been reviewed. 

 
We have also carried out detailed tests 
comprising: 

In addition to the above, the • 
main judgements and estimates made by 
management are as follows: 

 
• The criteria for the identification and 

staging of impaired assets or assets 
with a significant increase in credit risk, 
including the additional criteria 
established in the context of COVID-19. 

 

• The construction of the parameters for 
the internal models for 
probability of default (PD) and loss 
given default (LGD). • 
 

 

• The use of assumptions that have a 
significant effect on the provisions for 
credit risk, such as the macroeconomic 
scenarios considered and their 
likelihood of occurring (in particular with 
the adjustment to the collective 
provisioning model made in the context 
of the COVID-19 crisis), the expected 
life of the operations and existence of 
prepayments, among others. 

Analysis of the methodology and 
verifications of the internal model with 
regard to: i) segmentation and calculation 
methods; ii) criteria for staging credit 
assets; iii) estimation of the expected loss 
parameters (probability of default and loss 
given default); iv) data and main estimates 
used, particularly those relating to 
macroeconomic scenarios and their 
assumptions; and v) recalibrations and 
backtesting conducted in internal models. 

 
Validation of the additional criteria, 
established in the context of COVID-19, 
for the assessment of SICR. 
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Key audit matters Handling of the audit 

See Notes 2, 3.4.1 and 10 to the 
accompanying financial statements regarding 
credit risk, and Note 26 of the accompanying 
financial statements regarding profit and loss 
for the year. 

• Reviewing the operation of the 
"calculation engine" of the 
collective provisions of the credit risk 
impairment estimate models, re-executing 
the calculation of the provisions for the loan 
portfolio and comparing them with the 
results obtained by the Company's 
management. In addition, we have verified 
the variation during the year of the 
collective provision set up in 2020 for the 
adjustment made to the models due to the 
change in the macroeconomic scenario in 
the context of the COVID-19 crisis (Post 
Model Adjustment), as well as its 
appropriateness at 31 December 2021. 

 
As a result of our tests, no differences – above a 
reasonable range – have been identified in the 
amounts recorded in the accompanying financial 
statements. 

 
 

Other information: Management report 

 
Other information exclusively covers the 2021 management report, the preparation of which is the 
responsibility of the Company’s directors and is not an integral part of the financial statements. 

 
Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover the management report. Our 
responsibility for the management report, pursuant to the requirements of the regulations governing 
financial auditing, comprises assessing and reporting on the consistency of the management report 
with the financial statements, based on the knowledge of the company obtained when conducting the 
audit of the aforementioned statements, as well as assessing and providing information if the content 
and presentation of the management report complies with applicable standards. If we conclude that 
there are material mistakes based on the work that we have completed, we are required to report 
them. 

 
Based on the work carried out, as described in the previous paragraph, the information contained 
in the management report is in line with that of the 2021 financial statements and its content and 
presentation are in accordance with the applicable regulations. 

 

Responsibility of the directors and the Audit and Risk Committee in relation to auditing of the 
financial statements 

 

 
The directors are responsible for preparing the accompanying financial statements in order that they 
give a true and fair view of the equity, financial position and results of the Company, in accordance with 
the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the entity in Spain, and for such internal 
control as is deemed necessary to enable the financial statements to be prepared free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the 
ability of the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, where applicable, going-concern-
related matters and using the going-concern accounting principle unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Company or to cease its operations, or there is no realistic alternative. 

 
The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for overseeing the process of preparing and presenting 
the financial statements. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities in relation to auditing of the financial statements 
 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements as a whole are free of 
material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit report which contains our 
opinion. 

 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it does not guarantee that an audit completed 
in accordance with the regulations governing financial auditing in force in Spain will always detect a 
material misstatement where it exists. Misstatements can emerge due to fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or jointly, it can be reasonably predicted that they will influence the 
economic decisions made by users based on the financial statements. 

 
As part of an audit pursuant to the regulations governing financial auditing in force in Spain, we apply 
our professional judgement and exercise professional scepticism during the audit. Furthermore: 

 
• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatements in the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, we design and apply audit procedures to respond to these risks, and we 
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than for a material misstatement 
due to error, as fraud can involve collusion, forgery, deliberate omissions, intentionally incorrect 
statements or avoidance of internal controls. 

 
• We obtain knowledge about the relevant internal control for the audit in order to design 

appropriate audit procedures in accordance with the circumstances but not in order to express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 

 
• We assess if the applied accounting policies are appropriate, as well as the 

reasonableness of accounting estimations and corresponding information revealed by 
directors. 

 
• We conclude if the use of the going-concern accounting principle by the directors is 

appropriate and, based on the obtained audit evidence, we conclude if there is material 
uncertainty related to the facts or conditions which can create significant doubts regarding the 
Company’s ability to continue to operate. If we conclude that there is a material uncertainty, 
we must call attention to the corresponding information revealed in the financial statements in 
our report or, if these revelations are not appropriate, we express a modified opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audit report. However, 
future facts and conditions can cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• We assess the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that presents a true and fair view. 
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We communicate with the entity's Audit and Risk Committee regarding – among other matters – the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and the significant audit findings, as well as any significant 
internal control deficiencies that we identify during the audit. 

 
We also provide the entity's Audit and Risk Committee with a statement that we have met the 
applicable ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and we inform them of any 
matters that may reasonably be deemed to have a bearing on our independence and, where 
applicable, the corresponding safeguards. 

 
Among the matters reported to the company's Audit and Risk Committee, we determine those that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements for the current period and which are, 
therefore, the key audit matters. 

 
We describe these matters in our audit report unless legal or regulatory provisions prohibit the public 
disclosure of the matter. 

 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

 

Additional report to the Audit and Risk Committee 
 

 
The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the provisions of our additional report for the 
Company's Audit and Risk Committee on 24 March 2022. 

 

Term of engagement 
 

 
The sole shareholder, on 9 July 2020, appointed us as auditors for a period of one year for the financial 
year ending 31 December 2021. 

 
We were previously appointed by the sole shareholder for a period of three years and have been 
performing the audit work continuously since the year ended 31 December 2018. 

 
In addition, on 29 July 2021, the sole shareholder appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, 
S.L. as auditors of the Entity for a period of one year, from the year ending 31 December 2022. 

 

Services provided   

 
The non-audit services provided to the audited entity are disclosed in note 25 to the annual accounts. 

 
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6th april 2022
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BALANCE SHEET   
ASSETS  
(Thousands of euros) 

 NOTE 31-12-2021 31-12-2020 (*)
Cash and cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 292 1,644
Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income 9 2,500 1,308
 Equity instruments 2,500 1,308
Financial assets at amortised cost 10 1,968,496 1,723,959
 Loans and advances 1,968,496 1,723,959
  Credit institutions 121 19
  Customers 1,968,375 1,723,940
Tangible assets 11 2,917 3,348
 Property, plant and equipment 2,917 3,348
  For own use 2,917 3,348
Intangible assets 12 1,631 1,328
 Other intangible assets 1,631 1,328
Tax assets  21,641 28,926
 Current tax assets 7 2
 Deferred tax assets 17 21,634 28,924
Other assets 13 2,774 5,967
 Other assets 2,774 5,967
TOTAL ASSETS 2,000,251 1,766,480
     Memorandum items   
Off-balance-sheet exposures   
       Loan commitments given  18 310 1,484
       Financial guarantees given  18 75 79
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1) 
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BALANCE SHEET  
LIABILITIES  
(Thousands of euros) 
 NOTE 31-12-2021 31-12-2020 (*)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 14 1,573,216 1,372,696
 Deposits 1,570,515 1,369,677
      Credit institutions 1,520,291 1,321,281
      Customers 50,224 48,396
 Other financial liabilities 2,701 3,019
Provisions 15 699 617
 Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 690 582
 Commitments and guarantees given 9 36
Tax liabilities  8,686 9,096
 Current tax liabilities 8,557 9,063
 Deferred tax liabilities  17 129 33
Other liabilities 13 29,077 30,477
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,611,678 1,412,886
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1). 

 
EQUITY    
(Thousands of euros) 

 NOTE 31-12-2021 31-12-2020 (*)
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 16 388,239 353,503
Capital  90,186 90,186
Retained earnings  244,851 241,067
Other reserves  16,845 16,845
Profit/(loss) for the period  36,357 5,405
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  334 91
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  334 91
 Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans  35 16

 
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in other 
comprehensive income  299 75

TOTAL EQUITY  388,573 353,594
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  2,000,251 1,766,480
      
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1). 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
(Thousands of euros) 
  NOTE 2021 2020 (*)
Interest income 20 121,131 122,591
 Financial assets at amortised cost  121,131 122,591
Interest expenses   21 (7,673) (6,422)
NET INTEREST INCOME 113,458 116,169
Dividend income   0 1
Fee and commission income   22 7,504 6,455
Fee and commission expenses 22 (2,607) (2,583)
Other operating income   23 1,586 1,302
Other operating expenses   23 (504) (483)
GROSS INCOME 119,437 120,861
Administrative expenses  (35,550) (36,864)
 Personnel expenses  24 (3,225) (2,968)
 Other administrative expenses 25 (32,325) (33,896)

Repayment  
11 and 

12 (794) (724)
Provisions or reversal of provisions 15 (109) (128)
Impairment/(reversal) of impairment losses on financial assets not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss or net profit or loss due to a change  26 (31,035) (75,392)
 Financial assets at amortised cost (31,035) (75,392)
Gains/(losses) on derecognition of non-financial assets, net   (6)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 51,949 7,747
Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from continuing operations (15,592) (2,342)
PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 36,357 5,405
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 36,357 5,405
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1). 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (PART A) 
STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
(Thousands of euros) 

   2021 2020 (*)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 36,357 5,405
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 243 0
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 243 (32)
 Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension plans 27 (44)
 Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 321 (2)
 Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified (104) 14
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 32
 Cash flow hedges (effective portion) 46
  Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity  93
  Transferred to profit or loss  (47)
 Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss  (14)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 36,601 5,406
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1).  
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (PART B) 
STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY  
(Thousands of euros)          

 SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

ACCUMULATE
D OTHER 

COMPREHENSI
VE INCOME TOTAL  NOTE CAPITAL 

SHARE 
PREMIUM 

OTHER EQUITY 
ITEMS 

RETAINED 
EARNINGS 

OTHER 
RESERVES 

LESS: OWN 
SHARES 

PROFIT/(LOSS) 
FOR THE 
PERIOD 

LESS: INTERIM 
DIVIDENDS 

BALANCE AT 31-12-2019 90,186   216,774 16,845  34,704  91 358,600 
Effects of changes in accounting policies       
OPENING BALANCE AT 01-01-2020 90,186 216,774 16,845 34,704  91 358,600 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  5,405   5,405 
OTHER CHANGES IN EQUITY 24,293 (34,704)  (10,411) 
Dividends (or remuneration to shareholders)    (10,411)      (10,411) 
Transfers among components of equity   34,704   (34,704)   
Other increase/(decrease) in equity         
OPENING BALANCE AT 31-12-2020 (*) 90,186 241,067 16,845 5,405  91 353,594 
Effects of corrections of errors     
Effects of changes in accounting policies   
OPENING BALANCE AT 01-01-2021 90,186 241,067 16,845 5,405  91 353,594 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD       36,357  243 36,601 
OTHER CHANGES IN EQUITY 3,784 (5,405)  (1,622) 
Dividends (or remuneration to shareholders)  6    (1,622)      (1,622) 
Transfers among components of equity    5,405   (5,405)   
Other increase/(decrease) in equity          

CLOSING BALANCE AT 31-12-2021 90,186 244,851 16,845 36,357  334 388,573 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1)      
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (INDIRECT METHOD) 
(Thousands of euros)   

  2021 2020 (*) 
A) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 936 12,568 
Profit/(loss) for the period 36,357 5,405 
Adjustments to obtain cash flows from operating activities 31,939 76,244 
 Repayment 794 724 
 Other adjustments 31,145 75,520 
Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets (263,662) (309,982) 
 Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income 1,432 0 
 Financial assets at amortised cost (275,572) (313,539) 
 Other operating assets 10,478 3,557 
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 196,301 240,901 
 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 200,520 240,055 
 Other operating liabilities (4,219) 846 
B) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (666) (602) 
Payments: (666) (602) 
 Tangible assets (55) (67) 
 Intangible assets (611) (535) 
C) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,622) (10,411) 
Payments: (1,622) (10,411) 
 Dividends (1,622) (10,411) 
E) NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D) (1,352) 1,555 
F) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,707 152 
G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (E+F) 355 1,707 
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR   
 Cash and cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 292 1,644 

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 292 1,644 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2021 

As required by current legislation governing the content of financial statements, these notes to the financial statements complete, 
extend and discuss the balance sheet, statement of profit or loss, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows, and 
form an integral part of them to give a true and fair view of the equity and financial position of Nuevo Micro Bank at 31 December 
2021, and the results of its operations, the changes in equity and the cash flows during the year then ended. 

1. Corporate information, basis of presentation and other information 

 

Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. (Hereinafter, MicroBank or the Company) with tax ID number A65619421 and registered office in Madrid, 
Calle Aduana, number 18, is a private limited company incorporated on 28 July 2011. The Company is registered in the Bank of Spain 
register of financial credit institutions and is subject to its supervision. 

The corporate purpose of MicroBank chiefly entails: 

 receiving public funds in the form of irregular deposits or in other similar formats, in order to use them in its own active credit 
and microcredit operations. In other words, granting unsecured loans, in order to finance the small business initiatives of people 
and micro-enterprises, which, due to their socio-economic characteristics, have difficulties accessing traditional banking 
financing, and other investments with or without pledge collateral, mortgage guarantees or other types of collateral, providing 
customers with remittance, transfer and brokerage services. 

 The development and marketing of socially responsible products that contribute to sustainable social or environmental 
development. 
 

The Company is part of CaixaBank Group, the parent company of which (CaixaBank, S.A.) wholly owns its share capital. Therefore, it 
is subject to the single-member regime. CaixaBank, S.A. (hereinafter, CaixaBank), with registered office in Valencia, Calle Pintor 
Sorolla, no 2-4, is the entity that formulates these consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of 
CaixaBank Group are deposited in the Commercial Register of Valencia and are drawn up within the established legal period. The 
2021 consolidated financial statements of CaixaBank Group were drawn up by its Directors at the meeting of its Board of Directors 
on 17 February 2022.  

 

The Company's financial statements have been prepared by the Board of Directors in accordance with the regulatory financial 
reporting framework applicable to the Company at 31 December 2021, established by Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 of 27 November 
and its successive amendments effective at the year-end. 

The financial statements, which were prepared from the accounting records of the Company, are presented in accordance with the 
regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to them and, in particular, with the accounting principles and rules contained 
therein and, accordingly, present fairly the Company’s equity, financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the 
corresponding financial year.  

The figures are presented in thousands of euros unless the use of another monetary unit is stated. Certain financial information in 
these notes was rounded off and, consequently, the figures shown herein as totals may differ slightly from the arithmetic sum of the 
individual figures given before them. Similarly, in deciding what information to disclose in this report, its materiality was assessed in 
relation to the annual financial data. 

 

 

 

 

1.1. Corporate information 

1.2. Basis of presentation 
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Accounting standards issued by the Bank of Spain that have come into effect during 2021 

On 29 December 2021, Banco de España Circular 6/2021 of 22 December was published, amending Circular 4/2017 to credit 
institutions on public and confidential financial reporting standards and model financial statements, and Circular 4/2019 to financial 
credit institutions on public and confidential financial reporting standards and model financial statements.   
 
This new circular has just incorporated into Spanish law the global reform of interest rate benchmarks (IBORs), in accordance with 
the amendments to IAS 39, IFRS 9, IFRS 7, IFRS 16 and IFRS 4—Phase 2—and makes adjustments to the treatment of restructured, 
refinanced or refinancing operations included in annex 9, on "Analysis and coverage of credit risk", of Circular 4/2017 (applicable at 
the bank as of 2022). 

The entry into force of this regulation has not had a significant impact on the Company. 

  

 

 

The Company's financial statements for 2021 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors at a meeting held on 25 March 
2022. They have not yet been approved by its Sole Shareholder, although they are expected to be approved without any changes. 
The financial statements of the previous year were approved by the Sole Shareholder of the Company on 15 April 2021. 

These financial statements have been drawn up on a going concern basis in terms of the Company's solvency (see Note 4) and liquidity 
(see Note 3.3.1). The preparation of the financial statements required the Board of Directors to make certain judgements, estimates 
and assumptions in order quantify some of the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and obligations shown in them. These 
judgements and estimates mainly refer to: 

 The term of the lease agreements used in the assessment of the lease liabilities (Note 2.13). 
 Impairment losses on financial assets, and of the fair value of guarantees associated thereto, according to their classification in 

accounts, which entail the need to make judgements regarding: i) the consideration of 'a significant increase in credit risk' (SICR), 
ii) the definition of default; and iii) the inclusion of forward-looking information (Note 3). 

 The classification, useful life and impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets (Note 11 and 12). 
 Actuarial assumptions used to measure post-employment liabilities and commitments (Note 15). 
 The measurement of the provisions required to cover labour, legal and tax contingencies (Note 15). 
 The Corporation Tax expense based on the tax rate expected for the full year and the capitalisation and recoverability of tax 

assets (Note 17). 
 The fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities (Note 27). 
 
These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at the date of preparation of the financial statements, 
considering the uncertainty existing on said date arising from the impact of COVID-19 on the current economic environment. 
However, events may occur that make it necessary for them to be changed in the future. According to applicable legislation, the 
effects of these changes would be recognised prospectively in the corresponding statement of profit or loss. 
 

 

 

The 2020 figures presented in the accompanying 2021 financial statements are given for comparison purposes only. In some cases, 
in order to facilitate comparability, the comparative information is presented in a summarised way, and the full information is 
available in the 2020 financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

1.3. Responsibility for the information and 
for the estimates made 

1.4. Comparison of information 
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The nature of the most significant operations conducted by the Company have no relevant cyclical or seasonal nature within the 
same year. 
 
 
 
 
 
At year-end, the Company holds no direct ownership interest equal to or greater than 5% of the capital or voting rights in any national 
or international credit institution. 
 
CaixaBank, S.A., an entity registered in the Bank of Spain Register of Credit Institutions, holds 100% of the Company's capital and 
voting rights. 
 
 
 
 
In this year, the Entity complied with the minimum reserve ratio required by applicable regulations. 
 

 

 

 

In 2021, in the context of the pandemic, the inputs of the macroeconomic scenarios used in the estimation of the expected credit 
risk loss have been updated (see Note 3.4.1). Given that there are still uncertainties in the macroeconomic forecasts regarding its 
performance in the context of the potential end of the pandemic, the scenarios considered and the weightings applied for the 
calculation of provisions with the forward-looking approach required by Circular 4/2017 have not been altered in 2021 with respect 
to the close of 2020. 

This update has meant maintaining, on the basis of the existing provisioning models and a prudent approach, an accounting 
adjustment (Post Model Adjustment) in the amount of EUR 11.2 million as at 31 December 2021 in the form of a collective fund. 

 

 

 
The conflict between Russia and Ukraine is causing, among other effects, an increase in the price of certain raw materials and the 
cost of energy, as well as the activation of sanctions, embargoes and restrictions towards Russia that affect the economy in general 
and companies with operations with and in Russia specifically. The extent to which this war will impact the Company's business will 
depend on the development of future events which cannot be reliably predicted at the date of preparation of these financial 
statements. The Company has no significant direct exposures to companies operating in these countries, and despite the uncertainty, 
the directors of the Company do not expect this situation to materially affect its financial position. 

 1.6. Holdings in the capital of credit 
institutions 

1.7. Reserve ratio 

1.5. Seasonality of operations 

1.9. Events after the reporting period 

1.8. Important information relating to 
COVID-19 
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2. Accounting policies and measurement bases 

The accounting principles, policies and measurement bases used in the preparation of the Company's financial statements for 2021 
were as follows: 

 

 

Classification of the financial assets 

The criteria established by the regulatory framework for accounting for classifying financial instruments is set out below:  

 

 

Investments in equity instruments are an exception to the aforementioned general assessment criteria. In general, the Company 
irrevocably exercises the option in the initial recognition by including – in the portfolio of financial assets at fair value with changes 
in other comprehensive income – investments in equity instruments that are not classified as held for trading and that, in the event 
of not exercising this option, would be classified as financial assets compulsorily measured at fair value through profit or loss.  

As for the assessment of the business model, this does not depend on the intentions for an individual instrument, but instead it is 
determined for a set of instruments, taking into account the frequency, amount and schedule of the sales in previous years, the 
reasons for these sales and the expectations for futures sales. The infrequent or insignificant sales, those near to the maturity of the 
asset and driven by increased credit risk of the financial assets or to manage the concentration risk, among others, can be compatible 
with the model of holding assets to receive contractual cash flows.  

2.1. Financial instruments 
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As regards the assessment in relation to whether the cash flows of an instrument represent solely payments of principal and interest, 
the Group carries out a series of judgements when assessing such compliance (SPPI test), the following being the most significant: 

 Modified time value of money: in order to assess whether the interest rate of a particular operation incorporates a consideration 
other than that linked to the passage of time, the Company considers factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is 
denominated and the term for which the interest rate is established. In particular, the Company performs a regular analysis for 
operations that present a difference between the holding period and the review frequency, whereby they are compared with 
another instrument that does not present such differences within a tolerance threshold.  

 Exposure to risks inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement: an assessment is conducted on whether the contractual terms 
of financial assets introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, 
such as exposure to changes in equity or commodity prices, in which case they would not be considered to pass the SPPI test.  

 Clauses that amend the schedule or amounts of cash flows: the Company considers the existence of contractual conditions in 
virtue of which the timing or amount of the contractual flows of the financial asset can be modified. This applies to: i) assets 
whose contractual conditions allow for the total or partial early amortisation of the principal; ii) assets whose contracts allow 
for their duration to be extended; or iii) assets for which interest payments may vary according to a non-financial variable 
specified in the agreement. In these instances, the Company evaluates whether the contractual cash flows that the instrument 
may generate over its life due to this contractual condition are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding, and may include a reasonable additional compensation in the event of an early termination of the contract. 

 Leverage: financial assets with leverage, i.e., those in which the variability of the contractual flows increases such that they do 
not have the economic characteristics of interest, cannot be considered financial assets that pass the SPPI test (e.g., derivative 
instruments such as simple option contracts). 

 Subordination and loss of the right to receive payment: the Company evaluates any contractual clauses that may result in a loss 
of rights to receive payment of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 Currency: in analysing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding, the Company takes into consideration the currency in which the financial asset is denominated in order to assess 
the characteristics of the contractual flows; for instance by assessing the component corresponding to the time value of money 
based on the benchmark used for setting the financial asset's interest rate. 

 Contractually linked instruments: with respect to positions in contractually linked instruments, a ‘look through to’ analysis is 
performed, and on the basis of this analysis it is considered whether the flows derived from this type of asset consist solely of 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. This is considered to be the case if: 

 the contractual terms of the tranche being assessed for classification (without looking through to the underlying pool of 
financial instruments) give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding (for example, the interest rate on the tranche not linked to a commodity index); 

 the underlying pool of financial instruments comprises one or more instruments with contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and 

 the exposure to the credit risk inherent in the tranche is equal to or lower than the exposure to the credit risk of the 
underlying pool of financial instruments (for example, the credit rating of the tranche being assessed for classification is 
equal to or higher than the credit rating that would apply to a single tranche comprising the underlying pool of financial 
instruments). Therefore, if the rating of the tranche is equal to or greater than that of the vehicle, this condition will be 
considered to have been met.  

The underlying pool of instruments referred to in the previous section could also include instruments that reduce the variability 
of the flows of that pool of instruments such that, when they are combined with these instruments, they generate flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (e.g., an interest rate ceiling or floor option 
or a contract that reduces the credit risk associated with the instruments). It could also include instruments that allow the flows 
from the tranches to be aligned with the flows from the pool of underlying instruments in order to settle exclusively the 
differences in the interest rate, the currency in which the flows are denominated (including inflation) and the timing of cash 
flows. 
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 Assets without personal liability (non-recourse): the fact that a particular financial asset does not have any personal liability 
associated with it does not necessarily mean it must be considered a Non-SPPI financial asset. In these situations, the Company 
assesses the underlying assets or cash flows to determine whether they consist solely of payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding, regardless of the nature of the underlying assets in question. 

In particular, in the case of financing operations for projects that are repaid exclusively with the income from the projects being 
financed, the Company analyses whether the cash flows that are contractually determined to be principal and interest payments 
do indeed represent the payment of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

 Negative compensation (symmetrical clauses): certain instruments incorporate a contractual clause whereby, if the principal 
amount outstanding is either fully or partially repaid early, the party that chooses to end the contract early – whether it is the 
debtor or the creditor – is able to receive fair additional compensation despite being the party choosing to end the contract 
early. This is the case, for instance, of so-called symmetrical clauses found in certain fixed-rate financing instruments. These 
clauses stipulate that when the creditor executes the option to make a repayment in advance, there must be compensation for 
the early termination of the contract, and this compensation will be in either the debtor's or the creditor's favour depending on 
how interest rates have fluctuated between the initial grant date and the date on which the contract is terminated early. 

The fact that a financial instrument incorporates this contract term, known as negative compensation, does not necessarily 
mean that the instrument in question must be considered Non-SPPI. A financial instrument that would otherwise have met the 
conditions to be considered SPPI-compliant, had it not been for the incorporation of fair additional compensation for the early 
termination of the contract (to be either received or paid by the party that decides to terminate the contract early), will be 
eligible to be measured at amortised cost or at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income, as determined by the 
business model.  

In cases where a characteristic of a financial asset is not congruous with a basic loan agreement, i.e., the asset has characteristics 
that give rise to contractual flows other than payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, the Company 
will assess the materiality and probability of occurrence in order to determine whether this characteristic or element should be taken 
into consideration when evaluating the SPPI test. 

With respect to the materiality of a characteristic of a financial asset, the assessment performed by the Company involves estimating 
the impact it could have on the contractual flows. The impact of such an element is considered not material when it entails a change 
of less than 5% in the expected cash flows. This tolerance threshold is determined on the basis of the expected contractual flows, 
without any discounting. 

If the characteristic of an instrument could have a significant impact on the contractual flows but that characteristic affects the 
contractual flows of the instrument solely if an event occurs that is considered to be extremely exceptional, highly anomalous and 
highly unlikely, the Company will not take that characteristic or element into consideration when assessing whether the contractual 
cash flows from the instrument are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Classification of the financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified under: “Financial liabilities held for trading”, “Financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss” and “Financial liabilities at amortised cost”, unless they must be presented under “Liabilities included in disposal groups 
classified as held for sale” or relate to “Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk” or “Derivatives 
– Hedge accounting”, which are presented separately. 

Particularly, the portfolio "Financial liabilities at amortised cost": includes financial liabilities not classified as financial liabilities held 
for trading or as other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The balances recognised in this category, irrespective of 
the substances of the contractual arrangement and maturity of such liabilities, arise from the ordinary deposit capture activities of 
credit institutions. 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Upon initial recognition, all financial instruments are recognised at fair value. For the financial instruments that are not registered at 
fair value through profit or loss, the fair value amount is adjusted, adding or deducting transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issuance thereof. In the case of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, the directly attributable 
transaction costs are immediately recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

The transaction costs are defined as expenses directly attributable to the acquisition or drawdown of a financial asset, or to the 
issuance or assumption of a financial liability, which would not have been incurred if the Company had not made the transaction. 
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These include fees paid to intermediaries (such as prescribers); mortgage arrangement expenses borne by the Company; and part of 
the personnel expenses in the Risk Acceptance Centres. Under no circumstances are the internal administrative costs or those 
deriving from prior research and analysis considered transaction costs.  

Subsequent measurement of the financial assets 

After its initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at amortised cost, at fair value with changes in other 
comprehensive income, at fair value through profit or loss, or at cost. 

The receivables for trading operations that do not have a significant financing component and the commercial loans and debt 
instruments issued with no contractual interest rate that are initially measured by the price of the transaction or its principal, 
respectively, continue to be measured by said amount less the valuation adjustment due to estimated impairment as described in 
section 2.5. 

With regard to the conventional purchases and sales of fixed income and equities instruments, these are generally registered at the 
settlement date. 

Income and expenses of the financial assets and liabilities 

The income and expenses of financial instruments at amortised cost are recognised according to the following criteria: 
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The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts future cash payments or charges estimated during the expected life of the 
financial asset or liability with respect to the gross book value of a financial asset or the amortised cost of a financial liability. To 
calculate the effective interest rate, the Company estimates the expected cash flows, taking into account all the contractual terms of 
the financial instrument, but without considering expected credit loss. The calculation includes all fee and commission income and 
interest basis points, paid or received by the parties of the agreement, which make up the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and any other premium or discount. In cases where the cash flows or remaining life of a financial instrument cannot be estimated 
reliably (e.g., advance payments), the Company uses the contractual cash flows throughout the full contractual period of the financial 
instrument. 

 

 

Reclassifications between financial instrument portfolios 
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Only in the event the Company decides to change its financial asset management business model, would all the affected financial 
assets be reclassified according to the provisions set out in Circular 4/2017. This reclassification would be carried out prospectively 
from the date of the reclassification. In accordance with the Circular 4/2017 approach, in general, changes in the business model 
occur very infrequently. Financial liabilities cannot be reclassified between portfolios. 

 

 

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the balance statement when, and only when, the 
Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously, taking the following into consideration: 

 The legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts should not be contingent on a future event and must be legally 
enforceable in all circumstances, including cases of default or insolvency of any or all of the counterparties. 

 Settlements are considered equivalent to 'net settlement' that meet the following requirements: they totally eliminate or result 
in insignificant credit and liquidity risk; and settlement of the asset and liability is made in a single settlement process. 

The Company did not carry out any financial asset and liability offsetting operations in 2021 and 2020. 

 

 
 

 

All or part of a financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or when 
the company transfers the asset to a third party outside the company. 

The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets depends on the extent to which the risks and rewards associated with 
ownership of the transferred assets are transferred to third parties:  

 If, substantially, all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset are transferred (such as in the case of, among 
others: unconditional sales, a sale with an option to repurchase the financial asset at its fair value at the time of repurchase, a 
sale of a financial asset together with a put or call option that is deep out of the money), it is derecognised, and any rights or 
obligations retained or arising as a result of the transfer are simultaneously recognised. 

 If the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred financial asset are substantially retained (such as in the case of, among 
others: sale and repurchase transactions where the repurchase price is a fixed price or the sale price plus a lender’s return, a 
securities lending agreement under which the borrower has the obligation to return the securities or similar), it is not 
derecognised and continues to be measured by the same criteria used before the transfer and the following are recognised: 

 A financial liability equal to the consideration received, which is subsequently measured at amortised cost, unless it meets 
the requirements to be classified under other liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

 The income generated on the transferred (but not derecognised) financial asset and the expenses of the new financial 
liability, without offset. 

 If, substantially, all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred financial asset are neither transferred nor retained 
(such as in the case of: a sale of a financial asset together with a put or call option that is neither deep in the money nor deep 
out of the money, or some other type of credit enhancement for part of the transferred asset), the following distinction is made: 

 If the transferor does not retain control over the financial asset transferred it is derecognised and any right or obligation 
retained or arising from the transfer is recognised. 

 If the transferor retains control over the financial asset transferred it continues to recognise the asset for an amount equal 
to its exposure to changes in value of the asset, recognising a liability associated with the financial asset transferred. The 
net amount of the transferred asset and the associated liability shall be the amortised cost of the rights and obligations 
retained, if the asset is measured at amortised cost, or at fair value of the rights and obligations retained, if the transferred 
asset is measured at fair value.   

2.3. Derecognition of financial 
 

2.2. Offsetting of financial assets and 
liabilities  
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Financial liabilities shall equally be derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

 
 

Financial guarantees given 

Financial guarantees are defined as contracts whereby the issuer thereof undertakes to make specific payments to reimburse the 
creditor for the loss incurred when a specific debtor fails to meet its payment obligations, irrespective of the legal form of the 
obligation, such as deposits (including those to participate in auctions and tenders), financial and technical guarantees, irrevocable 
documentary credits, insurance contracts or credit derivatives. 

Financial deposits comprise all manner of deposits that directly or indirectly guarantee debt securities such as: loans, credit facilities, 
finance leases and deferred payment arrangements for all types of debt. 

On initial recognition, the Group recognises financial guarantees provided on the liabilities side of the balance sheet at their fair 
value, which is generally equal to the present value of the fees and commissions receivable on these contracts over their term, with 
a balancing entry for the amount of fees and similar income collected at the inception of the transactions and a credit on the assets 
side of the balance sheet for the present value of the fees and commissions receivable. 

Financial guarantee and guarantee contract portfolios, regardless of the guarantor, instrumentation or other circumstances, are 
reviewed periodically so as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if appropriate, estimate any provision 
required. This process applies similar criteria to those established for quantifying impairment losses on debt instruments measured 
at amortised cost.  

Provisions set aside for this type of arrangements are recognised under "Provisions – Commitments and guarantees given" on the 
liability side of the balance sheet. Additions to and reversals of provisions are recognised in “Provisions or reversal of provisions” in 
the statement of profit or loss. 

 

 

 

The Company applies the requirements on impairment of debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost and at fair value 
with changes in other comprehensive income, as well as other exposures that involve credit risk, such as loan commitments given, 
financial guarantees given and other commitments given.    

The aim of the regulatory accounting framework requirements as regards impairment is to ensure recognition of the credit losses of 
operations, assessed collectively or individually, considering all the reasonable and substantiated information available, including 
information of a prospective nature. 

Impairment losses on debt instruments in the period are recognised as an expense under the heading "Impairment/(reversal) of 
impairment losses on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss or net profit or loss due to a change" in the 
statement of profit or loss. The impairment loss of debt instruments at amortised cost are recognised against a corrective account of 
provisions that reduces the carrying amount of the asset, whereas those of instruments at fair value with changes in other 
comprehensive income are recognised against accumulated other comprehensive income. 

The hedges to cover impairment losses in exposures involving credit risk other than debt instruments are recorded as a provision 
under the heading "Provisions – Commitments and guarantees given" in the liabilities of the balance sheet.  

Additions to and reversals of these hedges are recognised charged under the heading “Provisions or reversal of provisions” in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

 

For the purpose of recording the hedging for impairment losses of debt instruments, the following definitions must be taken into 
account in advance:  

 Credit losses: these correspond to the difference between all the contractual cash flows owed to the Company in accordance 
with the financial asset's contract and all the cash flows that it is due to receive (i.e., all the insufficiency of cash flows), 
discounted at the original effective interest rate or, for financial assets that were purchased with or that originated with credit 

2.5. Impairment in the value of 
financial assets 

2.4. Financial guarantees 
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impairment, discounted at the effective interest rate adjusted to reflect credit quality, or the interest rate on the date referred 
to in the financial statements in the case of a variable rate. 
 
In the case of the loan commitments given, the contractual cash flows that would be owed to the Company in the event the 
loan commitment were drawn down are compared to the cash flows that it would expect to receive if the commitment were 
drawn down.  
 
The Company estimates the cash flows of the operation during its expected life taking into account all the contractual terms and 
conditions of the operation (such as early repayment, extension, redemption and other similar options). In extreme cases when 
it is not possible to reliably estimate the expected life of the operation, the Group uses the remaining contractual term of the 
operation, including extension options. 
 
Cash flows taken into account include credit improvements that form an integral part of the contractual conditions and other 
guarantees provided by third parties, where applicable. 
 

 Expected credit losses: these are the weighted average of the credit losses, using as weighting the respective risks of default 
events. The following distinction will be taken into account: 
 
 Expected credit losses during the life of the operation: these are expected credit losses resulting from all the possible default 

events during the expected life of the operation. 
 Expected credit losses at twelve months: these are the part of the credit losses expected during the life of the operation 

corresponding to the expected credit losses resulting from any default events during the twelve months following the 
reference date. 

The amount of the hedges to cover impairment loss is calculated according to whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since the operation's initial recognition, and whether a default event has occurred: 
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When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are modified or the financial asset is replaced with another, and the modification 
or exchange does not cause it to be derecognised from the balance sheet, the Company recalculates the gross carrying amount of 
the financial asset, taking into account the modified flows and the effective interest rate applicable before the modification, and 
recognises any difference that emerges as a loss or gain due to a change in the profit or loss of the period. The amount of the directly 
attributable transaction costs raises the carrying amount of the modified financial asset and it will be amortised during the remainder 
of its life, which will require the company to recalculate the effective interest rate. 

Regardless of its subsequent classification, in the event that an operation is bought with or originates with credit impairment, its 
hedging would be equal to the accumulated amount of the changes in the credit losses after the initial recognition and the interest 
income of these assets would be calculated by applying the effective interest rate adjusted to reflect credit quality at the amortised 
cost of the instrument. 

 

 

 
Under current legislation, these relate to operations in which the customer has, or will foreseeably have, financial difficulty in meeting 
its payment obligations under the contractually agreed terms and, therefore, has amended the agreement, cancelled the agreement 
and/or arranged a new operation. 

These operations may derive from: 

 A new transaction (refinancing transaction) granted that fully or partially cancels other transaction (refinanced transactions) 
previously granted to the same borrower or other companies forming part of its economic group that become up-to-date on its 
payments for previously past-due loans. 

 The amendment of the contractual terms of an existing operation (restructured operations) that changes its repayment schedule 
(grace periods, extension of loan maturities, reduction in interest rates, changes in the repayment schedule, extension of all or 
part of the capital on maturity, etc.). 

 The activation of contract clauses agreed at source that extend the debt repayment terms (flexible grace period). 

 The partial cancellation of the debt without the contribution of funds by the customer (forgiveness of capital, interest, fees and 
commissions or any other cost relating to the loan extended to the borrower). 

The existence of previous defaults is an indication of financial difficulty. Unless otherwise demonstrated, a restructuring or 
refinancing transaction is assumed to exist when the amendment to contractual term affects transactions that have been past-due 
for more than 30 days at least once in the three months prior to the amendment. However, previous defaults are not a requirement 
for an operation to be classified as refinanced or restructured.  

The cancellation of an operation, changes in the contractual terms or the activation of clauses that delay payments when the 
customer is unable to meet future repayment obligations can also be classified as refinancing/restructuring. 

In contrast, debt renewals and renegotiations may be granted when the borrower does not have, or is not expected to have, financial 
difficulties; i.e., for business reasons, not to facilitate repayments. 

For a transaction to be classified as such, the borrower must have the capacity to obtain credit from the market, at the date in 
question, for a similar amount and on similar terms to those offered by the Entity. These terms must be adjusted to reflect the terms 
offered to borrowers with a similar risk profile. 

In general, refinanced or restructured and new operations carried out for refinancing, are classified in the watch-list performing 
category. However, according to the particular characteristics of the operation, they are classified as non-performing when they meet 
the general criteria for classifying debt securities as such, and specifically: i) operations backed by an unsuitable business plan; ii) 
operations that include contractual clauses that delay repayments in the form of interest-only periods longer than 24 months; iii) 
operations that include amounts that have been derecognised from the balance sheet having been classified as unrecoverable that 
exceed the hedging applicable according to the percentages established for operations in the watch-list performing category; and iv) 
when pertinent restructuring or refinancing measures may result in a reduction of the financial obligation greater than 1% of the net 
present value of the expected cash flows. Additionally, adjustments have been made to the criteria for exit from default, thus, 
refinanced operations cannot be migrated to stage 2 until their repayment has been ongoing for 12 months. 

2.6. Restructuring or refinancing 
operations 
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Refinanced and restructured operations and new operations carried out for refinancing are classified as watch-list performing for a 
trial period until all the following requirements are met: 

  After reviewing the borrower’s asset and financial position it is concluded that they are unlikely to have financial difficulties and 
therefore it is highly probable that they will meet their obligations vis-a-vis the entity in both time and form. 

 A minimum period of two years has elapsed from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or, if 
later, from the date of its reclassification from the non-performing category. 

 The borrower has covered all the principal and interest payments from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or 
refinancing operation, or, if later, from the date of its reclassification from the non-performing category. Additionally, it is 
necessary that: i) the borrower has made regular payments of an amount equivalent to the whole amount (principal and 
interest) falling due at the date of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or that were derecognised as a result of it; ii) or 
when it is deemed more appropriate given the nature of the operations, the borrower complies with other objective criteria 
that demonstrate their payment capacity. 

If there are contractual clauses that may delay repayments, such as grace periods for the principal, the operation will remain 
classified as watch-list performing until all criteria are met. 

 The borrower must have no other operations with past due amounts for more than 30 days at the end of the period. 

When all the above requirements are met, the operations are no longer classified as refinancing, refinanced or restructured 
operations in the financial statements. 

During the trial period, further refinancing or restructuring of the refinancing, refinanced or restructured operation, or the existence 
of past-due amounts of more than 30 days in these operations will mean that the operations are reclassified as non-performing for 
reasons other than arrears before the start of the trial period. 

Refinanced and restructured operations and new operations carried out for refinancing remain classified as non-performing until 
they meet the general criteria for debt instruments; specifically the following requirements: 

 A period of one year has elapsed from the refinancing or restructuring date. 

 The borrower has covered all the principal and interest payments (i.e., they are up to date on payments) thereby reducing the 
renegotiated principal, from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or, if later, from the date of 
its reclassification to the non-performing category. 

 The borrower has made regular payments of an amount equivalent to the whole amount (principal and interest) falling due at 
the date of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or that were derecognised as a result of it, or, when it is deemed more 
appropriate given the nature of the operations, the borrower complies with other objective criteria that demonstrate their 
payment capacity. 

 The borrower has no other operations with past due amounts for more than 90 days at the date the refinancing or restructured 
operation is reclassified to the watch-list performing category. 

Furthermore, in relation to the accounting treatment of the moratoria, both legislative and sectoral, established to offer support in 
the context of COVID-19, the Company considers them a relevant qualitative change that gives rise to a contractual amendment. In 
accordance with the accounting framework, if the Company reviews its collection estimates (excluding changes in expected losses), 
it must adjust the carrying amount of the financial asset to reflect the reviewed contractual cash flows, discounting the original 
effective interest rate of the financial instrument. The impact of the adjustment is recognised as income or expenses in the 
profit/(loss) for the period (see Note 3.2). 

 
 

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the euro. Consequently, all non-euro balances and transactions are foreign 
currency balances and transactions.  

All foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial recognition, by applying the spot exchange rate between the functional 
currency and the foreign currency. 

At the end of each reporting period, foreign currency monetary items are translated to euros using the exchange rate published by 
the European Central Bank. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated to 

2.7. Foreign currency operations 
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euros using the exchange rate at the date of acquisition. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated to euros using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 

The Company did not carry out any foreign currency transactions in 2021 and 2020. 

 

 

The main policies applied to recognise income and expenses are as follows: 

 2.8. Recognition of income and expenses 
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In particular, the Company adheres to the following stages:  

 

 

As for the accounting of the costs related to the contracts, the costs of obtaining a contract are those which the Company incurs to 
obtain a contract with a customer and which it would not have incurred if the Company had not entered into said contract. 

In accordance with the accounting framework applicable to the Company, all incremental costs of obtaining and/or fulfilling a 
contract are capitalised provided that: 
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 costs are directly related to a contract or an expected contract that the company can specifically identify (for example, costs 
related to services to be provided following the renewal of an existing contract or the design costs for an asset to be transferred 
under a specific contract that has not yet been approved); 

 the costs generate or enhance resources of the company that will be used to satisfy (or to continue to satisfy) performance 
obligations in the future; and 

 the costs are expected to be recovered. 

The Company recognises these capitalised costs in the statement of profit or loss on the basis of the duration of the framework 
contract or the transactions giving rise to the costs, and additionally, at least every six months, performs an impairment test to assess 
the extent to which the future profits generated by these contracts support the capitalised costs. In the event that the costs exceed 
the present value of future benefits, these assets would be impaired in the relevant proportion. 

 

 

These include all forms of consideration given in exchange for services rendered to the Company by employees or for benefits payable 
after completion of employment. They can be classified into the following categories: 

Short-term employee benefits 

These are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the period 
in which the employees render the related service. It includes wages, salaries and social security contributions; paid annual leave and 
paid sick leave; profit-sharing and bonuses; and non-monetary benefits payable to employees such as medical care, housing, cars 
and free or subsidised goods or services. 

The cost of the services rendered is recognised under “Administrative expenses – Personnel expenses” in the statement of profit or 
loss. 

Defined contribution plans 

The post-employment obligations with employees are deemed to be defined contribution obligations when the Group makes pre-
determined contributions to a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to make further contributions if the separate 
entity cannot pay the employee benefits relating to the service rendered in the current and prior periods. Defined contribution plans 
each year are recognised under “Administrative expenses – Personnel expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Post-
employment obligations that do not meet the aforementioned conditions are considered defined benefit obligations. 

Long-term employee benefits 

The present value of defined benefit obligations is recorded under “Provisions – Pensions and other defined benefit obligations” in 
the balance sheet. 

Benefits for death and disability pensions are recognised as follows: 

 Service cost is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and includes the following: 

 The cost of services for the introduction of new benefits, and the cost of curtailments, recognised under "Provisions or 
reversal of provisions". 

 Any gain or loss arising on settlement of a plan is recognised in "Provisions or reversal of provisions". 

 The net interest on the net defined benefit liability, understood to be the change during the period in the net defined benefit 
liability that arises from the passage of time, is recognised in "Interest expenses", or "Interest income" if it results in income, in 
the statement of profit or loss. 

 Remeasurements of the net liability for defined benefits are recognised in "Accumulated other comprehensive income" in the 
balance sheet. Includes: 

 Actuarial gains and losses arising in the period from differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has 
actually occurred and from changes in the actuarial assumptions used. 

2.9. Employee benefits 
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Termination benefits 

These benefits are payable as a result of the Company’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal 
retirement date, a valid expectation has been raised in the employee or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for those benefits.  

A liability and an expense for termination benefits are recognised when there is no realistic possibility of withdrawing the offer to 
pay the termination benefits or when the costs for restructuring which involves the payment of termination benefits are recognised. 
These amounts are recognised as a provision under "Provisions – Other long-term employee benefits" in the balance sheet until they 
are settled. 

Employee remuneration based on equity instruments 

In the context of variable remuneration or participation in long-term incentive plans, the Company's employees may be entitled to 
receive part of their remuneration in financial instruments, preferably CaixaBank shares. 

Given their characteristics, this delivery of CaixaBank shares to Company executives and employees is accounted for as defined in 
IFRS 2, as a cash-settled share-based payment transaction. 

The cost of variable remuneration and long-term incentive plans are recognised in full under "Administra ve expenses ˜ Personnel 
expenses" during the period in which the service is rendered, against a liability in the balance sheet. Until settlement, this liability 
shall be recorded at the fair value of the shares to be delivered, with the respective changes in value recognised in profit or loss for 
the year. 

The Company acquires a portfolio of CaixaBank shares to cover this liability in full. 

 

 
 

The expense for income tax is considered to be a current expense and is recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except when it 
results from a transaction recognised directly in equity, in which case the corresponding tax effect is recognised in equity. 

Income tax expense is calculated as the sum of the current tax for the year resulting from applying the tax rate to the taxable profit 
for the year and any changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the year in the statement of profit or loss, less any 
allowable tax deductions. 

Temporary differences, tax loss carryforwards pending offset and unused tax deductions are recognised as deferred tax assets and/or 
deferred tax liabilities. The amounts are recognised at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled. 

All tax assets are recognised under “Tax assets” in the balance sheet as current, for amounts to be recovered in the next twelve 
months, or deferred, for amounts to be recovered in future reporting periods. 

Similarly, tax liabilities are recognised in "Tax liabilities" in the balance sheet, also by current and deferred.  

Deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be reversed in the foreseeable future and it is estimated 
that there is sufficient taxable profit against which they can be used.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.10. Corporate income tax 
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Property, plant and equipment for own use 

Includes the amount of furniture, vehicles, IT equipment and other facilities owned or acquired and the right to use elements under 
a lease.  

Property, plant and equipment for own use includes assets held by the Company for present or future use for administrative 
purposes, or for the production or supply of goods and services that are expected to be used over more than one financial year.  

Tangible assets are generally stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any valuation adjustment determined by comparing 
the carrying amount of each item to its recoverable amount. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method on the basis of the acquisition cost of the assets less their residual value. 
Land is not depreciated since it is considered to have an indefinite life. 

The depreciation charge is recognised under “Depreciation and amortisation” in the statement of profit or loss and is calculated 
basically using the depreciation rates set out in the table below, which are based on the years of estimated useful life of the various 
assets. 

USEFUL LIFE OF TANGIBLE ASSETS  

(Years)  

  
ESTIMATED USEFUL 

LIFE

Furniture and fixtures  6-10

Electronic equipment  4-5
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses tangible assets for any indications that their net carrying amount exceeds 
their recoverable amount, understood as fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Any impairment loss determined is recognised with a charge to “Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial assets – 
Tangible assets” in the statement of profit or loss and a reduction to the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable amount. 
After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation charges for the asset in future periods are adjusted in proportion to its 
revised carrying amount and remaining useful life.   

Similarly, when there are indications of a recovery in the value of the assets, a reversal of the impairment loss recorded in prior 
periods is recognised and the depreciation charge for the asset in future periods is adjusted. In no circumstances may the reversal of 
an impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying amount above that which it would have had no impairment losses had been 
recognised in prior years. 

Likewise, the estimated useful lives of tangible assets are reviewed each year or whenever indications are noted which make it 
advisable to do so and, where appropriate, the depreciation charges are adjusted in the statement of profit or loss of future years. 

Upkeep and maintenance expenses are recognised under “Administrative expenses – Other administrative expenses” in the 
statement of profit or loss.  

 

 

 

 

 

2.11. Tangible assets 
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Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance acquired from third parties or developed internally. 

 

 

Software 

Intangible assets have a finite useful life and are amortised over the useful life, applying policies similar to those followed for the 
depreciation of tangible assets. 

Any impairment losses on assets are recognised with a balancing entry in “Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial 
assets – Intangible assets” in the statement of profit or loss. The policies for recognising impairment losses on these assets and for 
reversing impairment losses recognised in prior years are similar to those for tangible assets.  

Computer software developed internally is recognised as an intangible asset when, among other requirements, it is capable of being 
used or sold, and it is identifiable and its ability to generate future economic benefits can be demonstrated. 

Expenses incurred during the research phase are recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss for the period in which they 
are incurred, and cannot subsequently be capitalised. 

All software recorded under this heading of the balance sheet has been developed by third parties and is amortised with a service 
life of 4 to 15 years. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

2.12. Intangible assets 
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Operating leases 

The way of identifying and accounting for these operations is as follows: 

 

 

 

2.13. Leases 
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Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic benefits. 
Contingent assets are not recognised in financial statements, except where an inflow of economic benefits is practically certain. If 
there is a probable inflow of economic benefits, the group discloses the contingent asset. 

Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are appropriately reflected in the financial statements. 

 

 

Provisions cover present obligations at the date of preparation of the financial statements arising from past events which could give 
rise to a loss considered likely to occur; they are certain as to their nature but uncertain as to their amount and/or timing. 

The financial statements include all the material provisions with respect to which it is considered more likely than not that the 
obligation will have to be settled. Provisions are recognised on the liability side of the balance sheet in accordance with the obligations 
covered. 

Provisions, which are quantified based of the best information available on the consequences of the event giving rise to them and 
are re-estimated at the end of each reporting period, are used for specific expenditures for which the provision was originally 
recognised. Provisions are fully or partially reversed when the obligations cease to exist or are reduced. 

The tax contingency policy is to set aside provisions for the possible tax expense and late-payment interest arising from the income 
tax assessments initiated by the tax authorities for the main applicable taxes, irrespective of whether an appeal has been lodged. 
Meanwhile, provisions are made for legal suits, in those instances where there is over a 50% probability of losing the case. 

The Group recognises any present obligations that are not likely to give rise to an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
as contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities may develop in a way not initially expected. Therefore, they are assessed continually to 
determine whether an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it becomes more probable than 
not that an outflow of future economic benefits will be required, a provision is recognised in the balance sheet. 

Provisions are recognised under "Provisions" on the liability side of the balance sheet in accordance with the obligations covered. 
Contingent liabilities are recognised under memorandum items in the balance sheet. 

 

 

Non-refundable grants related to specific expenses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as income in the same year in 
which the expenses that are being financed are accrued. They are recorded in the income statement inasmuch as the Company 
recognises the corresponding provisions for insolvency related to the credits granted. Income obtained for this item is recorded by 
offsetting the balance of losses under "Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss". 

 

 

 

 

 

2.14. Contingent assets 

2.15. Provisions and contingent liabilities 

2.16. Subsidies 



       
       
       
 

 
 
      
 

 

 

32

      2. Accounting policies and measurement bases 
     Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements 2021 
 

 

 

 

This statement presents the income and expense recognised as a result of the Company’s activity in the period, with a distinction 
between those taken to profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other income and expense recognised directly in equity. 

 
 
 

 

This statement shows all changes in the Company's equity, including those resulting from changes in accounting policies and 
corrections of errors. This statement presents a reconciliation between the carrying amount of each component of equity at the 
beginning and the end of the period, grouping changes by nature under the following headings:  

 Adjustments due to accounting policy changes and error adjustments: includes changes in equity as a result of the retrospective 
restatement of financial statement balances on account of changes in accounting policies or for correction of errors. 

 Total comprehensive income: represents the aggregate of all items recognised in the statement of changes in equity income 
part A) comprehensive income, outlined above. 

 Other changes in equity: includes the remaining items recognised in equity, such as capital increases or decreases, distribution 
of dividends, treasury share transactions, equity-instrument-based payments, transfers between equity items, and any other 
increase or decrease in equity. 

 

In particular, the headings "Retained earnings" and "Other reserves" contain: 

 The shareholder equity heading, "Retained earnings", includes, at year-end, undistributed gains from the appropriation of the 
profit/loss of the Company, and income coming from the sale of investments classified in "Financial assets at fair value with 
changes in other comprehensive income – Equity instruments", among others. 

 The shareholder equity heading, "Other reserves", includes, at year-end, the implications of the 1st application of accounting 
regulations. 

 

 

The following terms are used in the presentation of the statement of cash flows: 

 Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid investments that are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 Operating activities: the indirect method is used to present cash flows from operating activities, which are the principal revenue-
producing activities of the Entity and other activities that are not investing or financing activities.  

 Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or other disposal of long-term assets, such as equity investments and strategic 
investments, and other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents. 

 Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and liabilities that do not form part of 
operating activities, such as subordinated financial liabilities.  

2.18. Statement of changes in equity. Part 
B) Statement of total changes in equity 

2.17. Statement of changes in equity. Part 
A) Statement of other comprehensive 

income 

2.19. Statement of cash flows 
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3. Risk management 

 

 

The following risk factors had a significant influence on the Group's management in 2020, due to their impact during the year and 
their long-term implications for CaixaBank Group, to which MicroBank belongs: 

 Macroeconomic environment 

 Global economy 

After the historic recession in 2020 (3.1% drop in global GDP), as a result of COVID-19 and the severe restrictions on activity 
imposed to contain it, the global economy will have grown by around 6% in 2021. The rapid and robust economic policies 
that began in 2020 and continued in 2021, together with the gradual withdrawal of a large part of the restrictions, propped 
up the recovery throughout the year. 

Looking ahead to the coming quarters, the global economic recovery continues, albeit at a slower pace. Similarly, the risks 
of a further slowdown in progress are not negligible. Specifically, the impact of new variants and interruptions in the global 
supply chain are significant. This reality, in turn, is fuelling even more concerns about inflation in many countries (such as 
in the US). In this regard, the pressure on the Fed to raise interest rates has intensified, and it is expected to do so twice in 
2022. At a more regional level, the crisis at the Chinese property company Evergrande is a matter of concern. Although the 
possibility of international financial contagion is limited, the main risk comes from contagion in the domestic property 
sector, which would negatively affect the growth rate of the Asian giant. 
 

 Eurozone 
 
In the eurozone, following a significant recovery in activity in the second and third quarters of 2021, the latest indicators 
show a weaker performance in the fourth quarter. Specifically, activity has been negatively affected by the supply shortage, 
which is impacting substantially on countries such as Germany, given its high exposure to the industrial sector (especially 
the automotive industry, which is highly integrated into global value chains). Furthermore, the increase in cases of COVID-
19 in central and northern Europe has also led to new restrictions on mobility, with clear effects on the economy. Even so, 
the eurozone's GDP is expected to have grown by around 5% in 2021. For 2022, the annual progress will slide down to 
around 4.5% with clear differences between countries: from more to less difference between Italy and France; and from 
less to more difference between Germany and Spain. The main countries in the eurozone, excluding Spain, will return to 
pre-pandemic GDP levels by 2022. 
 

 Spain 

In 2021, the Spanish economy recorded an intense recovery in activity and, above all, employment, which returned to pre-
pandemic levels. However, the evolution throughout the year was characterised by ups and downs. After a hesitant start 
to the year, due to the effects of the third wave of the pandemic and adverse weather conditions, activity resumed its 
recovery in the second quarter thanks to widespread vaccination and the consequent easing on infection rates and hospital 
pressure. This, in turn, helped reactivate tourism flows and household spending, especially in activities that require more 
social interaction and which were more affected by the previous restrictive measures. These include activities that are 
hugely important to our economy, such as hospitality, leisure and tourism. 

In the last stretch of the year, activity kept growing, albeit at a more moderate pace, against the backdrop of a strong rise 
in inflation due to the energy increase and supply chain difficulties due to bottlenecks. For 2021 as a whole, GDP is estimated 
to increase by 4.4%. This means that, at year-end, GDP would still be 5.2% below pre-crisis levels (Q4 2019). 

In 2022, it is expected that the economic recovery will gain further ground, while GDP growth will accelerate to 5.9%, so 
that GDP will reach the pre-crisis level of Q4 2019 in the last quarter of 2022. The pandemic may still bring new waves of 
infections, but its impact on the healthcare system is expected to be limited thanks to the progress of vaccines, making it 
unnecessary to impose severe restrictive measures on activity again. Growth in 2022 will be based mainly on three leverage 
factors: the recovery of the tourism sector, the impact of European funds and pent-up demand. Even so, 2022 will not be 
without its share of uncertainty. On the one hand, the energy crisis that is being experienced in Europe has led to strong 
increases in energy prices that undermine the purchasing power of households and put pressure on business margins. The 
impact of this crisis, although acute, should be temporary and its effects should moderate once the winter is over. 

3.1. Risk factors and environment 
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Furthermore, disruptions in global supply chains will continue to hamper the industrial sector's recovery capacity, especially 
during the first half of 2022. However, the energy crisis and logistical problems are expected to have a relatively contained 
impact compared to the magnitude of growth drivers. Although new waves and/or new variants of the virus cannot be 
ruled out, the impact on the economy is expected to be limited thanks to the effectiveness of vaccines in preventing the 
most severe cases of the disease, so it would not be necessary to implement measures to restrict activity. 

In the first weeks of the year, tension between Russia and Ukraine has escalated and triggered a war, which has been strongly 
condemned by Western countries. This event puts our central scenario at risk insofar as a slow resolution of the conflict results, 
through rising commodities prices, in high and persistent inflation, with the logical impact thereof on the decisions of central banks 
and on European growth. In this regard, the next few weeks will be key to determining the scenario that will unfold in 2022, and its 
effect on the different asset classes. 

 

 

 Regulatory environment 

The regulatory outline underpinning the business model of CaixaBank Group – to which MicroBank belongs – is crucial to its 
development, be it in terms of methodological or management processes.  Thus, regulatory analysis represents a relevant point on 
the Group's agenda.  

Of note among the proposed legislative and regulatory changes, as well as the new laws and regulation approved in 2021, are the 
following: 

 

 COVID-19 crisis:  

 Measures and publications that impact on exposures benefiting from support measures to address the COVID-19 
pandemic and its classification, in particular: 

 Royal Decree-Law (RDL) 5/2021 of 12 March, on extraordinary measures to support business solvency in response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as the Code of Good Practices for the framework of renegotiation with customers 
with financing backed by the Official Credit Institute (ICO), provided for in RDL 5/2021. 

 Royal Decree-Law 27/2021 of 23 November, extending certain economic measures to aid the recovery. 
 

 Resolution of 30 November 2021 of the State Office for Economy and Corporate Support, which publishes the Council 
of Ministers Agreement of 30 November 2021, adapting the conditions and extending the application periods for the 
guarantees regulated by the Royal Decree-Law 8/2020 of 17 March, and 25/2020 of 3 July, and amending the Code 
of Good Practices for the renegotiation framework for customers with guaranteed financing provided for in Royal 
Decree-Law 5/2021 of 12 March. 

 Sustainable finance and environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors: 

 

 Reports of authorities subject to public consultation: i) the EBA report on the incorporation of ESG risks in the 
management and supervision of credit institutions; ii) the ITS (Implementing Technical Standards) for disclosing 
information on ESG risks under Pillar 3 of the EBA; iii) The European Commission's Platform on Sustainable Finance 
reports on social taxonomy and options for extending the taxonomy linked to environmental goals. 

 Legislative and regulatory proposals under discussion: (i) the proposed Regulation on a European green bond 
standard; (ii) the proposed Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD). 

 Legislative and regulatory texts finalised and published and under implementation: i) Delegated Acts amending 
MiFID II, IDD (Insurance Distribution Directive, AIFMD (Alternative Investment Managers Directive), UCITS 
(Undertakings for the Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) and Solvency II for the integration of 
sustainability factors, risks and preferences; (ii) the Delegated Act on Climate Taxonomy (activities contributing to 
climate change mitigation and adaptation objectives); (iii) the Delegated Act on Art. 8 of the Taxonomy Regulation 
on the degree of alignment of the activities of companies required to report under the NFRD with the Climate 
Taxonomy. 
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 Legislative and regulatory texts that entered into force/application: the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation 
(SFDR), despite the lack of second-tier developments. 

 Other important texts and milestones: (i) the European Climate Law, which makes binding in law the EU's 
commitment to achieve climate neutrality by 2050 and the target of reducing net greenhouse gas emissions to 55% 
below 1990 levels by 2030; (ii) establishment of a global standard setter and a European standard setter for non-
financial information;  

 

 Prudential regulation: 

 EBA public consultation on the update of the Supervisory review and Evaluation Process (SREP) guidelines proposing 
a new methodology for establishing the P2G requirement.  

 Bank of Spain public consultation on the development of new macroprudential tools introduced by RD-L 22/2018. 

 Publication of the legislative proposal for CRR III (Capital Requirements Regulation) and CRD-VI (Capital Requirements 
Directive) implementing in Europe the final reforms of the Basel III accords. In addition, the proposal strengthens the 
framework for the management and supervision of ESG risks and enhances the provision of supervisory tools.  

 Implementation of CRR II which, among other things, introduces a new standardised approach (SA-CCR) for the 
purposes of calculating capital requirements for counterparty risk. 

 In the digital sphere: 

 Launch of the 24-month investigation phase of the Digital Euro focusing on a possible functional design and 
establishment of the 30-member Market Advisory Group to advise the ECB.  

 Amendment of the eIDAS (electronic identification and trust services) regulation to create a European digital identity, 
which will incorporate features to identify individuals (including information from financial institutions), authenticate 
them securely and verify electronic signatures. 

 Anti-money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism (AML/CFT): 

 Publication of a package with four legislative proposals: i) Regulation creating a new European AML/CFT Supervisory 
Authority (AMLA); ii) Regulation on AML/CFT obligations; iii) the 6th AML/CFT Directive (amending the 5th and 
repealing the 4th); and iv) the Regulation on transfers of funds.  

 Royal Decree 7/2021 on the transposition of Directives, including the transposition of the Fifth Money Laundering 
Directive, with the aim of improving transparency and the availability of information on the beneficial owner. 

 

 Strategic events 

Strategic events are the most relevant occurrences that may have a significant impact on the CaixaBank Group in the medium term. 
It solely considers events that have not yet materialised and are not part of the Catalogue, but to which the Company's strategy is 
exposed due to outside causes, although the severity of the impact of these events can be mitigated through management. If a 
strategic event occurs, the impact may be on one or more of the risks of the Catalogue simultaneously. 

The most relevant strategic events currently identified are listed in order to be able to anticipate and manage their effects: 

 

 Shocks resulting from the geopolitical and macroeconomic environment 

Pronounced and persistent deterioration in the macroeconomic outlook and increased risk aversion in financial markets. 
For example, this could be the result of: a prolongation of the pandemic, global geopolitical shocks, domestic political 
factors (such as territorial tensions, populist governments and social protests), or the reappearance of tensions in the 
eurozone that rekindle the risks of fragmentation. Possible consequences: increase in the country's risk premium (cost of 
financing), reduction of business volume, a decline in credit quality, deposit withdrawals, material damage to offices or 
impeded access to corporate centres (due to protests or sabotage as a result of social unrest). 

Mitigating factors: The Group understands that such risks are sufficiently managed by its capital and liquidity levels, 
validated by compliance with both external and internal stress exercises, and reported in the annual internal capital and 
liquidity adequacy assessment processes (ICAAP and ILAAP, respectively). 
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 New competitors and the application of new technologies 

Competition is expected to increase from new entrants, such as fintechs (e.g., digital banks), as well as bigtechs and other 
players with disruptive technologies or proposals. This event could lead to the disintegration and dismantling of part of the 
value chain, which could have an impact on margins and cross-selling, by competing with more agile, flexible and generally 
low-cost propositions for the consumer. This could be exacerbated if the regulatory requirements for these new 
competitors and services are not aligned with those currently applicable to credit institutions. 

In addition, the race among competitors for the development and application of new technologies, such as artificial 
intelligence or blockchain, could pose a competitive disadvantage in certain use cases in the event of lack of momentum or 
low adoption in the Group. 

As an illustrative example, the potential issuance of a Digital Euro could lead to the entry into the European banking system 
of players other than banks (e.g., payment institutions and e-money institutions) if they were allowed to intermediate the 
management of digital euro wallets (e-wallets). Furthermore, insofar that payment methods associated to the digital euro 
could replace current electronic means, banks may lose information provided by customer transactions in terms of their 
end operator. 

Mitigating factors: the Group considers new entrants a potential threat, whilst also seeing an opportunity for collaboration, 
learning and stimulus to meet the objectives of digitalisation and business transformation established in the Strategic Plan. 
The evolution of major new entrants and bigtech movements in the industry are therefore regularly monitored. Also, since 
2020, the Group has had an internal sandbox space in which the solutions of certain fintechs with which there are 
opportunities for collaboration are analysed technically, quickly and securely. 

The Group also has Imagin as a first-rate value proposal that it will continue to leverage. With respect to the Group's 
competition from bigtechs, it is committed to improving the customer experience with the added value represented by the 
Group's social sensitivity (bits and trust) in addition to proposing possible collaboration approaches (open banking) and 
having agreements in place in some cases (e.g., Apple and Paypal). 

 

 Cybercrime and data protection 

Cybercrime evolves criminal schemes to continue to try to profit from different types of attacks. In this respect, the spread 
of new technologies and services that the Group makes available to customers makes it easier for cybercriminals to gain 
access to them, thus making their criminal operations more sophisticated. This constant evolution of criminal vectors and 
techniques puts pressure on the Group to constantly reassess the model for preventing, managing and responding to cyber-
attacks and fraud in order to be able to react effectively to emerging risks. 

Spoofing campaigns against different companies and government agencies, as well as the accelerated deployment of 
remote working to maintain productivity during the pandemic, have made it possible for cybercriminals to develop certain 
cybersecurity events at many organisations. At the same time, regulators and supervisors in the financial sphere have 
moved the priority of this area up their agendas. Taking into account the existing cybersecurity threats and the recent 
attacks received by other entities, the exploitation of such events in the Group's digital environment could have serious 
impacts of various kinds, including massive data corruption, unavailability of critical services, etc., as well as the loss of 
access to the Group's digital services (e.g., ransomware), the leakage of confidential information or fraud on digital 
channels. The materialisation of these impacts, which are directly related to banking operations, could additionally result 
in significant sanctions by the competent bodies and potential reputational damage for the Group. Mitigating factors: the 
Group is also well aware of the importance and level of threat at this time, and therefore constantly reviews the 
technological environment and applications in terms of information integrity and confidentiality. It also looks at system 
availability and business continuity, both with planned reviews and through continuous auditing by monitoring the defined 
risk indicators. In addition, the Group keeps its security protocols and mechanisms up to date to adapt them to the threats 
that arise in the current context, continuously monitoring emerging risks. The evolution of security protocols and measures 
are included in the strategic information security plan in order to remain at the cutting edge of information protection, 
aligned with the Group's strategic objectives and in accordance with the best market standards. 
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 Changes to the legal, regulatory or supervisory framework 

The risk of increased pressure from the legal, regulatory or supervisory environment is one of the risks identified in the risk 
self-assessment that could entail a higher impact in the short-medium term. Specifically, we have observed a need to 
continue to uphold constant monitoring of new regulatory proposals and their implementation, given the high level of 
activity of legislators and regulators in the financial sector. 

Mitigating factors: the control and monitoring of regulations by the various divisions of the bank, under the coordination 
of a collegiate body, the Regulation Committee, and control over the effective implementation of regulations in the Group's 
entities. 

 Pandemics and other extreme events 

The impact of extreme events, such as future pandemics or environmental events, on each of the risks in the Catalogue is 
unknown and will depend on future events and developments that are uncertain and would include actions to contain or 
deal with the event and mitigate its impact on the economies of the affected countries. Taking COVID-19 as a reference, 
there may be high volatility in the financial markets, with significant downturns. Furthermore, macroeconomic perspectives 
may get significantly worse and with notable volatility in the forward-looking scenarios. 
Mitigating factors: ability to effectively implement management initiatives to mitigate the impact on the risk profile due to 
the deterioration of the economic environment in the event of an extreme operational event, as has happened in the 
specific case of COVID-19. 

 

 

 

 

 

The main features of the Company's risk management and control framework are described below to provide a comprehensive 
overview thereof: 

 

3.2.1. Internal control framework 

The internal control framework is the set of strategies, policies, systems and procedures that exist in the CaixaBank Group, to which 
MicroBank belongs, to ensure prudent business management and efficient operations. It is monitored through: 

 adequate identification, measurement and mitigation of the risks to which the Group is or may be exposed, 
 the existence of complete, relevant, reliable and timely financial and non-financial information, 
 the adoption of sound administrative and accounting procedures and  
 compliance with regulations and requirements regarding supervision, codes of ethics and internal policies, processes and 

standards. 
It is integrated into the Group's internal governance system and aligned with the business model, and is in accordance with: i) the 
regulations applicable to financial institutions; ii) the EBA Directives on Internal Governance of 21 July 2021, implementing internal 
governance requirements established in Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament; iii) the recommendations of the CNMV 
on this matter and iv) other regulatory guidelines on control functions applicable to financial institutions.  

The guidelines for the Group's internal control framework are set out in the Corporate Internal Control Policy, and are structured 
around the "three lines of defence" model. 

 

First line of defence 

It comprises the business lines and units, together with the areas providing support, which give rise to the Group's exposure to risks 
in the performance of their operations. They assume risk, considering the bank's existing risk appetite, authorised risk limits and 
policies, existing procedures and controls, and managing these risks is part of their responsibility. They are therefore responsible for 
developing and implementing control processes and mechanisms to ensure that they identify, manage, measure, control, mitigate 
and report the main risks arising from their activities. 

 

3.2. Risk governance, management and 
control 
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Second line of defence 

Consists of the risk management and compliance functions. They are responsible, among others, for: 

 Establishing, in coordination with the first line of defence, risk management policies that are consistent with the RAF, and for 
assessing their compliance afterwards. 

 Identifying, measuring and monitoring the risks (including emerging risks), and helping to define and implement risk indicators. 

 Periodically monitoring the effectiveness of indicators and controls of the first line of defence, as well as indicators and controls 
inherent to the second line of defence. 

 Monitoring control weaknesses that are identified, as well as establishing and implementing action plans to correct them. 

 Expressing an opinion on the suitability of the risk control environment. 

 

The activities of the second line of defence, as well as i) the identified weaknesses, ii) the monitoring of action plans and iii) the 
opinion on the adequacy of the control environment; they are regularly reported to the bodies responsible for the control 
environment, following the established hierarchy, as well as to supervisory bodies.  

 

Third line of defence 

Internal Audit is the third line of defence of CaixaBank Group, overseeing the activities of the first and second lines of defence so as 
to provide reasonable certainty to senior management and the governing bodies with regard to: 

 The effectiveness and efficiency of internal control systems in offsetting the risks associated with the Group's activities. 
 Compliance with prevailing legislation, especially the requirements of supervisors. 
 Compliance with internal policies and regulations, and alignment with best practices and uses in the sector, for adequate internal 

governance of the Group. 
 Reliability of financial and operational reporting. 
 
Its main supervisory functions include:  

 The adequacy, effectiveness and implementation of policies, regulations and procedures. 
 The effectiveness of controls. 
 Adequate measurement and monitoring of first line of defence and second line of defence indicators. 
 The existence and correct implementation of action plans to remedy weaknesses of controls. 
 The validation, monitoring and assessment of the control environment by the second line of defence. 

 

3.2.2. Governance and organisation 

The Board of Directors of Nuevo MicroBank is responsible for establishing and monitoring the internal control framework and 
ensuring that it functions adequately and effectively, approving the Company's relevant policies in this area, considering CaixaBank 
Group's corporate policies along these lines, as well as the core internal control mechanisms and procedures that must be duly 
propagated among the entire workforce. It is also tasked with implementing a risk governance framework in line with the Company's 
risk propensity level. It includes the dissemination of a solid risk culture and the setting of well-defined responsibilities for the risk 
taking, management and control functions.  

 

 
 
 
3.2.3. Strategic risk management processes 

The Group has a risk governance, management and control system in place, including the following strategic risk management 
processes, the goal of which is to identify, measure, monitor, control and report on the risks. As such, they constitute a key pillar in 
the risk management strategy. 

Risk Assessment 

The Group conducts a risk self-assessment process every six months, seeking to:  
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 Identify, assess, classify and internally report significant changes in inherent risks assumed in its environment and business 
model. 

 Make a self-assessment of its risk management, control and governance capacity, as a tool to help detect best practices and 
weaknesses in relation to risks.  

Risk Catalogue 

The Risk Catalogue is the list of material risks that are incurred as a result of the company's activity, and it facilitates the internal and 
external monitoring and reporting of the risks. Risks are classified as follows: 

 Business model risk: solvency and own funds risk, business profitability risk and liquidity and funding risk. 
 Risks associated with financial activity: credit risk and structural rate risk 
 Operational risk, which includes, conduct risk, legal/regulatory and technological risk, reliability of information, and reputational 

risk, among others. 

A definition for each of the risks is given below: 

 

 

On 15 March 2018, the Board of Directors of MicroBank set the goal of "maximising the social impact of our financial activity, through 
a sound portfolio of credit assets". This goal is reflected in the analysis – within a "risk monitoring framework" – of the protection 
against credit losses and of the business (weight of the different portfolios) and franchise composition.  
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Risk planning 

CaixaBank Group has institutional processes and mechanisms in place for assessing changes in the balance sheet in terms of risk 
(current, future and hypothetical in stress scenarios). The Group, and Nuevo MicroBank in particular, plan the expected performance 
of the different factors and ratios that define the future risk profile, as part of the current Strategic Plan, with regular monitoring of 
compliance. 

 

3.2.4. Risk Culture  

The Group's risk culture, and in particular that of MicroBank, encompasses the behaviours and attitudes towards risk and its 
management that are exhibited by employees, which reflect the values, objectives and practices shared by the Group and is 
integrated into management through its policies, communication and staff training. 

This culture influences management and employee decisions in their daily activity, and is intended to avoid behaviours that could 
unwittingly increase risks or lead to non-manageable risks. It relies on a high level of risk awareness and management, a solid 
governance structure, an open and critical dialogue in the organisation, and the absence of incentives for the unjustified assumption 
of risks. 

The actions and decisions that involve undertaking risk are: 

 Consistent with the corporate values and the core principles of the Group's activity. 
 Consistent with the Group's risk appetite and risk strategy. 
 Based on a thorough knowledge of the risks involved and how to manage them, including environmental, social and governance 

factors. 
The risk culture includes, among others, the following elements: 

Training 

Turning to risks specifically, the Senior Management define the content of any training for functions supporting the Board of 
Directors/Senior Management, covering specific matters that help high-level decision-making, as well as the rest of the organisation. 

Performance assessment and remuneration 

Nuevo MicroBank works to ensure that the motivation of its employees is consistent with its risk culture and compliance with the 
levels of risk that the Board is prepared to take on.  

Along these lines, there are compensation schemes directly linked to the annual progress of the risk metrics. 

 

 
 

3.3.1 Overview 

Liquidity and funding risk is the risk of insufficient liquid assets or limited access to market financing to meet contractual maturities 
of liabilities, regulatory requirements, or the investment needs of the Company. 

Nuevo MicroBank's funding comes mainly from CaixaBank, which complements the funding received from credit mediation and 
customer deposits. The management of liquidity risk within the CaixaBank sub-group (prudential scope excluding the sub-group of 
Banco BPI and CaixaBank Wealth Management Luxembourg, S.A.) is centralised, with CaixaBank responsible for capturing and 
distributing liquidity to its consolidable subsidiaries. This management scope includes Nuevo Micro Bank, S.AU. whose liquidity 
management is integrated into the CaixaBank sub-group and to whom, on 9 January 2019 and 25 August 2021, the European Central 
Bank granted an exemption from compliance with regulatory liquidity ratios (currently LCR and NSFR) and regulatory reporting, these 
requirements being established in the scope of the single liquidity subgroup (CaixaBank consolidated without BPI and without CABK 
Luxembourg). 

CaixaBank Group manages this risk in order to maintain liquidity at levels to ensure payment obligations can be met comfortably on 
time, without harming investment activity owing to a lack of lendable funds, whilst remaining complaint with the Risk Appetite 
Framework (RAF) at all times. The main tools used to achieve the liquidity management goal are the following: 

3.3. Liquidity and funding risk 
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 Decentralised liquidity management system in three autonomous units (sub-group of CaixaBank, sub-group of BPI and CaixaBank 
Wealth Management Luxembourg, S.A.), in which a segregation of functions exists to ensure optimal management, control and 
monitoring of risks.  

 Maintenance of an efficient level of liquid funds to meet obligations assumed, fund business plans and comply with regulatory 
requirements. 

 Active liquidity management through continuous monitoring of liquid assets and balance sheet structure. 
 Sustainability and stability as principles of the funding source strategy, which is based on i) the customer deposit-based funding 

structure and ii) capital market funding, complementing the funding structure. 

The liquidity risk strategy and appetite for liquidity risk and financing involves: 

 Identifying material liquidity risks for the Group and its liquidity management units;  
 Formulating the strategic principles the Group must observe in managing each of these risks;  
 Establishing the relevant metrics for each of these risks; 
 Setting appetite, tolerance, limit and – as the case may be – recovery thresholds within the RAF; 
 Setting up management and control procedures for each of the risks, including mechanisms for internal and external systematic 

monitoring; 
 Defining a stress testing framework and a Liquidity Contingency Plan to ensure Liquidity risk can be appropriately managed in 

moderate and severe crisis situations; 
 And a Recovery Planning framework, in which scenarios and measures are devised for an extreme crisis situation. 

In particular, the Group holds specific strategies with regard to: i) management of intraday liquidity risk; ii) management of the short-
term liquidity; iii) management of sources of financing/concentrations; iv) management of liquid assets; and v) management of 
encumbered assets. Similarly, the Group has procedures to minimise liquidity risks in stress conditions through i) the early detection 
of the circumstances through which it can be generated; ii) minimise negative impacts and iii) sound management to overcome a 
potential crisis situation. 

 

3.4.1. Credit risk 

3.4.1 Overview 

Credit risk corresponds to the loss of value of the assets of the Company through a customer or a counterparty, due to the impairment 
of the capacity of this customer or counterparty to meet their commitments to the Company. This is the most material risk. 

The maximum credit risk exposure of the financial instruments included under the financial instruments headings on the asset side 
of the balance sheet, including counterparty risk, are set out below: 

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK     
(Thousands of euros)      
 31-12-2021  31-12-2020 

 

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE 
TO CREDIT RISK HEDGE

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE 
TO CREDIT RISK HEDGE

Financial assets at fair value with changes in other 
comprehensive income (Note 9) 2,500 3,708

 Equity instruments 2,500 3,708
Financial assets at amortised cost (Note 10) 2,082,339 (113,843) 1,838,599 (114,640)
 Loans and advances 2,082,339 (113,843) 1,838,599 (114,640)
  Credit institutions 121 0 19
  Customers 2,082,218 (113,843) 1,838,580 (114,640)
TOTAL ACTIVE EXPOSURE 2,084,839 (113,843) 1,842,307 (114,640)

TOTAL GUARANTEES GIVEN AND COMMITMENTS  385  1,563 0

TOTAL  2,085,224 (113,843) 1,843,870 (114,640)

 

 

3.4. Risks affecting financial activity  
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As regards ordinary activity, the Company's credit activity aims to foster productive activity, job creation, and personal and family 
development through granting microcredits and other financial products. 

In this regard, the range of products is noteworthy for making the following lines of microcredits available to the market: 

 Business Microcredits – Institution Agreements: the Business Microcredits – Institution Agreements programme addresses 
funding applications channelled by the Company's Collaborating Entities that provide their services to the requesting groups, 
and may also collaborate in drawing up company plans on projects and subsequently protecting their implementation and 
development. These loans are small, up to EUR 25,000, and intended for financing self-employment projects driven by people 
in a situation of financial exclusion with no capacity to provide any type of collateral.  

This section includes microcredits for innovation, intended for supporting early-stage technological entrepreneurship; the 
maximum amount is EUR 50,000 and, as with the other products, no collateral is requested for the loan to be granted. 

 Business Microcredits and Loans are intended for entrepreneurs and micro-enterprises (individuals or legal entities). Their 
purpose is to provide funding for business projects that generate wealth creation and, especially, job creation or job 
maintenance and stability, consequently contributing to social cohesion. The maximum amount is EUR 25,000 (microcredits) or 
EUR 50,000 (loans), and no type of collateral can be accepted for them. The current funding facilities are intended for supporting 
self-employment and projects to create, consolidate or expand both new and existing small businesses. It includes business eco-
microcredits, specifically intended to finance projects committed to the environment and the responsible use of natural 
resources. 

EIB mediation microcredits, which benefit from financial advantages arising from the agreement with the European Investment 
Bank, focused on applying a lower interest rate, as well as ICO mediation microcredits, granted under the conditions of the 
financing facilities established by the Spanish Official Credit Institute. 

 Family Microcredits: the purpose of this line of products is to meet the needs of families, enabling them to overcome temporary 
difficulties and facilitating their personal development. These loans are granted without any collateral, up to EUR 25,000 for 
customer profiles with net annual income that does not exceed EUR 19,300 per holder (maximum of two).  

Personal eco-microcredits are also part of this loan facility, and finance purchases by families of environmentally friendly goods. 

Trust microcredits are a type of loan that facilitates the coverage of basic family needs and encourages the creation of small-
scale self-employment projects among highly vulnerable people in society. 

Erasmus + Master loans: a loan facility for students whose objective is to reach the second university cycle for students residing 
in the European Union who wish to specialise in their respective degrees, through a postgraduate master's degree (Erasmus + 
programme, European Union). 

 EaSI Social Enterprise Loans: loan facility, covered by the EaSI Agreement with the European Investment Fund (EIF) is intended 
for entities and companies whose core goal is to generate a measurable positive social impact, through sustainable economic 
and environmental business activity; among other recipients, they include: cooperatives, associations and foundations, labour 
companies, insertion companies, special employment centres, mutual societies and fishermen's guilds. The maximum amount 
of these loans is EUR 500,000 (EUR 1,000,000 cumulative per customer) and no collateral is requested. 

 Covid ICO Credits: Created in 2020, these are ICO-backed financing facilities to support self-employed workers and companies, 
in response to the economic crisis caused by COVID-19. Nuevo MicroBank has set up financing lines for the bank's target public 
(the self-employed and microenterprises). 

 Skills & Education Loans: Created in 2021, and aimed at financing companies in the education sector, and at financing students 
residing in Spain for university, tertiary, specialised, training or digital skills improvement studies. The maximum loan amount is 
EUR 500,000 (up to EUR 2,000,000 cumulative per customer) in the case of companies, and EUR 30,000 for students, in all cases 
without collateral. 

 

During 2021, loan operations totalling EUR 952,731 thousand were granted (EUR 900,112 thousand in 2020): 

 EUR 549,298 thousand were allocated to families (EUR 381,480 thousand in 2020). 
 EUR 375,361 thousand to entrepreneurs and SMEs (EUR 480,916 thousand in 2020), of which EUR 141,553 thousand in ICO 

COVID loans (EUR 250,849 thousand in 2020). 
 EUR 28,071 thousand in the Easi Empresa Social line (EUR 37,716 thousand in 2020). 
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Credit Risk Cycle 

To make its entire range of products available to the customer, with the highest possible quality of service and proximity, the 
Company conducts its commercial activity through CaixaBank's branch network. To this end, the Company has signed agency and 
service agreements with CaixaBank covering all the legal and procedural aspects of this relationship.  

Those in charge of risk management, monitoring and control are autonomous with respect to risk management areas, thus bolstering 
their independence. Furthermore, as part of the credit risk governance structure, the following committees exist: 

 CaixaBank Group level. Risk Policy Committee: approves the general principles, guidelines or policies linked to credit risk, as well 
as those linked to mitigating this risk in situations of impairment and management of non-performing assets. 

 MicroBank. i) Credit Committee: analyses and, where applicable, approves credit operations within its level of powers. ii) Write-
off and Refinancing Committee: analyses and, where applicable, approves operations within its level of powers. 

Admission and approval 

There are some differences in the operational procedures for granting and formalising microcredits according to their type: 

 Business Microcredits – Institution Agreements, Innovation and Trust: the Collaborating Institutions are initially involved when 
processing of these microcredit requests. They provide advisory services to the applicant to prepare their business plan, assess 
the viability of the project, and prepare the financing proposal. Subsequently, in all cases, the applicant is referred to a CaixaBank 
branch that analyses the proposed project, assesses its viability and transfers the proposal to MicroBank, whose Risk Area is 
tasked with resolving the operation.  

 Business Microcredits and Loans: granted directly from CaixaBank branches to entrepreneurs and micro-enterprises 
spontaneously attending these premises or through collaborating social entities, provided that their beneficiary profile matches 
the one established for this type of operation. Branches operate with the procedures for acceptance, analysis and approval 
established for this type of operation, and must attach a company plan or explanatory document for the project enabling us to 
assess both the target and viability of the proposed operation, in all cases.  

 Family Microcredits: they are granted directly by CaixaBank branches and are processed using the same procedures for analysis, 
approval and formalisation as CaixaBank loans to individuals. 

Within this area in Erasmus + Master Microcredits, branches act with the procedures for accepting and validating the 
requirements demanded of applicants, depending on the bases of the community training programme, and the proposal is 
subsequently transferred together with all the information to the Company, Where the Risk Area is tasked with analysing and 
resolving this request, where applicable.  

 EaSI Social Enterprise Loans: processed directly from CaixaBank branches, provided that their beneficiary profile matches the 
one established for this type of operation. The approval of the operation corresponds to the respective higher risk centres 
established for this type of operation or the Company's Risk Area, according to its conditions. 

 Skills & Education Loans: granted directly from CaixaBank branches to companies and students, provided that their beneficiary 
profile matches the one established for this type of operation. Branches operate with the procedures for acceptance, analysis 
and approval established for this type of operation, and in the case of companies, they must attach a business plan and in the 
case of students, documentation accrediting their studies.  

Mitigation of the risk 

MicroBank's credit risk management profile is characterised by a prudent granting policy, at a price in keeping with the conditions of 
the borrower and suitable guarantees. At MicroBank, due to the social financing aim of the company, under internal rules, it is not 
permitted to accept any kind of collateral, so the only types of guarantees permitted are: 

 Personal guarantees: most of these relate to risk operations with companies in which the guarantee provided by the 
shareholders, irrespective of whether they are individuals or legal entities, is considered relevant. In the case of individuals, the 
guarantee is estimated on the basis of  
declarations of assets. 
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Below is a breakdown of the guarantees received for granting operations in MicroBank: 

 

 
CATEGORISATION BY STAGE OF THE AFFECTED GUARANTEES AND CREDIT INVESTMENT * 
(Thousands of euros)        
 31-12-2021  31-12-2020 
 

GROSS AMOUNT

ALLOWANCES 
FOR 

IMPAIRMENT 
LOSSES

VALUE OF 
COLLATERAL **

GROSS 
AMOUNT

ALLOWANCES 
FOR 

IMPAIRMENT 
LOSSES

VALUE OF 
COLLATERAL **

Stage 1: 1,548,040 (19,496) 0 1,319,838 (30,885) 0
No collateral associated 1,548,040 (19,496)  1,319,838 (30,884) 
With real estate collateral        
With other collateral      (0) 
Stage 2: 437,551 (37,403) 0 450,042 (43,534) 0
No collateral associated 437,551 (37,403)  450,030 (43,534) 
With real estate collateral        
With other collateral     13  
Stage 3: 96,628 (56,944) 0 68,650 (40,222) 0
No collateral associated 96,628 (56,944)  68,650 (40,222) 
With real estate collateral        
With other collateral        
TOTAL 2,082,218 (113,843) 0 1,838,531 (114,640) 0
        (*) Includes customer loans and advances under "Financial assets at amortised cost" (Note 10). 
(**) Reflects the maximum amount of the effective collateral that can be considered for the purposes of the impairment calculation, i.e., the estimated fair value of real 
estate properties based on their latest available valuation or an update of that valuation based on the applicable standard in force. In addition, the remaining collaterals 
are included as the present value of the collateral that has been pledged to date, not including personal guarantees. 

 

Monitoring and measurement of credit risk 

The Group has a monitoring and measurement system that guarantees the coverage of any borrower and/or operation through 
methodological procedures adapted to the nature of each holder and risk.  

1. Borrower monitoring processes 

The purpose of the monitoring action is to determine the quality of the risk assumed with the borrower ("Monitoring Rating") and 
any actions to be taken depending on its result, including the estimation of impairment. The targets of risk monitoring are the 
accredited holders of the debt instruments and off-balance-sheet exposures that bear credit risk, and the profit or loss is a reference 
for the future granting policy. 

The Credit Risk Monitoring Policy is based on the type and specific nature of the exposure, which is segregated into differentiated 
areas, in accordance with the various credit risk measurement methods. 

The Monitoring Rating is an assessment of the situation of each customer and their risks. All borrowers have a monitoring rating 
which classifies them into one of five categories1: insignificant, low, medium, medium-high and non-performing (doubtful); and 
they can be generated manually (in the case of the scope of borrowers under individualised monitoring) or automatically (for the 
rest). 

 
1 The monitoring rating is an assessment of each customer’s situation and risks. The different risk monitoring ratings are: 

 Insignificant risk: all customer operations are carried out correctly and there are no indications that the customer's ability to repay is in 
doubt. 

 Low risk: the payment capacity is adequate, although the customer or one or more of their operations shows some minor signs of weakness. 
 Medium risk: there are indications of customer impairment, nonetheless, these weaknesses do not, at present, put the ability to repay the 

debt at risk. 
 Medium-high risk: the customer's credit quality has been seriously weakened. If the customer impairment continues, the customer may not 

have the capacity to repay the debt. 
 Non-performing (doubtful): there is evidence of sustained impairment or non-performance as regards the customer's capacity to meet their 

obligations. 
 No rating: there is insufficient information to assign a monitoring rating. 
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Pursuant to the nature of the Company's operations, borrowers are subject to collective monitoring: 

 Collective: the ratings are obtained by combining a statistical model, referred to as the Early Alert Model (EAM), the Probability 
of Default (PD) calibrated with a forward-looking view (consistent with the PD used to calculate the credit risk hedges) and other 
relevant alerts. Both the EAM and the PD are obtained at least on a monthly basis, and daily in the case of the alerts. 

Additionally, the EAM and PD models are subject to the Group's Credit Risk Model Framework. 

2. Quantification and assessment of credit risk: 

Credit risk quantifies losses that might derive from failure by borrowers to comply with their financial obligations, based on two 
concepts: expected loss and unexpected loss.  

 Expected Loss (EL): the average or mathematical expectation of potential losses foreseen, calculated by multiplying three 
factors: probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD).  

 Unexpected loss: potential unforeseen loss caused by a possible variability in losses with respect to the estimated expected loss. 
This can occur due to sudden changes in cycles, alterations in risk factors, and the dependence between the credit risk for the 
various debtors. Unexpected losses have a low probability and large amount, and should be absorbed by the Group's own funds. 
The calculation of unexpected loss is also mainly based on the operation's PD, EAD and LGD. 

Credit risk parameters are estimated based on the historical default experience. To do so, the Group has a set of tools and techniques 
for the specific needs of each type of risk, described below based on how they affect the three factors for calculating the expected 
loss: 

 EAD: provides an estimate of the outstanding debt in the event of default by the customer. This measurement is significant for 
financial instruments with a repayment structure that varies according to customer drawdowns (in general, any revolving credit 
product). 

This estimate is obtained based on the internal default experience, relating the drawdown levels upon default with drawdown 
levels over the 12 preceding months. Several variables are considered to build the model, such as product type, term to maturity 
and customer characteristics. 

 PD: the company uses management tools covering virtually all of its lending business to help predict the probability of default 
associated with each borrower. 

These tools, implemented in the branch network and the risk monitoring and granting channels, were developed on the basis 
of NPL experience and include the measurements required to fine-tune the results both to the business cycle, with a view to 
securing relatively stable measures in the long term, and to recent experience and future projections. The models can be 
classified according to their orientation toward the product or customer: 

 Product-oriented tools are used mainly within the scope of authorisation of new retail banking transactions (approval 
scorings) and take account of the debtor’s characteristics, information derived from the customer relationship, internal 
and external alerts, as well as the specific characteristics of the transaction to determine its probability of default.  

 Customer-oriented tools assess the debtor’s probability of default. They comprise behavioural 'scoring' models for the 
monitoring of risk of individuals and ratings or companies. 

Rating tools for businesses are specific according to the customer segment. The rating process for micro-enterprises and 
SMEs, in particular, is based on a modular algorithm, in which four different areas of data are rated: the financial 
statements, the information drawn from dealings with customers, internal and external alerts and certain qualitative 
factors.  

The customer scoring and ratings are updated monthly to keep the credit rating up to date. For legal entities, the financial 
statements and qualitative information is updated periodically to achieve the maximum level of coverage of the internal rating. 

 LGD: quantifies the percentage of debt that cannot be recovered in the event of borrower default.  
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The historic loss given default is calculated using internal information, taking into account the cash flows associated with 
contracts from the moment of default. The models enable loss given defaults to be obtained based on the guarantee, the Loan 
to Value ratio, the product type, the borrower's credit quality and, for uses in which it is required by regulation, the recessional 
conditions of the economic cycle. This calculation also makes an estimate of the indirect expenses (office staff, infrastructure 
costs and similar) associated with the recovery process.  

In addition to regulatory use to determine the minimum own funds of the Group and the Company and the calculation of hedges, the 
credit risk parameters (PD, LGD and EAD) are used in a number of management tools, e.g., the Risk-Adjusted Return (RAR) calculation 
tool, pricing tools, customer pre-qualification tools, monitoring tools and alert systems. 

3. Defining the accounting classification: 

The accounting classification among the different stages of IFRS 9 for transactions with credit risk is defined according to whether a 
default event has occurred and/or whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since the transaction's initial 
recognition. 

It will be considered that there has been SICR from the initial recognition (such transactions being classed as Stage 2) when there are 
weaknesses that may involve significantly higher losses than expected at the time the credit is granted. To identify weaknesses, the 
Group has the monitoring and rating processes described in point 2 above. Specifically, when the operations meet any of the following 
qualitative or quantitative criteria, unless they must be classified as Stage 3: 

1) Refinanced exposures that do not classify as Stage 3,  

2) Operations involving borrowers that are in insolvency proceedings which do not classify as Stage 3, because: 

o The borrower has paid at least 25% of the company's loans affected by the insolvency proceedings – after deducting the 
agreed write-off, where applicable. 

o Two years have elapsed since the order approving the borrowers’ agreement was registered with the Commercial 
Register, provided that this agreement is being faithfully performed and the equity and financial situation of the 
corporation dispels any doubts regarding full repayment of its debts, all unless interest has been agreed that is noticeably 
lower than the market rate. 

3) Operations with amounts that are more than 30 days overdue (but less than 90, in which case they would be classified as 
Stage 3). 

4) Operations that can be determined as having produced a material increase in risk, using market indicators/triggers. 

5) Operations for which there has been an SICR since the date of initial recognition on the basis of any of the following two 
criteria (the fulfilment of one of these two criteria is sufficient for classification as Stage 2), unless, for exposures with 
individually significant or Single Name borrowers, the individual analysis determines that there has not been any significant 
increase in risk: a deterioration in its monitoring rating and/or a relative increase in PD (see in further detail below). 

There have not been any changes since the previous year in the criteria for determining a significant increase in credit risk. 

Operations that no longer meet the conditions to qualify for Stage 2 will be classified as Stage 1, unless they are identified as 
refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations. 

With respect to refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations that classify as Stage 2 due to not having proceeded to classify 
them as Stage 3 on the date of refinancing or restructuring or due to having been reclassified from the Stage 3 category, they will 
remain classified as Stage 2 for a trial period until they meet all the following requirements: i) it is concluded that they are unlikely 
to have financial difficulties and, therefore, it is highly probable that they will meet their obligations vis-á-vis the entity in both time 
and form; ii) a minimum period of two years has elapsed from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or refinancing transaction, 
or, if later, from the date of its reclassification from Stage 3; iii) one of the borrowers must have no other operations with past due 
amounts for more than 30 days at the end of the trial period; and iv) the borrower has covered all the principal and interest payments 
for 13 months from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or, if later, from the date of its 
reclassification from Stage 3.  

Furthermore, the borrower must have made regular payments of an amount equivalent to the whole amount (principal and interest) 
falling due at the date of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or that were derecognised as a result of it, or when it is deemed 
more appropriate given the nature of the operations that the borrower complies with other objective criteria that demonstrate their 
payment capacity. This implies that there are no contractual clauses that may delay repayments, such as grace periods for the 
principal. 



       
       
       

 
 

 

 

 

 

47

      3. Risk management 
     Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements 2021 
 

It will be considered that there has been a default and, therefore, an operation will be classified at Stage 3 when – regardless of the 
holder and the guarantee – there is an amount overdue (capital, interests or contractually agreed costs) by more than 90 days, as 
well as the operations of all other holders when operations with past due amounts of over 90 days account for more than 20% of the 
amounts pending collection. 

Operations classified in Stage 3 due to the customer being non-performing will be reclassified to Stage 1 or Stage 2 when, as a result 
of charging part of the overdue amounts, the reasons that caused their classification as Stage 3 disappear and there remain no 
reasonable doubts regarding their full repayment by the holder for other reasons. 

Additionally, the following operations will be classified as Stage 3: i) transactions with legally demanded balances; ii) transactions 
made by insolvent borrowers that should not be classified as write-offs; and iii) refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations 
classifiable as non-performing including those that having been classified as non-performing before the trial period, are refinanced 
or restructured or that have amounts that are more than 30 days past-due. 

In the case of refinanced, restructured or refinancing operations, in order to consider the credit quality of the operation to have 
improved and, therefore, to proceed to reclassify it to Stage 2, all the following criteria must be verified in general: i) It has been 
more than 1 year since any refinancing contract was last defaulted on for more than 30 days; ii) None of the operations involved in 
the refinancing/ restructuring are in default; iii) The borrower has repaid capital by its own means equivalent to the amount of the 
memorandum item that it may have; iv) The borrower has covered all the principal and interest payments for 13 consecutive months; 
and v) There are borrowers in transactions involved in the refinancing/restructuring that have no transactions (refinancing or other) 
with amounts more than 90 days past due, or if they do have them, they do not exceed the threshold. This threshold is considered 
by applying as the benchmark debt the total defaulted debt (past due + outstanding) of the contracts that meet the condition and as 
the divisor the total debt of that borrower (Equity debt/Available equity + Exposure, excluding equities) 

 

The exposures of borrowers declared subject to bankruptcy proceedings without an application for liquidation shall be reclassified 
to Stage 2 if the borrower has paid at least 25% of the credit from the entity that is affected by the bankruptcy proceedings (once the 
agreed debt reduction, if any, has been deducted), or if two years have elapsed since the order approving the creditors’ agreement 
was registered with the Commercial Register, provided that this agreement is being faithfully performed and the equity and financial 
situation of the corporation dispels any doubts regarding full repayment of its debts, all unless interest has been agreed that is 
noticeably lower than the market rate. 

As regards the accounting classification of borrowers, as previously stated, when the borrower's monitoring rating has significantly 
deteriorated with respect to the start of the operation or when there is a relative increase of relevant PD also with respect to the 
start of the operation, the Group proceeds to classify the contract at accounting Stage 2. For these purposes, the classification is 
revised on a monthly basis, using the most recent monitoring classification and PD classification, which are updated at least monthly. 
All other classification criteria in Stage 2 or Stage 3 are also revised monthly.  

In the context of COVID-19, there have been no changes in the criteria for the SICR determination. Notwithstanding the above, the 
Group has applied certain prudent adjustments by reinforcing the recurrent criteria. Specifically, additional criteria have been 
included in customers in which the company and family support mechanisms (chiefly general moratoria and state-backed financing) 
may have affected their classification under general criteria, either due to the lower financial burden born by the borrowers from the 
individuals segment, or for other reasons such as the gap between the effect of COVID-19 and the formulation and presentation of 
companies' annual accounts. This is a temporary overlay on SICR criteria, which will be reviewed with the evolution of the 
environment. 

Under no circumstances has the granting of financial aid involved an improvement in the accounting classification of the exposure, 
and the ordinary accounting management procedures of credit impairment have not been suspended or relaxed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



       
       
       

 
 

 

 

 

 

48

      3. Risk management 
     Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements 2021 
 

4. Determining the accounting hedge: 

The aim of the Circular 4/2017 requirements as regards impairment is to ensure recognition of the expected credit losses of 
operations, assessed collectively or individually, considering all the reasonable and substantiated information available, including 
forward-looking information. 

Principles for measuring expected credit losses for the purpose of defining the credit risk loss hedges 

The calculated accounting hedge or provision is defined as the difference between the gross carrying amount of the transaction and 
the estimated value of future expected cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate of the transaction, considering 
the effective guarantees received. 

Nuevo MicroBank estimates the expected credit losses of an operation so that these losses reflect: 

 a weighted and non-biased amount, determined through the assessment of a series of possible results; 

 the time value of the money, and 

 the reasonable and substantial information that is available at the reference date, at no disproportionate cost or effort, on past 
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

In the company, hedging is estimated collectively using internal methodologies, subject to the current Credit Risk Models Framework, 
based on past experience of portfolio defaults and recoveries and factoring in the updated and adjusted value of the effective 
guarantees. Additionally, future economic condition predictions will be considered under various scenarios. 

To determine hedging for credit losses of portfolios under collective analysis, the Group uses models to estimate the PD; probability 
of correcting defaulting cycles (specifically its complementary measurement, PNC); loss given loss (LGL) in the event of no correction; 
and adjustments to include lifetime or forward-looking effects, according to the agreement's accounting classification. It should be 
noted that all haircuts, LGL and PNC models are models of LGD or severity. 

The models used are re-estimated or re-trained every six months, and they are executed monthly in order to properly reflect the 
current economic environment at any given time. This makes it possible to reduce the differences between estimated loss and recent 
observations. The models will include an unbiased view of the potential forward-looking evolution to determine the expected loss, 
taking into account further relevant macroeconomic factors: i) GDP growth, ii) the unemployment rate, iii) 12-month EURIBOR and 
iv) evolution of property prices. Following on from this, the Group generates a baseline scenario, as well as a range of potential 
scenarios that make it possible to adjust the estimated expected loss, weighted by its probability. 

The calculation process is structured in two steps: 

 Establishing the basis for the calculation of allowances with the calculation of the exposure amount, which is the sum of the 
gross carrying amount at the time of calculation plus off-balance-sheet amounts (available or exposure) expected to be 
disbursed when the borrower meets the conditions to be considered non-performing. 

 Establishing the hedging to be applied on this basis for calculation of allowances: 

This calculation factors in the probability of the borrower defaulting on the transaction obligations, the probability of the 
situation being remedied or resolved and the losses that would occur if this did not happen. 

For insignificant portfolios where it is considered that the internal model approach is not suitable due to the processes 
involved or a lack of past experience, the Group, and specifically MicroBank, may use the default coverage rates established 
in the current national regulations. 

Both transactions classified as not bearing appreciable risk and those that, due to their type of collateral, are classified as not bearing 
appreciable risk, could have 0% accounting hedging. In the case of the latter, this percentage will only be applied to the guaranteed 
part of the risk. 

The hedges estimated collectively must be coherent in terms of the way in which the different categories into which the transactions 
can be classified are processed. Thus, the hedging level for a transaction must be higher than the level that would correspond to it, 
if it were classified in another category of a lower credit risk. 
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The necessary improvements detected in the backtesting and benchmarking exercises are also incorporated into the review cycles. 
Similarly, the models developed are documented so they can be replicated by a third party. The documentation contains key 
definitions, information regarding the process of acquiring samples and data processing, methodological principles and results 
obtained, as well as the comparison of said results with those of previous years. 

CaixaBank Group has a total of 81 models, in order to obtain the parameters necessary to calculate the hedges using a collective 
analysis. For each of the risk parameters, different models can be used to adapt to each type of exposure.  

Transactions of borrowers that have not been classified as Stage 3 even though there are past due amounts of more than 90 days 
with the same debtor 
The transactions of borrowers that have not been classified as Stage 3 even though they are past due for more than 90 days with the 
same debtor are not of a significant amount. 

 

Incorporation of forward-looking information into the expected loss models 

The projected variables considered are as follows: 

 
FORWARD-LOOKING MACROECONOMIC INDICATORS * 
(% Percentages) 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020 

2022 2023 2024 2021 2022 2023
GDP growth         

 Baseline scenario 6.2 2.9 1.6 6.0 4.4 2.0
 Upside range 7.8 4.3 1.9 7.7 5.0 1.9
 Downside range 3.7 2.1 1.6 1.7 5.5 2.8
Unemployment rate    
 Baseline scenario 14.5 13.2 12.5 17.9 16.5 15.4
 Upside range 14.2 12.2 11.2 16.9 14.9 14.1
 Downside range 15.7 15.8 15.1 20.8 18.4 16.7
Interest rates (**)    
 Baseline scenario (0.4) (0.2) 0.2 (0.5) (0.4) (0.2)
 Upside range (0.3) (0.1) 0.5 (0.4) (0.3) (0.1)
 Downside range (0.6) (0.5) (0.3) (0.6) (0.5) (0.4)
Evolution of property prices    
 Baseline scenario 1.60 2.50 2.80 (2.00) 0.80 1.80
 Upside range 2.70 5.40 4.50 0.00 2.60 2.20
 Downside range (0.80) (0.50) 1.50 (5.20) (1.30) 1.30
        

(*) Source: CaixaBank Research. 
(**) 12M Euribor used (average for the period) 

 

The weighting of the scenarios considered in each of the financial years for each sector is as follows: 

 
PROBABILITY OF OCCURRENCE OF THE CONSIDERED SCENARIOS     
(% percentages)     
 31-12-2021  31-12-2020 
 BASELINE 

SCENARIO 
UPSIDE 
SCENARIO 

DOWNSIDE 
SCENARIO  

BASELINE 
SCENARIO 

UPSIDE 
SCENARIO 

DOWNSIDE 
SCENARIO 

Spain 60 20 20  60 20 20 
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Assumptions and adjustments to the models 

The context of the pandemic has required a specific adaptation to the general accounting classification criteria, which have consisted 
of the inclusion of: 

 specific criteria for reclassification of Stage 1 to Stage 2: ICO-backed transactions of self-employed workers in sectors significantly 
impacted by COVID-19 and that have drawn down the full amount of the liquidity granted; companies under collective analysis 
that, under certain conditions, have suffered a deterioration of their credit rating or single names that have been assessed as 
particularly vulnerable in the context of the pandemic.  

 other specific criteria: as more stringent criteria than the regulatory criteria for Stage 3 classification in consumption moratoria 
or the temporary suspension of the cure period and maintenance in Stage 3 in the case of general moratoria (legislative and 
sectoral). 

Thus, the application of a prudent approach as a consequence of the impacts of COVID-19 has led to the implementation of a PMA 
(Post Model Adjustment) accounting adjustment to constitute loan loss provisions. The PMA hedges in MicroBank amounted to EUR 
11.20 million at 31 December 2021. These provisions will be reviewed in the future with the new information available. 

In accordance with the principles of the applicable accounting standards, the hedging level factors in a forward-looking (12-month) 
or life-time vision, according to the accounting classification of the exposures (12 months for Stage 1 and life-time for Stages 2 and 
3). 

 

NPL management 

The default and recovery function is aligned with the Group’s risk management guidelines. The default monitoring and recovery 
activity is particularly relevant in the current unfavourable economic context due to the COVID-19 pandemic, with the principal goal 
of minimising the impact on the volume of doubtful positions and provisions. 

The principles underlying NPL management focus not only on default management, but also on preventive and anticipatory actions 
based on the various impairment indicators available to the bank, avoiding the emergence of triggers that would lead to the 
classification of positions as stage 2 and their consequent impact on the statement of profit & loss. 

The portfolio classified in Stage 3 for reasons other than non-performing loans is also proactively monitored for provisions, designing 
specific management plans focused on the reasons that led to its classification in this accounting stage. 

On the one hand, the governance model and operational framework for problem asset management maintains a holistic view of the 
overall life cycle and specialised management according to the moment of default of the debt. The responsibility for management is 
broken down into two different areas: 

 Cash flow management: covers the timely management of non-performing loans of customers with defaults between day 1 and 
day 90 of non-payment. On the business side, the Solutions & Collections area centrally coordinates the network of branches 
and collection agencies in the management of the recovery prior to going into default. In the current economic climate, the 
branch network’s connectivity and closeness with the customer continues to be essential in identifying their situations and 
needs, especially in terms of social vulnerability. 

 Stock management: concerns the management of customers with default positions, with non-payment exceeding 90 days. This 
area is the responsibility of the Risks department, with management differentiated by the retail and corporate customer 
segment. The specialist team is geared towards finding definitive solutions in more advanced default scenarios. 

On the other hand, since 2020, the Group has adapted the overall management of recoveries and default has been adapted to the 
economic support measures to address the pandemic. In terms of non-performing loans, we have collaborated in identifying and 
supporting customers whose debt remains structurally viable with sustainable solutions, ensuring that the financing needs of these 
customers, arising from the temporary decline in their income, are covered. It is also worth mentioning the bank's adherence to the 
addenda to the original contracts of the ICO COVID facilities relating to the measures of the Code of Good Practices, in order to 
continue supporting the business fabric that continues to be affected by the impacts of the pandemic. 

All this management has been subject to the application of the policies and procedures in force which, in accordance with accounting 
and regulatory standards, establish the guidelines for the appropriate classification of loans and estimation of hedges. 

One of the main lines of work is the support provided throughout the management cycle of the moratoria and ICO-backed loans 
granted, especially through active monitoring of the expiry of the measures granted. 
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MicroBank has also signed a series of agreements with the EIF (European Investment Fund) to cover the financing of certain groups 
and purposes: 

 Competitiveness and Innovation Framework Programme (CIP), that covers 75% of write-offs on the portfolio of microcredits for 
entrepreneurs (and social companies) eligible for the programme, granted between 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2009 up 
to 7.5% of the portfolio covered by this agreement, with a maximum receivable limited of EUR 9,825 thousand.  

In 2009, MicroBank signed a renewal of the agreement in force with the EIF up to 31 December 2009. The renewed agreement 
was extended for 2 years, thus covering microcredits for entrepreneurs who meet the admission criteria established by the CIP 
programme granted from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2011, up to an amount equal to 7.5% of the portfolio covered by this 
agreement, with the maximum receivable amount increased to EUR 18,000 thousand. 

In 2011, MicroBank signed a new agreement with the EIF, which remained in force until 30 November 2013. The agreement 
covers microcredits for entrepreneurs (and social companies) who meet the admission criteria established by the CIP 
programme granted from 1 December 2011 to 30 November 2013, up to 7.5% of the portfolio covered by this agreement, with 
a maximum receivable amount of EUR 15,000 thousand. All the agreements signed by MicroBank de "la Caixa" were subrogated 
in favour of the Company.  

A new renewal of the agreement in force until 31 December 2014 was signed with the EIF in 2013, in which the covered portfolio 
was increased up to EUR 350,000 thousand, with the maximum amount receivable for offsetting written-off risks increasing to 
EUR 26,250 thousand.  

 In 2014, MicroBank and the EIF signed the new agreement corresponding to the programme for the Competitiveness of Small 
and Medium-Sized Enterprises (COSME), covering 50% of losses due to write-offs for production of up to EUR 650,000 thousand, 
in the term between 4 December 2014 and 4 December 2017, and with a write-off limit of 11% of the aforementioned 
production. 

 In 2015, MicroBank and the EIF signed a credit coverage agreement for students on the European Community Erasmus 
programme, covering 90% of losses due to write-offs for production of up to EUR 30,000 thousand, in the term between 15 June 
2015 and 15 June 2018, and with a write-off limit of 18% of the aforementioned production. In 2018, based on the observed 
production, an agreement was reached to reduce the amount of production to EUR 10,000 thousand, extending the term of the 
agreement until 14 June 2020. An extension of the programme until June 2022 was signed in 2020. 

 In 2017, MicroBank and the EIF signed the new agreement corresponding to the programme for the Competitiveness of Small 
and Medium-Sized Enterprises (COSME 2), covering 50% of losses due to write-offs for production of up to EUR 600,000 
thousand, in the term between 4 December 2017 and 4 December 2019, and with a write-off limit of 11.5% of the 
aforementioned production. This agreement was renewed in 2019, extending the production amount to EUR 1,200,000 
thousand (double the initial amount) and extending the term until 3 December 2021. An extension of the programme until May 
2022 was signed in 2020. An extension until December 2023 was signed in 2021. 

 In 2018, MicroBank and the EIF signed a credit coverage agreement under the EaSI Programme (Employment and Social 
Innovation), which guarantees a maximum production of EUR 50,000 thousand in loans to entities and companies whose main 
goal is to generate a positive social impact, in a period between 23 July 2018 and 23 January 2021. The agreement covers 80% 
of losses due to write-offs, with a write-off limit of 15% of the amount of loans granted. An extension of the programme until 
January 2024 was signed in 2020, with a maximum production increased to EUR 131,000 thousand and a new maximum write-
off limit of 17.55%. 

 In 2020, the new Skills & Education agreement was signed with the EIF for financing students and companies in the education 
sector with the aim of promoting training and skills development within the European Union, with a maximum joint production 
of EUR 65,000 thousand, between March 2021 and March 2024. The agreement covers 80% of losses due to write-offs, with a 
write-off limit of 16% of the amount of loans granted. 

 In 2021, MicroBank entered into an agreement with the EIF to access a line of guarantees under the Pan-European Guarantee 
Fund, created by the European Commission in response to the crisis caused by the COVID-19 pandemic situation, and aimed at 
financing the self-employed and microenterprises. The maximum authorised production under this agreement is EUR 250,000 
thousand until December 2022. The guarantee is 70% without a maximum write-off limit (uncapped guarantee). 
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Refinancing policies 

The general principles published by the EBA for this type of operation are set out in the Corporate Credit Risk Management Policy 
and in the Customer Debt Refinancing and Recovery Policy. 

Under current legislation, these relate to operations in which the customer has, or will foreseeably have, financial difficulty in meeting 
its payment obligations under the contractually agreed terms and, therefore, the agreement has been amended and/or a new 
transaction has been arranged. 

These operations may derive from: 

 A new operation (refinancing operation) granted that fully or partially cancels other operations (refinanced operations) 
previously granted by any Group company to the same borrower or other companies forming part of its economic group, the 
previously past-due loans becoming current. 

 The amendment of the contractual terms of an existing operation (restructured operations) that changes its repayment schedule 
by reducing the amount of the repayments (grace periods, extension of loan maturities, reduction in interest rates, changes in 
the repayment schedule, extension of all or part of the capital on maturity, etc.). 

 The activation of contract clauses agreed at source that extend the debt repayment terms (flexible grace period). 

The existence of previous defaults is an indication of financial difficulty. Unless otherwise demonstrated, a restructuring or 
refinancing transaction is assumed to exist when the amendment to contractual term affects transactions that have been past-due 
for more than 30 days at least once in the three months prior to the amendment. However, previous defaults are not a requirement 
for an operation to be classified as refinanced or restructured. 

In contrast, debt renewals and renegotiations may be granted when the borrower does not have, or is not expected to have, financial 
difficulties; i.e., for business reasons, not to facilitate repayments. 

For a transaction to be classified as such, the borrower must have the capacity to obtain credit from the market, at the date in 
question, for a similar amount and on similar terms to those offered by the Entity. These terms must be adjusted to reflect the terms 
offered to borrowers with a similar risk profile. 

The risk management procedures and policies applied allow for detailed monitoring of credit transactions. In this regard, any 
transaction detected whose terms may need to be changed due to evidence of impairment of the borrower’s solvency is marked 
appropriately so it has the corresponding accounting classification and provision for impairment at the date of its modification. 
Therefore, as these transactions are correctly classified and valued according to the Group’s best judgement, no additional provisions 
emerge in relation to the impairment of refinanced loans. 

Refinancing operations 

The breakdown of refinancing by economic sector is as follows: 
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REFINANCING 31-12-2021 
(Thousands of euros) 

 

WITHOUT COLLATERAL  WITH COLLATERAL 

CREDIT RISK 
IMPAIRMENT

NO. OF 
OPERATION

S 

GROSS 
CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 NO. OF 
OPERATION

S 

GROSS 
CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

MAXIMUM GUARANTEE 
AMOUNT 

 
MORTGAGE 
COLLATERAL 

OTHER 
COLLATERAL 

Public administrations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (financial business) 2 10 0 0 0 0 (8)
Non-financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 1,873 19,568 0 0 0 0 (5,261)

 
Of which: financing for real estate construction 
and development (including land) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other households 1,928 9,122 0 0 0 0 (4,870)
TOTAL 3,803 28,700 0 0 0 0 (10,139)

Of which: in Stage 3 
Credit institutions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Public administrations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (financial business) 2 10 0 0 0 0 (8)
Non-financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 1,070 11,380 0 0 0 0 (4,955)

 
Of which: financing for real estate construction 
and development (including land) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other households 1,083 5,563 0 0 0 0 (4,323)
STAGE 3 TOTAL 2,155 16,953 0 0 0 0 (9,286)
           

 
REFINANCING OPERATIONS 31-12-2020 
(Thousands of euros) 

 

WITHOUT COLLATERAL  WITH COLLATERAL 

CREDIT RISK 
IMPAIRMENT

NO. OF 
OPERATION

S 

GROSS 
CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 NO. OF 
OPERATION

S 

GROSS 
CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

MAXIMUM GUARANTEE 
AMOUNT 

 
MORTGAGE 
COLLATERAL 

OTHER 
COLLATERAL 

Other financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (financial business) 5 30 (13)
Non-financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 1,035 9,588 (5,411)

 
Of which: financing for real estate construction 
and development (including land) 

Other households 2,483 10,495 (4,872)
TOTAL 3,523 20,113 0 0 0 0 (10,296)

Of which: in Stage 3 2,118 13,896 (9,577)
           

 

Concentration risk 

In the Group's Corporate Risk Catalogue, concentration risk is included within credit risk, since it is the main source of risk, although 
it covers all types of assets, as recommended by sector supervisors and as reflected in the best practices. 

Concentration in customers or in “large exposures” 

The Company does not have high exposure or concentration in specific customers. 
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Concentration by geographic location 

Risk by geographic area is as follows: 

 

 
CONCENTRATION BY GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION 31-12-2021 
(Thousands of euros)      
 

TOTAL SPAIN

REST OF THE 
EUROPEAN 

UNION AMERICA
REST OF THE 

WORLD
Central banks and credit institutions 413 413 0 0 0
Public administrations 850 850 0 0 0

 Central government 0 0 0 0 0
 Other public administrations 850 850 0 0 0
Other financial corporations and individual entrepreneurs 
(financial business) 2,687 2,687 0 0 0
Non-financial corporations and individual entrepreneurs (non-
financial business) 893,259 893,217 39 1 3

 
Real estate construction and development (including 
land) 919 919 0 0 0

 Civil engineering 46,386 46,386 0 0 0
 Other 845,954 845,912 39 1 3
  Large corporates 2,503 2,503 0 0 0
  SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 843,451 843,409 39 1 3
Other households 1,074,182 1,073,623 397 23 140
 Home purchase 66,319 66,315 0 0 4
 Consumer 894,276 893,723 397 22 135
 Other 113,587 113,585 0 1 1

TOTAL 31-12-2021 1,971,391 1,970,790 436 24 143

TOTAL 31-12-2020 1,729,391 1,728,730 405 36 221
 

The breakdown of risk in Spain by Autonomous Community is as follows: 
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55 
CONCENTRATION BY AUTONOMOUS COMMUNITY 31-12-2021 
(Thousands of euros) 

TOTAL ANDALUSIA 
BALEARIC 

ISLANDS 
CANARY 
ISLANDS 

CASTILE-LA 
MANCHA 

CASTILE-
LEON CATALONIA GALICIA MADRID MURCIA 

VALENCIAN 
COMMUNITY 

BASQUE 
COUNTRY OTHER (*) 

Central banks and credit institutions 412 9 26 8 1 2 31 2 24 299 5 5 
Public administrations 850 501 349 

 Other public administrations 850 501 349 
Other financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (financial business) 2,687 674 55 159 56 172 480 201 333 49 222 60 226 
Non-financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 893,218 148,961 27,565 43,577 21,596 28,062 298,257 29,950 128,924 16,238 60,361 26,535 63,192 

 Real estate construction and development 
(including land) 920 314 26 8 88 206 242 9 15 12 

 Civil engineering 46,387 5,295 1,738 1,570 1,216 1,783 14,783 1,685 9,358 820 3,818 1,568 2,753 
 Other 845,911 143,352 25,827 41,981 20,372 26,191 283,268 28,265 119,324 15,409 56,528 24,955 60,439 
  Large corporates 2,502 2,502 
  SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 843,409 143,352 25,827 41,981 20,372 26,191 280,766 28,265 119,324 15,409 56,528 24,955 60,439 
Other households 1,073,623 226,802 41,942 65,152 23,113 42,142 335,476 43,607 82,337 36,369 71,686 25,822 79,175 

 Home purchase 66,314 19,435 2,343 4,690 1,515 2,766 15,373 2,892 3,391 2,755 5,060 1,411 4,683 
 Consumer 893,722 187,896 33,805 54,929 19,453 33,510 278,891 34,022 73,411 31,323 59,913 21,561 65,008 
 Other 113,587 19,471 5,794 5,533 2,145 5,866 41,212 6,693 5,535 2,291 6,713 2,850 9,484 

TOTAL 31-12-2021 1,970,790 376,446 69,588 108,896 44,766 70,378 634,745 73,760 211,618 52,656 132,568 52,771 142,598 
TOTAL 31-12-2020 1,728,726 341,495 63,397 107,241 40,354 58,779 518,417 65,399 189,641 45,619 129,773 46,188 122,423 
(*) Includes autonomous communities that combined represent no more than 10% of the total 



       
       
       

 
 

 

 

 

 

56

      3. Risk management 
     Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements 2021 
 

 

Concentration by economic sector 
 
Loans to customers by activity were as follows (excluding advances): 

 
CONCENTRATION BY ACTIVITY OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 31-12-2021 
(Thousands of euros) 
 

TOTAL 

OF WHICH: 
MORTGAGE 

COLLATERAL

OF WHICH: 
OTHER 

COLLATERAL

SECURED LOANS. CARRYING AMOUNT BASED ON LATEST 
AVAILABLE APPRAISAL (LOAN TO VALUE) 

 ≤ 40% 
> 40%             
≤ 60% 

> 60%                 
≤ 80% 

> 80%                   
≤100% >100% 

Public administrations 850
Other financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (financial business) 2,659
Non-financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 879,606

 
Real estate construction and development 
(including land) 919

 Civil engineering 46,386

 Other 832,301
  Large corporates 2

  SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 832,299

Other households 1,085,210
 Home purchase 66,319

 Consumer 905,344

 Other 113,547

TOTAL 1,968,325
      

Memorandum items: Refinancing, refinanced and 
restructured transactions 18,562

           

           
CONCENTRATION BY ACTIVITY OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 31-12-2020 
(Thousands of euros) 
 

TOTAL 

OF WHICH: 
MORTGAGE 

COLLATERAL

OF WHICH: 
OTHER 

COLLATERAL

SECURED LOANS. CARRYING AMOUNT BASED ON LATEST 
AVAILABLE APPRAISAL (LOAN TO VALUE) 

 
≤ 40% 

> 40%             
≤ 60% 

> 60%            
≤ 80% 

> 80%                   
≤100% >100% 

Public administrations  
Other financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (financial business) 2,724
Non-financial corporations and individual 
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 756,131 12 12
Other households 965,036

TOTAL 1,723,891 12 12
      

Memorandum items: Refinancing, refinanced and 
restructured transactions 

9,818
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Financing for real estate construction and development 

The Company has no material exposure allocated to financing for real estate construction and development. 

 
 
BREAKDOWN OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS BY TYPE AND ARREARS STATUS 
(Thousands of euros)        
 31-12-2021  31-12-2020 
   STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 
Loan type and status         
 Public administrations  850 0 0  0 0 0 
 Other financial corporations  2,080 615 58  2,178 575 73 

 
Loans and advances to companies and individual 
entrepreneurs   651,202 228,793 48,455  519,669 254,292 32,978 

  
Real estate construction and development 
(including land)   37,640 9,086 1,480  19,483 10,383 1,097 

  Other companies and individual entrepreneurs  613,562 219,707 46,975  500,186 243,909 31,881 
 Other households 893,908 208,143 48,115  797,967 195,248 35,600 
  Home purchase 55,436 12,546 2,025  51,629 11,391 1,732 
  Other 838,472 195,597 46,090  746,338 183,857 33,868 

TOTAL 1,548,040 437,551 96,628  1,319,814 450,116 68,651 

          
     

31-12-2021 
   

31-12-2020 
By arrears status        
 Of which: default on payment of less than 30 days or up to date on payments 1,983,835    1,763,491 

 Of which: default on payment between 30 and 60 days 11,144    13,241 
 Of which: default on payment between 60 and 90 days 9,535    11,043 
 Of which: default on payment between 90 days and 6 months 20,609    17,552 
 Of which: default on payment between 6 months and 1 year 42,550    19,042 
 Of which: default on payment of more than 1 year  14,494    14,160 
By interest rate type        
 Fixed   2,018,052    1,778,535 
 Floating   64,115    59,995 
 

 
BREAKDOWN OF HEDGES OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS BY TYPE 
(Thousands of euros)        
 31-12-2021  31-12-2020 
   STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 
Public administrations       
Other financial corporations  (14) (43) (37)  (17) (35) 51 
Loans and advances to companies and individual 
entrepreneurs   (8,941) (17,947) (21,925)  (14,578) (19,030) (15,133) 

 
Real estate construction and development 
(including land)   (5) (8) (25)  (2) (7) (5) 

 Other companies and individual entrepreneurs  (8,936) (17,939) (21,900)  (14,576) (19,023) (15,128) 
Other households (10,541) (19,414) (34,981)  (12,242) (24,470) (29,187) 
 Home purchase (710) (1,453) (1,525)  (770) (1,329) (1,194) 
 Other (9,831) (17,961) (33,456)  (11,472) (23,141) (27,993) 

TOTAL (19,496) (37,404) (56,943)  (26,836) (43,534) (44,270) 
Of which: identified individually    

Of which: identified collectively (19,496) (37,404) (56,943)  (26,836) (43,534) (44,270) 
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COVID-19 impact  

With regard to the private sector in Spain, the CaixaBank Group, and MicroBank in particular, supplements legislative moratoria with 
other agreements, mainly of a sectoral nature. Also noteworthy is the effort made to guarantee the deployment of the new ICO 
(Official Credit Institute) guarantee facilities under RDL 8/2020 and 25/2020. 

The period originally established for granting these guarantees ended on 31 December 2020, in accordance with the initial provisions 
of EU regulations on State Aids. However, in the fourth amendment to the Temporary Framework of State Aid, the EU extended the 
availability period of guarantees released under the scheme to 30 June 2021, and Spanish regulations were aligned with this new 
deadline through RDL 34/2020, which established the same date of 30 June 2021 as the deadline for granting public guarantees to 
meet the liquidity needs of self-employed workers and businesses, thus amending the provisions of RDL 8/2020, of 17 March, and 
RDL 25/2020, of 3 July. In addition, RDL 34/2020 provided for the extension, for those debtors meeting certain requirements, of up 
to 3 additional years of the maximum maturity of loans with public guarantees granted under RDL 8/2020, which were accompanied 
by an extension for the same period of the public guarantee (provided that the total of the guaranteed operation did not exceed 8 
years from the date of the initial formalisation of the operation). The new loans granted subsequently under this scheme would also 
have an extended maximum term of up to 8 years. The extension of the grace period on the payment of the principal of the 
guaranteed loan by a maximum of 12 months was also provided for in the case of loans with a guarantee released under RDL 8/2020 
and RDL 25/2020, thus establishing a maximum total grace period of 24 months. 

In 2021, the Group implemented measures to comply with the new RDLs: 

 With the approval of RDL 3/2021, of 2 February, measures are adopted to reduce the gender gap and other matters in the areas 
of social security and the economy, and the deadline is extended until 30 March 2021 to apply for moratoria in respect of: debts 
secured by mortgages (RDL 8/2020), loans not secured by mortgages (RDL 11/2020) and moratoria granted to the tourism sector 
and the road passenger transport sector (RDL 25/2020 and RDL 26/2020). In addition, persons benefiting from any moratoria 
may take advantage of them for a maximum cumulative duration of nine months. 

 With the approval of RDL 5/2021 of 12 March, on extraordinary measures to support business solvency in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic, a set of measures to mobilise public investment of up to EUR 11,000 billion is structured around four lines of 
action: three additional funds to finance direct aid, balance sheet restructuring and recapitalisation of companies, and the 
extension of tax and bankruptcy moratoria.  

These measures regulate both the extension of the application period for guarantees and the adaptation of certain 
conditions of the ICO COVID-19 GUARANTEE facilities, the Code of Good Practices (CGP), to which the Group voluntarily 
adhered in order to continue supporting the business fabric affected by the pandemic, and the collection system for 
operations with an ICO COVID-19 guarantee. 
The Code of Good Practices regulates 3 measures that the debtor may request for each guaranteed financial operation: i) 
extension of the guarantee term; ii) possibility of converting financing operations guaranteed by the Ministry of Economic 
Affairs and Digital Transformation (MAEyTD) into equity loans that are not convertible into capital; and iii) the deadline for 
requesting these measures is set at 15 October 2021. 
The possible reduction of the principal of operations with guaranteed financing through the use of EUR 3,000 billion of 
direct aid, of which EUR 2,750 billion will be used for operations guaranteed by the MAEyTD and the rest for operations 
with guarantees managed by CERSA or CESCE. The deadline for applying for this measure is 01 December 2022. 
The adoption of these measures entails the need for customers to comply with the regulated eligibility criteria and, for 
financial institutions, the obligation to maintain working capital lines for customers under the CGP until 31 December 2021 
and for all customers until 31 December 2021. 
 It also postpones until 31 December 2021 the obligation for insolvent debtors to file for insolvency. 

 Royal Decree-Law 27/2021 of 23 November establishes a series of provisions whose validity extends beyond December 2021, in 
order to provide a framework of legal certainty that grants economic stability and supports companies in this phase of the 
recovery. This will be achieved mainly through: 

 The extension of the term for liquidity and solvency aid: 30 June 2022 is established as the deadline for granting public 
guarantees to meet the liquidity and investment needs of the self-employed and companies, thus amending the provisions 
of Article 29 of Royal Decree-Law 8/2020 of 17 March and Article 1 of Royal Decree-Law 25/2020 of 3 July. 

 The exclusion of 2020 and 2021 losses for the purposes of the grounds for corporate dissolution: the exceptional measure 
provided for in Article 13 of Law 3/2020 of 18 September is extended for the financial year 2021 only. For the purposes of 
the legal grounds for dissolution due to losses, 2020 and 2021 losses shall not be taken into account, and losses that reduce 
the net assets to half of the share capital until the result of the financial year 2022 shall not have any effect. 

 Extension of the moratorium on the obligation to declare bankruptcy in the case of asset imbalances, pending approval of 
the new bankruptcy regime: the moratoria provided for in Article 6 of Law 3/2020 of 18 September, to avoid the automatic 
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triggering of bankruptcy proceedings, are extended until 30 June 2022, in order to provide an additional margin so that 
companies experiencing greater difficulties as a result of the economic situation caused by the COVID-19 crisis can re-
establish their financial equilibrium, avoiding unnecessary bankruptcy proceedings. 

 On 30 November 2021, the Council of Ministers agreed to extend the deadlines by 6 months for self-employed workers and 
companies to apply for the guarantee facilities and benefit from the measures to strengthen solvency included in the Code of 
Good Practices (CGP) signed with financial institutions. This extends until 1 June 2022 the possibility for self-employed workers 
and companies to apply for the guarantee facilities and amends the CGP to apply for extensions of the term and/or conversion 
into participative loans until 15 April 2021, relaxing the eligibility requirements for those affected by the volcano on La Palma so 
that they can take advantage of the moratorium approved by the emergency situation established in RDL 20/2021. The deadline 
to apply for the reduction of principal through the transfer option is postponed until 1 June 2023. 

 The adoption of these measures entails the obligation for financial institutions to maintain working capital lines for customers 
under the CGP until 30 June 2023 and for all customers until 30 June 2022. 

It also postpones until 30 June 2021 the obligation for debtors in a state of insolvency to file for insolvency.  

The government-backed financing has been subject to a similar accounting treatment as any other financing covered by a financial 
guarantee; this guarantee has been considered solely for purposes of calculating the operation's expected loss. The financial 
guarantee has been considered an incremental cost directly attributable to the operations, which involves the accrual of a lower 
effective interest rate in the operation. No grant or public aid or any tax effects have been recognised under IAS 12. 

The breakdown of government-backed financing operations and current moratoria applications is provided below: 

 
BREAKDOWN OF MORATORIA - 31-12-2021  
(Thousands of euros)  
 AMOUNT 

CURRENT 
MORATORIA 

(A)

 MATURITY  
EXPIRED 

MORATORIA (B)  CLASSIFICATION BY STAGE (A+B)  
   

 
<6 

MONTHS
6-12 

MONTHS TOTAL STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 
Non-financial corporations and individual entrepreneurs 
(non-financial business) 34 34  62,643 22,851 28,491 11,334 
 Real estate construction and development (including land)            
 Civil engineering            
 Other 34 34  62,643 22,851 28,491 11,334
  Large corporates 
  SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 34 34 62,643 22,851 28,491 11,334

Other households 147 147  88,185 39,183 33,520 15,631 
 Home purchase  
 Consumer 147 147 85,458 38,688 32,519 14,398
 Other 2,727 495 1,000 1,232

TOTAL OPERATIONS GRANTED 181 181  150,828 62,034 62,011 26,965 
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BREAKDOWN OF MORATORIA - 31-12-2020  
(Thousands of euros)  
 AMOUNT 

CURRENT 
MORATORIA 

(A)

 MATURITY EXPIRED 
MORATORIA (B) 

CLASSIFICATION BY STAGE (A+B)  
   

 
<6 

MONTHS
6-12 

MONTHS STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 
Non-financial corporations and individual entrepreneurs 
(non-financial business) 3,021 3,021 85,227 34,288 44,817 9,144 
 Real estate construction and development (including land)          
 Civil engineering          
 Other 3,021 3,021 85,227 34,288 44,817 9,144
  Large corporates 
  SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 3,021 3,021 85,227 34,288 44,817 9,144

Other households 5,839 5,839 129,144 57,911 65,499 11,572 
 Home purchase  
 Consumer 5,704 5,704 126,082 57,152 63,915 10,720
 Other 135 135 3,062 759 1,584 853

TOTAL CURRENT OPERATIONS 8,860 8,860 214,371 92,199 110,316 20,716 
            

MORATORIA UNDER ANALYSIS          
            

TOTAL MORATORIA 8,860        
            

 
BREAKDOWN OF FINANCING WITH PUBLIC GUARANTEE 
(Thousands of euros) 
 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020
Public administrations   
Non-financial corporations and individual entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 347,617 247,691

 Real estate construction and development (including land) 209 115
 Civil engineering 18,309 7,855
 Other 329,099 239,722
  Large corporates   
  SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 329,099 239,722

TOTAL 347,617 247,691

 

In this context, as regards the principles for measuring expected credit losses for the purpose of defining the credit risk loss hedges, 
the following considerations are noteworthy: 

 Processing the significant increase in credit risk (SICR): 

The recurring criteria for determining the significant increase in credit risk have been strengthened, taking into account 
additional criteria besides those of the recurring framework. Specifically, additional criteria have been included in customers in 
which the company and family support mechanisms (chiefly general moratoria and state-backed financing) may have affected 
their classification under general criteria, either due to the lower financial burden born by the borrowers from the individuals 
segment, or for other reasons such as the gap between the effect of COVID-19 and the formulation and presentation of 
companies' annual accounts. This is a temporary overlay on SICR criteria, which will be reviewed with the evolution of the 
environment. 

For operations whose borrowers at the closing date had requested the application of legislative or sectoral moratoria under the 
EBA guidelines, no significant automatic increase in their credit risk was considered, and they were therefore classified in 
accordance with the criteria and triggers applied by the Group for the classification of operations in Stages. 

Under no circumstances has the granting of financial aid involved an improvement in the accounting classification of the 
exposure, and the ordinary accounting management procedures of credit impairment have not been suspended or relaxed. 
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 Processing of planned moratoria: 

The abovementioned regulatory moratoria require financial institutions to suspend the loan payment (repayment of capital and 
payment of interest) for a specific period.  
The government authorities have defined requirements which, in the event that they are met by the beneficiary, involve the 
granting of moratoria by the Group on the payment of capital or interest on the various credit operations that customers may 
have arranged. In Spain, objective criteria were set for granting moratoria on capital and interest on loans with mortgage 
collateral and non-mortgage credit (including credit cards) for between 3 and 6 months, depending on the operation. Customers 
that requested the application of the measure, and met and demonstrated said criteria, were provided an automatic deferral 
without accruing interest on the payments due during the period of suspension. Once this period has ended, the obligations of 
the contracts are resumed. For non-mortgage loans, the amount of the suspended monthly payments is required at the end of 
the suspension period. 

As at 31 December 2021, there are no moratoria remaining at Microbank, as they all expired during the first nine months of 
2021. 

 Identification of refinanced transactions: 

At the close of 31 December, the bulk of operations that underwent contractual amendments are those applying in the scope 
of moratoria, both legislative and sectoral, whose objective is to prevent a prolonged economic impact beyond the COVID-19 
health crisis. 
Given that these legislative and sectoral moratoriums are based, respectively, on the application of national law and an 
agreement that is applied in a broad and homogeneous way in the sector, the conditions are in place in order to refrain from 
marking an operation as refinancing or restructuring in operations where the borrower, still having liquidity difficulties, did not 
have impaired capital adequacy prior to COVID-19. 
The foregoing operations continue to be classified as normal (Stage 1), insofar as there was no reasonable doubt regarding their 
repayment and they would not have experienced a material increase in credit risk. 

 Update on the macroeconomic scenarios:  

The accounting and prudential authorities have issued recommendations in relation to upholding an adequate level of provisions 
considering the macroeconomic environment of heightened uncertainty generated by COVID-19.  
In this regard, the Group has taken into account macroeconomic scenarios of different levels of severity, consistent with internal 
planning processes (see Note 3.4.1 - Inclusion of forward-looking information in the expected loss models). These stages have 
been contrasted and they are aligned with those issued by public bodies, following the recommendation of the European Central 
Bank in its letter of 1 April 2020. 
This update has involved setting up an accounting adjustment (Post Model Adjustment) at MicroBank of EUR 11.20 million at 31 
December 2021 in the form of a collective fund, based on the existing provisioning models and a prudent approach. This 
estimation methodology is temporary (associated with the uncertainty and effects of the pandemic), supported by the guidelines 
issued by the supervisory and regulatory bodies in the context of the pandemic and underpinned by duly documented processes 
and subject to strict governance. In this regard, this collective fund will be reviewed in the future with the new available 
information and the reduction in uncertainty regarding the true impact of the health crisis. 

 

3.4.2. Interest rate risk in the banking book 

Risk defined as the negative impact on the economic value of balance sheet items or on financial margin due to changes in the 
temporary structure of interest rates. The management of this risk is entrusted to the Company's management, which is supported 
by the specialised departments maintained for this purpose by its sole shareholder, and which takes the form of the preparation of 
monitoring metrics, taking into account a wide range of market rate scenarios. 

CaixaBank Group applies best practices in the market and the recommendations of regulators in measuring interest rate risk, using 
various measurement techniques that make it possible to analyse the Group's positioning and its risk situation, as well as specific 
valuations relating to MicroBank. These notably include: 

 Sensitivity of net interest income: it shows the impact on the net income caused by changes in the interest rate curve as a result 
of the review of balance sheet transactions. This sensitivity is determined by comparing a net interest income simulation in 
various interest rate scenarios (immediate parallel and progressive movements of different intensities, as well as changes in 
slope). The most likely scenario, which is obtained using the implicit market rates, is compared with other scenarios of rising or 
falling interest rates and parallel and non-parallel shifts in the slope of the curve. The difference between these stressed net 
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interest income figures compared to the baseline scenario give us a measure of the sensitivity, or volatility, of net interest 
income.  

 Economic value sensitivity: the economic value of sensitive balances on and off the balance sheet is reassessed under the various 
stress scenarios considered by the Group. The difference between this value and the economic value calculated at current 
market rates gives us a numeric representation of the sensitivity of economic value to the various scenarios employed. 

The sensitivities of net interest income and economic value are measurements that complement each other and provide an 
overview of the structural interest rate risk, which focuses more on the short and medium term, in the case of net interest income, 
and on the medium and long term in the case of equity. 

However, it should be noted that, on the one hand, the Company's credit investment chiefly comprises small loans at a fixed interest 
rate, with regular reviews based on the customer's risk level. In addition, the Company enters into financing arrangements at a fixed 
rate (natural balance sheet hedges).  

In order to establish an efficient and stable coverage of interest rate risk over time, the Company undertakes the following:  

 It maintains a loan facility with CaixaBank whereby the Bank makes loan drawdowns basically on a monthly basis, at a fixed 
interest rate (between 0.45% and 1.40% in the last two years).  

 At 31 December 2021, it has a loan with the EIB at a fixed interest rate, drawn down on 25 October 2017 with an interest rate 
of 0.57%, as well as three other loans with the CEB (Council of Europe Development Bank), also at a fixed rate, with the last 
drawdown formalised on 15 October 2020 with an interest rate of 0.00%. In addition, there is a less significant outstanding 
balance of financing with the ICO, which corresponds to loans to customers through mediation facilities (approximately EUR 19 
million) and which is also mostly at a fixed rate. 

 It makes drawdowns from the credit account – also contracted with CaixaBank – at a variable rate that may be reviewed 
annually, for more immediate liquidity needs. 

The tables below show the breakdown interest rate revaluations and maturities of sensitive items on the MicroBank's balance sheet, 
without taking into account the value adjustments or value corrections at the year-end: 

 

 
MATRIX OF MATURITIES AND REVALUATIONS OF THE BALANCE SHEET SENSITIVE TO INTEREST RATES 
(Thousands of euros) 
 

1 YEAR 2 YEARS 3 YEARS 4 YEARS 5 YEARS >5 YEARS TOTAL
ASSETS        
Demand deposits 292     292
Loans and advances to customers 704,910 502,089 357,338 331,353 121,638 58,054 2,075,382
TOTAL ASSETS 705,202 502,089 357,338 331,353 121,638 58,054 2,075,674
LIABILITIES        
Deposits from credit institutions 654,180 331,951 288,522 203,029 33,080 9,147 1,519,909
Customer deposits 50,224     50,224
TOTAL LIABILITIES 704,404 331,951 288,522 203,029 33,080 9,147 1,570,133

ASSETS LESS LIABILITIES 798 170,138 68,816 128,324 88,558 48,907 505,541
HEDGES       0
TOTAL DIFFERENCE 798 170,138 68,816 128,324 88,558 48,907 505,541

 

 

3.5.1. Operational risk 

Overview 

Operational risk is defined as the possibility of incurring losses due to the failure or unsuitability of processes, people, internal 
systems and external events. Given the varying nature of the operational events, the CaixaBank Group does not list operational risk 
as a single item in the Corporate Risk Catalogue. Instead, it has included the following operational risks: Legal/ Regulatory, Conduct, 
IT, Information Reliability, Model and Other Operational Risks. For each of these risks in the Catalogue, the Group maintains specific 
management frameworks, without prejudice to the existence of an additional operational risk management framework corporate 
policy. 

3.5. Operational and reputational risk 
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The CaixaBank Group integrates operational risk into its management processes in order to deal with the financial sector's complex 
regulatory and legal environment. The objective of managing this risk is to improve the quality of business management, supplying 
the appropriate information to allow decisions to be made that ensure the organisation's long-term continuity, the optimisation of 
processes and the quality of both internal and external customer service. This objective is broken down into different specific 
targets, which lay the foundations for the organisation and methodology of the operational risk management work. These 
objectives are: 

 To identify and anticipate existing and/or emerging operational risks. 

 To adopt measures to mitigate and sustainably reduce operational losses. 

 To promote the establishment of systems for continuous improvement of the operating process and of the control structure. 

 To exploit operational risk management synergies. 

 To promote an operational risk management culture. 

 To comply with the current regulatory framework and requirements for the applicability of the management and calculation 
models chosen. 

Operational risk management cycle 

Although the standardised method is used to calculate regulatory capital, the Group's operational risk measurement and 
management is based on policies, processes, tools and methodologies that are risk-sensitive, in line with market best practices. 

Operational risks are structured into four categories or hierarchical tiers, from the most generic to the most specific and detailed: 

 Levels 1 and 2 of the regulations: level 1 comprises 7 sub-categories (Internal Fraud; External fraud; Employment and safety 
practices in the workplace; Customers; Products and business practices; Damage to physical assets; Business interruptions and 
system failures; and Execution, delivery and management of processes), and level 2 comprises 20 sub-categories. 

 Internal Group level 3: represents the combined individual risk of all the business areas and Group companies. 

 Level 4 individual risks:  represents the materialisation of particular level 3 risks in a specific process, activity or area. 

The technological environment of the operational risk system provides all the functionality required and is fully integrated into the 
bank’s transactional and information systems. 

Operational risk is measured with the following aspects: 

 Qualitative measurement 

Operational risks are subjected to self-assessments on an annual basis, which make it possible to: i) obtain greater knowledge 
of the operational risk profile and the new critical risk; and ii) maintain a standardised update process for the taxonomy of 
operational risks, which is the foundation upon which this risk's management is defined. 

A series of expert workshops and meetings are also held annually to generate hypothetical extreme operational loss scenarios. 
The objective is to use these scenarios to detect areas of improvement in the management and to supplement the available 
external and internal historical data on operational losses.  

 Quantitative measurement 

The internal operational loss database is one of the foundations for managing operational risk (and the future calculation of 
capital for operational risk).  

An operational event is the implementation of an identified operational risk, an event that causes an operational loss. It is the 
central concept in the Internal Database model. Loss events are defined as each individual economic impact related to an 
operational loss or recovery. 

The distribution of gross losses by regulatory category (Level 1) of risk is shown below: 
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 Additionally, measurement via Operational Risk indicators (KRIs) is a quantitative/qualitative methodology that: i) enable us to 
anticipate the development of operational risks, taking a forward-looking approach to their management; and ii) provide 
information on development of the operational risk profile and the reasons for this. A KRI is a metric for detecting and 
anticipating variations in the levels of operational risk and its monitoring and management is integrated into the corporate 
operational risk management tool. KRIs are not by nature a direct result of risk exposure. They are metrics that can be used to 
identify and actively manage operational risk. 

Mitigation of operational risk 

With the aim of mitigating the operational risk, action plans that entail appointing a centre to be in charge, setting out the actions 
to be undertaken to mitigate the risk, the percentage or degree of progress, which is updated regularly, and the plan's final 
commitment date have been defined. This allows mitigation via i) reducing the frequency at which the events occur, as well as their 
impact; ii) having a solid control structure in place, based on policies, methodologies and systems; iii) integrating information 
generated by the operational risk management mechanisms into the Group's day-to-day management processes.  

In addition, the corporate insurance programme for dealing with operational risk is designed to cover certain risks, and it is updated 
annually. Risk transfer depends on risk exposure, tolerance and appetite at any given time.  

Lastly, an annual operational loss budgeting exercise is carried out that covers the entire scope of management and enables 
monthly monitoring to analyse and, where applicable, correct any deviations.
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4. Capital adequacy management 

The basic regulations governing access to activity and credit institution activity is known as Basel III, which has been incorporated 
into European law through Directive 2013/36/EU (CRD IV) on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision 
of credit institutions and investment companies, and Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (CRR) on prudential requirements for credit 
institutions and investment firms. While the CRR was directly applicable to Spain, the CRD VI was transposed into Spanish regulations 
through Law 10/2014 on the regulation, supervision and solvency of credit institutions and its subsequent regulatory implementation 
through Royal Decree 84/2015 and Bank of Spain Circular 2/2016.  

This Basel III framework has been revised and, in Europe, this revision has been partially introduced through the amendment of the 
CRR (CRR II) and the amendment of CRD IV (CRD V). Both regulations came into force in June 2019, whereby CRR II is generally 
applicable from June 2021 (with certain exceptions that postponed its implementation until 2023) and CRD V from the end of 2020. 
Nationally, CRD became law in Spain in 2021 through Royal Decree-Law 7/2021 (which amended, among others, Law 10/2014 and 
Royal Decree 970/2021, which itself amended, among others, Royal Decree 84/2015). In addition, in relation to Circular 2/2016, the 
Bank of Spain has published a draft circular, the final version of which is expected to be published in 2022 and that will complete the 
transposition of CRD V into Spanish law. On 27 October 2021, the European Commission published two legislative proposals to amend 
the regulatory package on CRR and CRD capital, which will transpose the agreement of the Basel Committee to finalise the Basel 
Accords (known as Basel IV) in order to enhance the resilience of financial institutions in the future. Its application is scheduled for 
January 2025 (which is a two-year delay from the date set by the Basel Committee), except for certain provisions, which are scheduled 
for later. In addition, transitional periods are considered for its implementation until 2029.  

Within the framework of the CaixaBank Group, and in accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned regulations, in 2009 the 
Company obtained from the Bank of Spain, the exemption from individual compliance with the general own funds requirements, 
stating that the Company meets all the requirements of the regulations in force for these purposes, and there are no future or 
foreseeable practical impediments or legal instruments for the immediate transfer of own funds or reimbursement of liabilities. 

 

Capital ratios 

The composition of CaixaBank Group’s eligible own funds is as follows: 

 
CAPITAL RATIOS OF CAIXABANK GROUP 
(Millions of euros)    

    31-12-2021 31-12-2020

 CET1 (*) 13.10%  13.60%
  Minimum required: 8.19%  8.10%

 Tier 1 15.50%  15.70%
  Minimum required: 9.99%  9.88%

 Total Capital 17.90%  18.10%
  Minimum required: 12.41%  12.26%
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5. Appropriation of profit 

The appropriation of the Company's profit in 2021, to be presented by the Board of Directors for approval by the Sole Shareholder, is as 
follows: 
 

APPROPRIATION OF MICROBANK PROFIT 
(Euros)  
  
  2021
Distribution basis  
Profit/(loss) 36,357,368
Distribution:  
To dividends 10,907,210
 To dividend  10,907,210
To reserves 25,450,158
 To legal reserve (1)  
 To voluntary reserve (2) 25,450,158
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 36,357,368
   

(1) It is not necessary to transfer part of the 2021 profit to the legal reserve, as this reserve has reached 20% of the share capital (art. 274 of the Spanish Corporate 
Enterprises Act). 
(2) Estimated amount allocated to the voluntary reserve. 
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6. Shareholder remuneration and earnings per share 

 

 

The following dividends were paid this year: 

 

DIVIDENDS PAID IN 2021    
(Thousands of euros)    
  

EUROS PER 
SHARE

AMOUNT PAID IN 
CASH PAYMENT DATE

Dividend 2020 0.018 1,622 28-04-2021

TOTAL  1,622 
 

 

Basic and diluted earnings per share of the Company are as follows: 

 

CALCULATION OF BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE   
(Thousands of euros) 
 

2021 2020
Numerator 36,357 5,405
      Profit/(loss) for the period 36,357 5,405
Denominator (thousands of shares) 90,186 90,186
 Average number of shares outstanding (1) 90,186 90,186
Adjusted number of shares (denominator of basic earnings per share) 90,186 90,186
Basic earnings per share (in euros) 0.40 0.06
Diluted earnings per share (in euros) (2) 0.40 0.06
     (1) Thousands of outstanding shares at the start of the year. 
(2) The Company does not hold any instruments that produce dilutive effects on the number of shares, thus, the basic earnings per share matches the diluted earnings per 
share. 

6.1. Shareholder remuneration 

6.2. Earnings per share 
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7. Business combinations and mergers 

There were no business combinations in 2021 and 2020. 
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8. Remuneration of key management personnel 
 
 
 
 

The breakdown and details of remuneration received by the Board of Directors are as follows:

REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
(Thousands of euros)   

 2021 2020

Remuneration for board membership  

Fixed remuneration 868 959

Variable remuneration  

Other long-term benefits  

Other items (*)  

TOTAL 868 959

Composition of the Board of Directors 9 9

      Female 2 2

      Male 7 7

(*) No amounts have been recognised for Directors taking out civil liability insurance premiums, as this insurance is taken out by the Group's parent company, CaixaBank, S.A. 

 

The Company does not have any pension obligations with former or current members of the Board of Directors in their capacity as 
such.  

There are no termination benefits agreed in the event of termination of the appointment as Director, except for those agreed with 
the Chief Executive Officer. 

 

 

The breakdown and details of remuneration received by the Senior Management of the Company are as follows: 

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
(Thousands of euros)   

  2021 2020 
Salary (1) 1,276 1,049 
Post-employment benefits (2) 5 5 
Other long-term benefits 
Other positions in Group companies 

TOTAL REMUNERATION 1,281 1,054 

Composition of Senior Management 8 8 
           Female 3 3 
          Male 5 5 

 
(1) This amount includes fixed remuneration, remuneration in kind and total variable remuneration received by members of the Senior Management. The variable 
remuneration corresponds to the proportional part of the target bonus for the year, estimating 100% achievement. 
(2) Includes insurance premiums and discretionary pension benefits.  

 

 

8.2. Remuneration of Senior Management 

8.1. Remuneration of the Board of 
Directors 



       
       
       

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

70

      8. Remuneration of key management personnel 
     Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements 2021 
 

 

In some cases, the employment contracts with members of the Senior Management contain clauses on termination benefits for the 
early termination or rescission of such contracts. 

 

 
 

At year-end 2021, the Company's Directors have not informed the other members of the Board of Directors of any situations of direct 
or indirect conflict that they or persons related to them may have with the interests of the Company.

8.3. Other information relating to the 
Board of Directors 
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9. Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income 

The breakdown of the balances under this heading is as follows: 
BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE WITH CHANGES IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(Thousands of euros)   
 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020
Equity instruments 2,500 1,308
 Shares in non-listed companies * 2,500 1,308
TOTAL 2,500 1,308

     Equity instruments   
 Of which: gross unrealised gains 430 109
 Of which: gross unrealised losses   
     
(*) Corresponds to the 0.07% stake in the European Investment Fund (EIF). On 4 May 2021, the Company acquired 2 shares in the EIF for EUR 872 thousand. This amount 
is being reduced by the amount corresponding to the unpaid portion not called up, which is presented in memorandum accounts. 
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10. Financial assets at amortised cost 

The breakdown of the balances under this heading is as follows: 

BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST - 31-12-2021 
(Thousands of euros)       
  VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS  

 
GROSS 

BALANCE
IMPAIRMENT 
ALLOWANCES

ACCRUED 
INTEREST FEES OTHER 

BALANCE 
SHEET 

AMOUNT
Debt securities 0  0
Loans and advances 2,075,382 (113,843) 8,723 (1,766) 0 1,968,496
     Central banks 0  
     Credit institutions 121  121
     Customers 2,075,260 (113,843) 8,723 (1,766) 1,968,375
TOTAL 2,075,382 (113,843) 8,723 (1,766) 0 1,968,496

       
BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST - 31-12-2020 
(Thousands of euros)       
  VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS  

 
GROSS 

BALANCE
IMPAIRMENT 
ALLOWANCES

ACCRUED 
INTEREST FEES OTHER 

BALANCE 
SHEET 

AMOUNT
Debt securities 0  0
Loans and advances 1,832,690 (114,640) 8,698 (2,789) 0 1,723,959
     Central banks 0  
     Credit institutions 19  19
     Customers 1,832,671 (114,640) 8,698 (2,789) 1,723,940
TOTAL 1,832,690 (114,640) 8,698 (2,789) 0 1,723,959

  
 

 

The breakdown of changes in the gross carrying amount (amount on balance sheet without considering value corrections due to 
impairment of assets) of loans and advances to customers is as follows: 

 

CHANGES IN LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS      
(Thousands of euros)          
  2021  2020 
  

TO STAGE 1: TO STAGE 2: TO STAGE 3: TOTAL TO STAGE 1: TO STAGE 2: TO STAGE 3: TOTAL
Opening balance 1,319,813 450,116 68,650 1,838,580 1,145,321 376,294 66,281 1,587,896
Transfers (117,751) 45,115 72,637 (0) (110,842) 48,600 62,242 
 From stage 1: (188,518) 163,522 24,995 (0) (165,683) 141,817 23,866 
 From stage 2: 70,677 (121,419) 50,742 0 54,775 (95,127) 40,352 
 From stage 3: 89 3,011 (3,101) (0) 66 1,910 (1,976) 
New financial assets 770,907 83,208 8,156 862,271 666,690 155,504 8,823 831,017
Financial asset disposals (other 
than write-offs)  (424,929) (140,888) (6,696) (572,513) (381,355) (130,282) (4,502) (516,139)
Write-offs   (46,119) (46,119)   (64,193) (64,193)
CLOSING BALANCE 1,548,040 437,551 96,628 2,082,218 1,319,814 450,116 68,651 1,838,581

                      10.1. Loans and advances  
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The movement of hedges of "Financial assets at amortised cost – Loans and advances" is as follows: 

 
CHANGES IN IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO 
CUSTOMERS 

     
(Thousands of euros)          
  2021 2020 
  

TO STAGE 1: TO STAGE 2: TO STAGE 3: TOTAL TO STAGE 1: TO STAGE 2: TO STAGE 3: TOTAL
Opening balance 26,836 43,534 44,270 114,640 17,083 31,886 42,394 91,363
Net allowances (7,340) (6,130) 50,553 37,083 9,753 11,648 54,609 76,008
 From stage 1: (5,954) 5,168 18,455 17,669 (5,948) 8,999 19,308 22,359
 From stage 2: (3,549) (6,887) 26,994 16,558 (2,839) (6,885) 24,523 14,799
 From stage 3: (907) (8,262) (834) (10,002) (706) (5,690) (660) (7,056)
        New financial assets 3,070 3,851 5,976 12,897 19,246 15,226 11,484 45,956
 Dismissals (0) (0) (38) (39)  (2) (46) (48)
Amounts used   (37,880) (37,880)   (52,731) (52,731)
Transfers and other    0    0
CLOSING BALANCE 19,496 37,404 56,943 113,843 26,836 43,534 44,270 114,640

Of which: COVID-19 fund 4,900 6,300 11,200 10,300 8,500 1,200 20,000
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11. Tangible assets 

The breakdown of changes to the balance under this heading is as follows: 
 

CHANGES IN TANGIBLE ASSETS  
(Thousands of euros)        
 31-12-2021  31-12-2020 
 

 

FURNITURE, 
FACILITIES AND 

OTHER IT EQUIPMENT RIGHTS OF USE

FURNITURE, 
FACILITIES AND 

OTHER IT EQUIPMENT RIGHTS OF USE
Cost    
Opening balance 1,157 109 3,207 1,133 111 3,238
 Additions 55 0 30 37
 Dismissals  (6) (39) (31)
 Transfers 6
CLOSING BALANCE 1,218 109 3,207 1,157 109 3,207
Accumulated depreciation 
Opening balance (410) (50) (666) (284) (96) (344)
 Additions (136) (18) (333) (131) (9) (337)
 Dismissals  5 55 16
 Transfers (5)
CLOSING BALANCE (551) (68) (998) (410) (50) (666)
OWN USE, NET 667 41 2,209 747 59 2,541

          

Selected information about property, plant and equipment of own use is presented below: 

 
OTHER INFORMATION ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT FOR OWN USE 
(Thousands of euros)  
 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020
Fully amortised assets still in use 129 103
Commitments to acquire intangible assets Insignificant Insignificant
Assets with ownership restrictions Insignificant Insignificant
Assets covered under an insurance policy (1) Yes Yes
   

(1) The Company is a beneficiary of a corporate policy subscribed by CaixaBank with a third party covering material damage to its tangible assets. 
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12. Intangible assets 

The breakdown of changes to the balance under this heading is as follows: 
 

CHANGES IN OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
(Thousands of euros)    
 SOFTWARE  
  2021 2020
Gross cost   
Opening balance 2,166 1,631
 Additions 611 535
SUBTOTAL 2,777 2,166

Accumulated depreciation 
Opening balance (838) (591)
 Additions (308) (247)
CLOSING BALANCE (1,146) (838)

TOTAL 1,631 1,328

 

Selected information related to intangible assets is set out below: 

 

OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
(Thousands of euros)   
 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020
Fully amortised assets still in use 386 225
Commitments to acquire intangible assets Insignificant Insignificant
Assets with ownership restrictions Insignificant Insignificant
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13. Other assets and other liabilities 

The breakdown of these items in the balance sheet is as follows: 

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES 
(Thousands of euros)   
 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020
Prepayments and accrued income 2,503 5,924
 Of which: pending subsidies from the European Investment Fund 2,503 4,308
Other 271 43
TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 2,774 5,967
Prepayments and accrued income 29,015 30,476
 Of which: balance payable to CaixaBank for agency and service contracts 27,175 28,877
Other 62 1
TOTAL OTHER LIABILITIES 29,077 30,477
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14. Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

The breakdown of the balances under this heading is as follows: 

BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 31-12-2021 
(Thousands of euros)       
  VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS   

 
GROSS 

BALANCE
ACCRUED 
INTEREST MICROHEDGES

TRANSACTION 
COSTS

PREMIUMS 
AND 

DISCOUNTS

BALANCE 
SHEET 

AMOUNT
Deposits 1,570,132 383 1,570,515
     Credit institutions 1,519,908 383   1,520,291
     Customers 50,224    50,224
Other financial liabilities 2,701    2,701
TOTAL 1,572,833 383 0 0 0 1,573,216

 
BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 31-12-2020 
(Thousands of euros)       
  VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS   

 
GROSS 

BALANCE
ACCRUED 
INTEREST MICROHEDGES

TRANSACTION 
COSTS

PREMIUMS 
AND 

DISCOUNTS

BALANCE 
SHEET 

AMOUNT 
Deposits 1,369,287 390 1,369,677 
     Credit institutions 1,320,891 390   1,321,281 
     Customers 48,396    48,396 
Other financial liabilities 3,019    3,019 
TOTAL 1,372,306 390 1,372,696 

 

 

 

 

This heading includes loans and credit policies that the Company has obtained in order to finance its activity. 

The breakdown of the gross balances under this heading is as follows: 

 

BREAKDOWN OF DEPOSITS FROM CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
(Thousands of euros)   

   31-12-2021 31-12-2020
Demand 34,554 38,613
 Other accounts 34,554 38,613
Time or at notice 1,485,354 1,282,278
 Deposits with agreed maturity 1,485,354 1,282,278
TOTAL 1,519,908 1,320,891
     

 
 

     

      

      

      

      

15.1. Deposits from credit institutions  
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BREAKDOWN OF FUNDING AT 31-12-2021 
(Thousands of euros)    

  
OUTSTANDING CAPITAL 

AND INTEREST
AVERAGE 

INTEREST RATE
AVERAGE 

MATURITY
Loans with third parties 278,920
 Council of Europe Development Bank 230,000 0.26% 40
 European Investment Bank (EIB) 30,000 0.57% 60
 Official Credit Institute (ICO) 18,920 0.04% 29
Loans with Group credit institutions 1,206,434
 CaixaBank 1,206,434 0.65% 25
Policies with Group credit institutions (1) 34,554
 CaixaBank 34,554 0.55% 12
TOTAL 1,519,908  

(1) The undrawn amounts of credit policies held with CaixaBank at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 40,455 thousand. 

 

 
 

The breakdown of the gross balances under this heading is as follows: 

BREAKDOWN OF CUSTOMER DEPOSITS 
(Thousands of euros)   

   31-12-2021 31-12-2020 
By type 50,224 48,396 
 Current accounts and other demand deposits 21,933 22,153 
 Savings accounts 28,291 26,243 
By sector 50,224 48,396 
 Public administrations 56 54 
 Private sector  50,168 48,342 
 

 

 
 

The breakdown of the gross balances under this heading is as follows: 

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
(Thousands of euros) 

 31-12-2021 31-12-2020
Payment obligations 17 60
Tax collection accounts 380 356
Other items 4 4
Liabilities associated with assets for rights of use 2,300 2,599
TOTAL 2,701 3,019

 

"Other financial liabilities – Liabilities associated with right-of-use assets" (see Note 11) shows the present value of future lease 
payments over the term of the contract. The movement for the year is as follows:  

 
 
 

15.2. Customer deposits 
 

15.3. Other financial liabilities 
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FUTURE PAYMENTS ON OPERATING LEASES  
(Thousands of euros) 

  31-12-2020 

NET 
REGISTRA
TION 

FINANCIA
L UPDATE 

PAYMENT
S 31-12-2021 

Linked to other operating leases 2,599   (329) 2,300 
TOTAL 2,599 0 0 (329) 2,300 
Discount rate applied (according to the term) 
Spain 0.96%    0.96% 
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80

15. Provisions 

The breakdown of the changes to the balance under this heading is as follows: 

CHANGES IN PROVISIONS  
(Thousands of euros)           
  PENSIONS AND 

OTHER POST-
EMPLOYMENT 

DEFINED BENEFIT 
OBLIGATIONS

OTHER LONG-
TERM EMPLOYEE 

BENEFITS

PENDING LEGAL ISSUES AND 
TAX LITIGATION 

 COMMITMENTS AND 
GUARANTEES GIVEN 

OTHER 
PROVISIONS

 LEGAL 
CONTINGENCIE

S
PROVISIONS FOR 

TAXES
CONTINGENT 

RISKS
CONTINGENT 

COMMITMENTS 

BALANCE AT 31-12-2019 434 11 
Charged to the statement of 
profit or loss 104 24 
 Provision 104 24 
Use of funds  
Transfers and other 44  

BALANCE AT 31-12-2020 582 35 
Charged to the statement of 
profit or loss 135 (26) 
 Provision 135 50 
 Reversal (76) 
Transfers and other (27)  

BALANCE AT 31-12-2021 690 9 
              

 

 

The commitments assumed by the Company to cover the contingencies of the death and disability of employees during the period 
in which they remain active are covered by an internal fund and are based on the provisions of the Collective Banking Agreement.

16.1. Provisions for other employee 
benefits 
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16. Equity 

 

 

Share capital 
 
Selected information on the figures and type of share capital figures is presented below: 
 

INFORMATION ABOUT SHARE CAPITAL  
 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020
Number of fully subscribed and paid up shares (units) (1) 90,185,564 90,185,564
Par value per share (euros) 1 1
Sole Shareholder CaixaBank CaixaBank
   (1) All shares have been recognised by book entries and provide the same rights. 

 

Reserves 

The breakdown of the balance under this heading is as follows: 

 
BREAKDOWN OF RESERVES 
(Thousands of euros)   

  31-12-2021 31-12-2020
Legal reserve (1) 18,037 18,037
Restricted reserves (2) 27 21
Unrestricted reserves 243,632 239,854
TOTAL 261,696 257,912

    (1) At year-end 2021 and 2020, the legal reserve has reached the minimum amount required by the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act.  
(2) Restricted reserve equivalent to the amount of the shares of the parent company, CaixaBank, S.A. 

 

 

 

 

 

The movement in this heading is shown in the statement of recognised income and expense.

16.1. Shareholders' equity 

16.2. Accumulated other comprehensive  
income 
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17. Tax position 

 

The consolidated tax group for Corporation Tax includes CaixaBank, as the parent, and subsidiaries include Spanish companies in the 
commercial group that comply with the requirements for inclusion under regulations, including the MicroBank.  

 

 

In 2020, the inspection procedure initiated against CaixaBank (head of the corporate income tax consolidation group, of which the 
Company forms part) in relation to the main taxes applicable to it for the years 2013 to 2015, both inclusive, was completed, with no 
impact on the Company's equity. 

In accordance with the foregoing, the Company has the 2016 and subsequent years open for inspection for corporate income tax and 
the last four years for the other taxes applicable to it. 

 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no ongoing disputes that, in the opinion of the Company's Directors, could have a 
significant impact on the Company's financial position. 

 

 

 

The Company's reconciliation of accounting profit to taxable profit is presented below: 

RECONCILIATION OF ACCOUNTING PROFIT TO TAXABLE PROFIT 
(Thousands of euros)   
   

2021 2020
Profit/(loss) before tax (A) 51,950 7,748
Adjustments to profit (loss) 
Taxable income/(tax loss)   
Tax payable (taxable income * 30%) (1) (15,585) (2,323)
Tax relief and tax credits   
 Other credits and tax benefits   
Corporation tax rate for the year (15,585) (2,323)
Tax adjustments (8) (20)
Tax adjustments for expense recognised against reserves   
Other tax   
Income tax (B) (15,593) (2,343)

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX (A) + (B) 36,357 5,405
     (1) Income and expenses within the Tax Group, the parent company of which is CaixaBank, S.A., are taxed at the general rate of 30% in Corporation Tax. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17.1. Tax consolidation 

17.3. Reconciliation of accounting profit 
to taxable profit 

17.2. Tax years subject to tax inspection 
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The changes in the balance of these headings are as follows: 

CHANGES OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
(Thousands of euros)          
 

31-12-2019
REGULARISA

TIONS 
ADDITIO

NS
DEPART

URES 31-12-2020 
REGULARISAT

IONS 
ADDITIO

NS
DEPART

URES 31-12-2021
Pension plan contributions  140 50 0 190  38 229
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment  12  (2) 9   (2) 7
NPL provisions 20,851 8,067 (194) 28,724   (7,326) 21,398
Allowances for credit losses (Circular 
4/2017) (1) 719  (719) 0    0
Cash flow hedges 14  (14) 0    0

TOTAL 21,736 0 8,118 (929) 28,924 0 38 (7,328) 21,634
          (1) In accordance with transitory provision thirty-nine of the Spanish Corporation Tax Act, the amount to include in the tax base in 2020 stands at EUR 2,397 thousand (the amount included in 2019 
was EUR 2,397 thousand and EUR 2,397 in 2018), with nothing remaining to be included. 

 
BREAKDOWN DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 
(Thousands of euros)          
 

31-12-2019
REGULARISATI

ONS
ADDITI

ONS
DEPART

URES 31-12-2020
REGULARISAT

IONS
ADDITIO

NS
DEPART

URES 31-12-2021 
Tax liabilities on measurement of 
financial assets at fair value with 
changes in other comprehensive 
income 33 (0) 33 96 129 

TOTAL     33  0 129 
           

The Company does not have any significant unrecognised deferred tax assets. 

CaixaBank, S.A., the parent of the consolidated tax group to which the Company belongs assesses the recoverable amount of its 
recognised deferred tax assets. On a half-yearly basis, the Group, in collaboration with an independent expert, assesses the 
recoverability of the tax assets recognised in the balance sheet on the basis of a budget over a six-year horizon. 

The Group estimates that the recorded deferred tax assets arising from tax loss carryforwards, deductions and non-monetisable 
temporary differences relating to the Spanish jurisdiction will be recovered within a maximum term of 15 years. 

At 31 December 2021, the results of the model and the backtesting exercises support the recoverability of the deferred tax assets 
within the legal recovery period. Likewise, in the current interest-rate environment, the nominal amount of deferred tax assets does 
not differ significantly from present value.  

17.4. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
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18. Guarantees and contingent commitments given 

The breakdown of “Guarantees and contingent commitments given” included as memorandum items in the balance sheet, is set out 
below: 

BREAKDOWN OF EXPOSURE AND COVERAGE ON GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS 31-12-2021 
(Thousands of euros)        
 OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE HEDGE 
 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3
Financial guarantees given 62 12 1 (0) (1) (0)
Loan commitments given 254 40 17 (2) (1) (5)

 
BREAKDOWN OF EXPOSURE AND COVERAGE ON GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS 31-12-2020 
(Thousands of euros)        
 OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE HEDGE 
 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3
Financial guarantees given 62 5 13  0 (1)
Loan commitments given 1,246 224 14 (7) (27) (1)
 

The Company is only obliged to pay the sum of contingent liabilities if the counterparty guaranteed fails to comply with its obligations 
at the time of non-compliance. It believes that most of these risks will reach maturity without being settled. 
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19. Other significant disclosures 

Changes in the items derecognised from the balance sheet because recovery was deemed remote are summarised below. These 
financial assets are recognised under “Suspended assets” in the memorandum accounts supplementing the balance sheet: 

CHANGES IN WRITTEN-OFF ASSETS 
(Thousands of euros)   

  
2021 2020

OPENING BALANCE 269,940 213,069
Additions: 53,110 71,671
Disposals: 18,846 14,800
 Cash recovery of principal (Note 26) 6,757 4,200
 Disposal of written-off assets (1) 12,074 10,173
 Due to expiry of the statute-of-limitations period, forgiveness or any other cause 15 427
CLOSING BALANCE 304,204 269,940
    Of which: interest accrued on the non-performing loans 38,641 32,118
    

(1) Corresponds to the sale of non-performing and written-off assets and includes interest related to these portfolios. 
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20. Interest income 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows: 

 

BREAKDOWN OF INTEREST INCOME 
(Thousands of euros)   

  2021 2020
Loans and advances to customers and other financial income 121,131 122,591
 Public administrations 22
 Personal loans 118,096 119,454
 Rest 3,013 3,137
TOTAL 121,131 122,591
    

 

The average effective interest rate of the various financial assets categories calculated on average net balances (excluding 
rectifications): 

 

AVERAGE RETURN ON ASSETS 
(Percentage)   

  2021 2020
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 Loans and advances to customers 6.27% 7.24%
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21. Interest expenses 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows: 

 

BREAKDOWN OF INTEREST EXPENSES 
(Thousands of euros)   

 2021 2020
Credit institutions 7,672 6,374
Customer deposits and other finance costs 1 1
Adjustments to expenses as a consequence of hedging transactions   47
Other interest expenses   

TOTAL 7,673 6,422
    

The average effective interest rate of the various financial liabilities categories calculated on average net balances (excluding 
rectifications): 

 

AVERAGE RETURN ON LIABILITIES   
(Percentage)   

  2021 2020
Deposits from credit institutions 0.55% 0.54%
Customer deposits 0.00% 0.00%
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22. Fees 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows: 

 

BREAKDOWN OF FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME   
(Thousands of euros)  
 

2021 2020 
Contingent liabilities 2 2 
Collection and payment services 49 66 
Other fees * 7,453 6,387 
TOTAL 7,504 6,455 

  0 

(*) Chiefly corresponds to the fees received by the Company for the maintenance of customer deposits and managing the collection of unpaid amounts. 

 
BREAKDOWN OF FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES   
(Thousands of euros)  
 

2021 2020 
Assigned to other entities and correspondents * (2,607) (2,583) 
TOTAL (2,607) (2,583) 
(*) Chiefly fees paid to Group Companies for guarantees. 
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23. Other operating income and expense 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows: 

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER OPERATING INCOME  
(Thousands of euros)  
 

2021 2020 
Financial fees and commissions offsetting direct costs    
Other income * 1,586 1,302 
TOTAL 1,586 1,302 
(*) Mainly corresponds to income from the management of Monte de Piedad.   
 

 

 
BREAKDOWN OF OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES   
(Thousands of euros)  
 

2021 2020 
Deposit Guarantee Fund contributions (74) (89) 
Contribution to the Single Resolution Fund (SRF) (418) (384) 
Other items (11) (10) 
TOTAL (504) (483) 
   



       
       

 
 
 

      
       
           
 

 

 

90

      24. Personnel expenses 
     Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements 2021 
 

24. Personnel expenses 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows: 

BREAKDOWN OF PERSONNEL EXPENSES   
(Thousands of euros)  
 

2021 2020 
Wages and salaries (2,488) (2,326) 
Social security contributions (400) (402) 
Transfers to defined contribution plans (20) (19) 
Other personnel expenses (317) (221) 
TOTAL (3,225) (2,968) 

    

“Other personnel expenses” includes, inter alia, training expenses, education grants and indemnities and other short-term benefits. 

Below is the average number of employees, by professional category and gender: 

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 
(Number of employees) 

 2021 (*)  2020 
 

MEN WOMEN

OF WHICH: WITH A 
DISABILITY EQUAL TO OR 

ABOVE 33% MEN WOMEN

OF WHICH: WITH A 
DISABILITY EQUAL TO OR 

ABOVE 33%
Directors 5 3  5 3 
Rest of employees 10 11  10 11 1
TOTAL 15 14 0 15 14 1

        (*) The distribution of the workforce by professional category and gender at 31 December 2021 is not significantly different from that shown in the preceding table.  
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25. Other administrative expenses 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows: 

 

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES   
(Thousands of euros)  
 

2021 2020 
IT and systems (2,343) (2,226) 
Advertising (355) (405) 
Property and fixtures (153) (151) 
Communications (538) (462) 
Outsourced administrative services (1) (27,708) (29,417) 
Tax contributions (36) (36) 
Membership fees (32) (28) 
Representation and travel expenses (58) (54) 
Technical reports (116) (105) 
Governing and control bodies (865) (959) 
Other expenses (121) (53) 
TOTAL (32,325) (33,896) 
   

(1) Includes expenses in favour of CaixaBank, S.A., as a result of the agreement signed with CaixaBank obliging it to promote, execute and formalise – on behalf of Nuevo 
Micro Bank, S.A.U. – microcredit operations and services, and expenses for the provision of management, administration and monitoring of all operations with or without 
the intervention of CaixaBank, S.A., as an agent, for the amount of EUR 27,175 thousand (EUR 28,877 thousand in 2020). 
 

"Technical reports" relates to fees and expenses, excluding the related VAT, paid to the auditor, broken down as follows:  
 
EXTERNAL AUDITOR FEES (*) 
(Thousands of euros)   

   2021 2020 
Auditor (PwC in 2021 and 2020) 74 71 

 Statutory audit 65 62 
 Audit-related services 9 9 
TOTAL 74 71 

(*) The services contracted from our auditors comply with the Spanish Auditing Act's requirements of independence, and none of the work performed is incompatible 
with auditing duties. 

 

 

Information on the average payment period to suppliers 

The following tables provide a breakdown of the required information relating to payments made and pending at the balance sheet 
date: 

PAYMENTS MADE AND OUTSTANDING AT THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
(Thousands of euros)  
 

2021
Total payments made 7,634
Total payments pending 7
TOTAL PAYMENTS IN THE YEAR 7,641

Payments corresponding to the CaixaBank agency agreement are not included.  
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AVERAGE SUPPLIER PAYMENT PERIOD AND RATIOS 
(Days)  
 

2021
Average payment period to suppliers 14.57
Ratio of transactions paid 14.58
Ratio of transactions pending payment 6.34
 

In accordance with the Second Transitional Provision of Act 15/2010 of 5 July, covering measures to combat default payments in the 
commercial operations, generally, the maximum statutory period for payments between companies is 60 days. 
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26. Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows:  

 
BREAKDOWN OF THE IMPAIRMENT OR REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT ON FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
(Thousands of euros)  
 

2021 2020 
Financial assets at amortised cost  (31,035) (75,392) 
 Loans and advances (31,035) (75,392) 
        Net allowances (Note 10) (37,083) (76,008) 
       Of which - Customers (37,083) (76,008) 
        Write-downs (11,440) (21,308) 
        Recovery of written-off loans * 17,488 21,924 
TOTAL  (31,035) (75,392) 

(*) Includes recoveries of EUR 8,642 thousand of write-offs under guarantee agreements with the European Investment Fund (these recoveries do not reduce the balance 
of off-balance sheet write-offs). 
     
 

The Company receives grants from the European Investment Fund (E.I.F.), issued to cover losses arising from write-offs of certain 
microcredits for entrepreneurs and micro-enterprises, and also – to a lesser extent – for students, granted over a certain period of 
time.
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27. Information on the fair value 

 
The fair value measurement process established by the Company ensures that assets and liabilities are measured in accordance with 
the applicable criteria. In this regard, the valuation techniques used to estimate fair value comply with the following aspects: 

 The most consistent and appropriate financial and economic methods are used, which have been shown to provide the most 
realistic estimate of the price of the financial instrument and which are commonly used by the market. 

 They maximise the use of available information, both in terms of observable data and recent transactions with similar 
characteristics, and limit the use of unobservable data and estimates as much as possible. 

 They are comprehensively and sufficiently documented, including the reasons for their choice over other possible alternatives. 
 The chosen valuation methods are respected over time, as long as there are no reasons that change the reasons for which they 

were chosen. 
 The validity of the valuation models is regularly assessed using recent transactions and current market data. 

Assets and liabilities are classified into one of the following levels depending on the methodology used to arrive at their fair value: 

 Level 1: assets and liabilities valued using the price that would be paid for it on an organised, transparent and deep market 
(“quoted price” or “market price”).  

 Level 2: assets and liabilities where the relevant inputs used in the valuation are directly or indirectly observable in the market, 
such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, interest rate curves or credit spreads, among others.  

 Level 3: assets and liabilities for which the relevant data used in the valuation are not observable in the market, for the valuation 
of which alternative techniques are used, such as requesting a price from the trading entity or using market parameters 
corresponding to instruments with a risk profile similar to that of the instrument being valued. In general, the following are 
included in this level: 

 Loans and receivables. 
 Deposits. 
 Unlisted equity instruments. 

 
 

 

The main financial asset that the Company measures at fair value is the shares it holds in the EIF. The methodology for estimating 
the fair value of the EIF shares is to allocate dividend payments per share held. This value is calculated by the EIF and reported to the 
different companies that hold shares in it. 

The main valuation methods, assumptions and inputs used in estimating the value are presented below.  

 
The fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value recorded on the balance sheet is presented below, together with their 
breakdown by level and the associated carrying amount:

27,1. Fair value of assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value  
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (AF) AT FAIR VALUE  
(Thousands of euros)             

 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020  

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

FAIR VALUE CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

FAIR VALUE  
TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

FA at FV with changes in other comprehensive income (Note 9) 2,500 2,500   2,500 1,308 1,308  1,308 
 Equity instruments 2,500 2,500   2,500 1,308 1,308  1,308 
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The principal valuation methods used by the Company for the determination of the recurring fair value have not been changed during 
the financial year (during the financial year 2020 the principal valuation methods were not changed). 

Transfers between levels 

In 2021, there were no transfers between levels. 

 

 

 

 

The main valuation methods, assumptions and inputs used in estimating fair value for Levels 2 and 3 financial instruments at 
amortised cost on a recurring basis are presented below: 

 

 

Present value method (net present value): this model uses the cash flows of each instrument, which are established in the different 
contracts, and deducts them to calculate the present value. 

 

Note that the fair value presented for certain instruments may not correspond to their realisable value in a sale or liquidation 
scenario, as it was not determined for that purpose; in particular:  

 Loans and advances: Includes investment from the typical lending activity. The fair value is estimated using the present value 
method based on the expected cash flows set out in the various contracts and subsequently discounted using:  

◆  Market interest rate curves at the valuation date.  

◆  Early termination ratios based on available internal historical information.  

◆  Credit loss ratios from IFRS9 expected loss estimates based on internal models.  

 Deposits: Includes deposits collected from central banks, financial institutions and customers. The fair value is obtained using 
the present value method based on the expected cash flows set out in the various contracts and subsequently discounted using:  

◆  Market interest rate curves at the valuation date.  

◆  Internal model to estimate maturities of current accounts and other demand deposits calibrated on the basis of available 
internal historical information. This modelling considers the sensitivity of remuneration to market interest rates and the level 
of permanence of on-balance sheet items.  

◆  The credit spread is added to the risk-free curve based on the generic probabilities of loss of credit ratings. 

 

 Other financial liabilities: Includes mainly amounts for tax collection accounts, clearing houses and liabilities associated with 
rights-of-use assets. The fair value has been assimilated to the carrying amount, as these are mainly short-term balances. In the 
case of liabilities associated with right-of-use assets, the present value of future lease payments over the mandatory period of 
the contract is presented.  

27,1. Fair value of assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value  

27,2. Fair value of assets and liabilities 
measured at amortised cost  
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For more information on the aforementioned financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost, see Notes 10 and 14. 

The fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost recorded on the balance sheet is presented below, together with 
their breakdown by level and the associated carrying amount: 
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (FA) AT AMORTISED COST  
(Thousands of euros)             

 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020  

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

FAIR VALUE CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

FAIR VALUE  
TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

FA at amortised cost (Note 10) 1,968,496 2,139,413   2,139,413 1,723,959 1,868,394  1,868,394 
 Loans and advances 1,968,496 2,139,413   2,139,413 1,723,959 1,868,394  1,868,394 

 
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (FL) AT AMORTISED COST 
(Thousands of euros)            

 

31-12-2021 31-12-2020 

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

FAIR VALUE 
CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

FAIR VALUE 

TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3
FL at amortised cost (Note 14) 1,573,216 1,592,402  1,592,402 1,369,677 1,394,728  1,394,728
 Deposits 1,570,515 1,589,701  1,589,701 1,369,677 1,391,709  1,391,709
 Other financial liabilities 2,701 2,701  2,701 3,019 3,019  3,019
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The principal valuation methods used by the Company for the determination of the recurring fair value have not been changed during 
the financial year (during the financial year 2020 the principal valuation methods were not changed). 

Transfers between levels 

In 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers between levels. 
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28. Disclosures required under the Mortgage Market Law 

As referred to in article 12 of Royal Decree 716/2009, pursuant to the provisions of Circular 7/2010, on lending companies, 
implementing certain aspects related to the mortgage market, the Company states that—due to its operations—it does not have any 
assets under the mortgage market in its balance sheet in 2021 and 2020. 
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29. Related party transactions 

The "key management personnel" at MicroBank are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including all members of the Board of Directors and Senior 
Management of MicroBank. Given their posts, each member of the key management personnel is treated as a related party. 

The most significant balances between the Company and its related parties that supplement the other balances of the notes to this 
report are set out below. Details are also provided of the amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss from transactions 
carried out. All transactions between related parties form part of the ordinary course of business and are carried out under normal 
market conditions:

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND OPERATIONS 
(Thousands of euros)       
 SIGNIFICANT 

SHAREHOLDERS OF 
CAIXABANK (1) 

SOLE SHAREHOLDER AND 
GROUP COMPANIES 

KEY MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL (2) 

  31-12-2021 31-12-2020 31-12-2021 31-12-2020 31-12-2021 31-12-2020
ASSETS       
TOTAL     - - 
LIABILITIES       
Deposits from credit institutions   1,241,260 968,367  
TOTAL   1,241,260 968,367 - - 
PROFIT OR LOSS       
Interest expenses    (6,727) (5,276)  
Fee and commission expenses   (2,607) (2,583)  
TOTAL   (9,334) (7,859) - - 
OTHER       
TOTAL     - - 
        
(1) At 31 December 2021 they relate to balances and transactions carried out with the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation, CriteriaCaixa, BFA Tenedora de Acciones, SAU, the 
FROB and their subsidiaries. At 31 December 2021, CriteriaCaixa and BFA Tenedora de Acciones SAU's stake in CaixaBank (Sole Shareholder of the Company) is 30.01% and 
16.12%, respectively. 
(2) Directors and Senior Management of MicroBank.  
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Transactions between Group companies form part of the normal course of business and are carried out at arm's length. 

Description of the relationship between MicroBank, CaixaBank, and "la Caixa" Banking Foundation 

MicroBank holds an agency agreement with its Sole Shareholder (CaixaBank, S.A.), which was signed in 2011 for an indefinite term, 
with the aim of tasking the provision of a comprehensive management service for internal and external processes arising from the 
financial operations undertaken by the Company with customers, designating CaixaBank, S.A. as the exclusive agent.  This contract 
was reformulated in March 2020, separating, on the one hand, the activity related to the agency function and, on the other hand, 
the activity related to the new services, specific to banking operations, which are to be agreed. 

In addition, CaixaBank, S.A. provides the Company with management services related to the plan for the handover of shares to 
personnel belonging to the identified group and, furthermore, the agreements regulating the financing arrangements it grants to 
MicroBank are formalised. The service contract also remains in force for the services that the Sole Shareholder has entrusted to the 
Company, which are basically related to the management of its Monte de Piedad. 

CaixaBank, S.A., the Company's Sole Shareholder holds an Internal Relations Protocol with "la Caixa" Banking Foundation and 
CriteriaCaixa that regulates the mechanisms and criteria for relations between CaixaBank, and "la Caixa" Banking Foundation, and 
CriteriaCaixa.  



       
       
       

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

103

      30. Other disclosure requirements 
     Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements 2021 
 

30. Other disclosure requirements 

 

 

There is no significant risk of an environmental nature due to the bank's activity, and therefore, it is not necessary to include any 
specific breakdown in the environmental information document (Ministry of Justice Order JUS/794/2021). In addition, there are no 
significant amounts in the Company's tangible assets that are affected by any environmental aspect. 

The Company is committed to carrying out its business, projects, products and services in the most environmentally-friendly way 
possible. 

In 2021, the Company did not receive any major fines or sanctions in relation to compliance with environmental regulations. 

 

 

 

MicroBank is a member of the CaixaBank, S.A. Customer Service Office, which provides services to CaixaBank Group companies.  

The Customer Service Office (SAC) is tasked with handling and resolving customer complaints and claims. This office has no 
connections with commercial services and performs its duties with independent judgement and is aux fait with customer protection 
rules.  

A number of potential improvements to the policies, procedures and documents for marketing the products and services of CaixaBank 
and its Group have been identified from an in-depth analysis of claims and especially, the reports issued by the Supervisors' Claims 
Services in 2021. These led to the Customer Service Office drawing up 17 improvement proposals respectively.  

The average resolution time in 2021 is 26 calendar days, compared to 27 calendar days in 2020. 

The information regarding the MicroBank Customer Service for 2021 is set out below: 
 

CLAIMS RECEIVED 
(Number of claims)   

 2021 2020
HANDLED BY THE CUSTOMER SERVICE OFFICE 62 24
Customer Service Office (SAC) 62 24
FILED WITH THE SUPERVISORS' CLAIMS SERVICE 5 0
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30,1. Environment 

30,2. Customer service 
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The number of reports or resolutions issued by customer services and the supervisors' claims services was as follows:  

 

REPORTS ISSUED BY CUSTOMER SERVICES AND SUPERVISORS' CLAIMS SERVICES 

 
Customer Service Office 

(SAC)   BANK OF SPAIN  
TYPE OF RULING 2021 2020 (*) 2021 2020 
Resolved in favour of the claimant 32 8  
Resolved in favour of the Company 15 13  
Acceptance 1  
Other (rejected/unresolved) 15 3 4  

TOTAL 62 24  5 0  

(*) At the year-end, 9 claims were pending resolution.     
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Legal notice 
 

This document is intended exclusively for information purposes and does not aim to provide financial advice or 
constitute an offer to sell, exchange, or acquire, or an invitation to acquire any type of security or any financial 
service or product of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U., (hereinafter, MicroBank or the Company) or of any other company 
mentioned herein. The information contained herein is subject to, and must be used as supplementary to, all other 
publicly information available. Anyone who purchases a security at any time must do so solely on the basis of their 
own judgement or the suitability of the security for their own purposes, and exclusively on the basis of the public 
information set out in the public documentation drawn up and registered by the issuer in the context of this specific 
information, availing themselves of advice if they consider this necessary or appropriate in accordance with the 
circumstances, and not on the basis of the information set out in this document. 

CaixaBank and MicroBank wish to emphasise that this document may contain statements relating to projections or 
estimates in respect of future business or returns, particularly in relation to financial information regarding the 
CaixaBank Group, which has been prepared primarily on the basis of estimates made by both Companies. It should 
be noted that these estimates represent our expectations in relation to the evolution of our business, so there may 
be different risks, uncertainties and other relevant factors that can cause a change that substantially differs from our 
expectations. These variables include market conditions, macroeconomic factors, regulatory and government 
requirements; fluctuations in national or international stock markets or in interest and exchange rates; changes in 
the financial position or our customers, debtors or counterparties, and so forth. These risk factors, together with 
any others mentioned in past or future reports, could adversely affect our business and performance. Other 
unknown or unpredictable variables, or when there is uncertainty as to their evolution and/or potential impacts, 
may cause the results to differ materially from those described in the forecasts and estimates. 

Past financial statements and previous growth rates are no guarantee of the future developments, results or 
performance. Nothing contained in this document should be construed as constituting a forecast of future results 
or profit. Furthermore, it should be noted that this document was drawn up on the basis of the accounting records 
held by MicroBank and, where applicable, the CaixaBank Group, and includes certain adjustments and 
reclassifications to apply the principles and criteria followed by the Group companies on a consistent basis with 
those of CaixaBank, SA (parent company of the Group and Sole Shareholder of the Company). Therefore, the data 
contained in this presentation may not coincide in some aspects with the financial information published by said 
company.  

The statement of profit or loss, the consolidated balance sheet and the various breakdowns of the information 
contained in this report are presented in accordance with management criteria, although they have been prepared 
in accordance with the Bank of Spain Circular 4/2019 of 26 November, regulating the public and confidential 
information and financial statement formats of Credit Financial Institutions. The information relating to the 
CaixaBank Group has been prepared in accordance with the IFRSs adopted by the European Union by means of 
Community Regulations, in accordance with Regulation 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council 
of 19 July 2002 and subsequent amendments. 

 

 
 
This document features data supplied by third parties generally considered to be reliable information sources. However, 
the accuracy of the data has not been verified. With respect to data provided by third parties, neither MicroBank nor 
any of its administrators, directors or employees substantiates or represents, either expressly or impliedly, that such 
content is accurate, precise, comprehensive or complete and is under no obligation to keep such content up to date 
or to correct such content in the event of any inaccuracy, error or omission. Moreover, in reproducing these contents 
via any medium, MicroBank may introduce any changes it deems suitable and may partially or completely omit any 
portions of this presentation it chooses. MicroBank assumes no liability for any discrepancies with this version. In 
particular, please note that this document contains unaudited financial information. 

This report contains a number of the Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) set out in the Guidelines on 
Alternative Performance Measures published by the European Securities and Markets Authority on 30 June 2015 
(ESMA/2015/1057) (“the ESMA Guidelines”) so as to provide a clearer picture of the company’s financial performance 
and situation. Please be advised that these APMs have not been audited. These measures constitute additional 
information and should be treated accordingly. In no event are they intended to replace the financial information drawn 
up in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Moreover, the way the Group defines and 
calculates these measures may differ to the way similar measures are calculated by other companies. As such, they may 
not be comparable. Please refer to the "Glossary" section of the document for details of the APMs used. The report 
also provides a reconciliation between certain management indicators and the indicators presented in the consolidated 
financial statements prepared under IFRS. 

Without prejudice to any applicable legal requirements or limitations imposed by the CaixaBank Group, any use or exploitation 
of the contents of this document, as well as the use of the symbols, marks and logos contained therein, is expressly prohibited. 
This prohibition extends to any form of reproduction, distribution, transfer to third parties, public dissemination and 
transformation, by means of any medium, for commercial purposes, without the prior and express authorisation of the 
CaixaBank Group and/or other respective owners of the presentation. Failure to observe this prohibition may constitute a legal 
infraction sanctionable under prevailing legislation. 

Figures are presented in thousands of euros unless the use of another monetary unit is stated explicitly, and may be 
expressed as either thousand euros or € thousand. 

The information contained in this document refers to Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. When the information refers to the 
Group (CaixaBank and its subsidiaries), this will be explicitly specified (CaixaBank Group or Group).  
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This Management Report has been drawn up in accordance with the Commercial Code and Royal 
Legislative Decree 1/2012, of 2 July, on Corporate Enterprises. The non-financial information 
corresponding to Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. is included in CaixaBank Group's Consolidated 
Management Report, which is available alongside CaixaBank Group's Consolidated Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, which will be filed in the Valencia Companies 
Registry. 

In drawing up this document the Guide for the Preparation of Management Reports of Listed 
Companies from the CNMV was taken into account. 

 

From 1 January 2022 until the date of this report, no significant events affecting the Company have 
arisen which have not been disclosed in this document or the accompanying financial statements. 
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1. Our identity 
MicroBank is a company that belongs to CaixaBank Group, which is a financial group with a socially 
responsible, long-term universal business model, based on quality, trust and specialisation, offering 
a value proposition of products and services for each segment, treating innovation as both a strategic 
challenge and a distinguishing feature of its corporate culture. As a leader in retail banking in Spain 
and Portugal, it is a key player in supporting sustainable economic growth. 

CaixaBank, S.A. is the parent company of a financial services group whose shares are traded on the 
stock exchanges of Barcelona, Madrid, Valencia and Bilbao, and on the continuous market. Traded 
on the IBEX-35 since 2011, it is also listed on the Euro Stoxx Bank Price EUR, the MSCI Europe and the 
MSCI Pan-Euro. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our mission: To improve the financial well-being of our customers and help society 
prosper 

CaixaBank offers its customers the best tools and expert advice to make decisions and develop 
habits that form the basis of financial well-being and enable them to appropriately plan to meet 
recurring expenses, cover unforeseen events, maintain their purchasing power during retirement or 
to turn their dreams and projects into reality. 

 Specialised consultancy 

 Personal finance simulation and monitoring tools. 

 Comfortable and secure payment methods. 

 A broad range of savings, pension and insurance products. 

 Responsibly-granted loans. 

 Overseeing the security of our customers' personal information. 

 

 

Besides contributing to our customers' financial well-being, our aim is to support the progress of 
the whole of society. We are a retail bank with deep roots wherever we operate. We therefore feel 
we must play our part in the progress of the communities in which we are based. 

 By effectively and prudently channelling savings and financing, and 
guaranteeing an efficient and secure payment system. 

 By fostering financial inclusion and education; environmental 
sustainability; support for diversity; housing aid programmes; and promoting 
corporate voluntary work. 

 And, of course, through our work with the Obra Social (social 
programme) of the “la Caixa” Banking Foundation, whose budget is partly 
funded from dividends that CriteriaCaixa receives on its shares in CaixaBank. A 
major part of this budget is funnelled into identified local needs through the 
CaixaBank branch network in Spain and BPI in Portugal. 

We do this with: 

We contribute 
to the progress 
of society: 
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1.1 Shareholder structure 
At 31 December 2021, MicroBank had a share capital of 90,185,564 shares, each with a nominal value 
of 1 euro, belonging to a single class and series, represented by registered shares and appearing in 
the corresponding register. CaixaBank, S.A. is the sole shareholder of the Company. 
 

 

Operations involving the purchase and sale of treasury shares by the Company, will conform to the 
provisions of the regulations in force and in the agreements of the Sole Shareholder of the 
Company.  

MicroBank acquired no treasury shares in 2021. All of MicroBank's shares are held by the sole 
shareholder, CaixaBank, S.A. 

Furthermore, at year-end 2021, MicroBank holds 10,913 shares in CaixaBank, SA (7,935 in 2020), 
amounting to EUR 27 thousand, the purpose of which is to remunerate the Company's directors. 
In 2021, it acquired 11,231 shares for EUR 27 thousand in CaixaBank, S.A. and delivered 8,253 shares 
for EUR 21 thousand as remuneration to the Company's directors. 

 

Information on the acquisition and disposal of shares held in treasury and shares of the parent 
company during the reporting period is included in Note 16 "Equity" to the Financial Statements. 
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1.2 Corporate governance   
Robust Corporate Governance enables companies to maintain an efficient and methodical decision-
making process, as it incorporates clarity in the allocation of roles and responsibilities and, in turn, 
fosters proper management of risks and efficient internal control, which promotes transparency and 
limits the occurrence of potential conflicts of interest. All of this drives excellence in management that 
results in greater value for the company and therefore for its stakeholders. 

As part of our commitment to our mission and vision, we implement good Corporate Governance 
practices in our activity. This enables us to be a well-governed and coordinated company that is 
recognised for its good practices. 

MicroBank is governed, managed and represented by its Board of Directors, according to the 
guidelines issued by CaixaBank, the Bank’s sole shareholder. The Board of Directors approves the 
Bank's strategic plan, which is submitted to the sole shareholder, and carefully monitors the Bank’s 
activities, examining its balance sheet, financial situation and earnings, as well as the risks inherent to 
its business. 
 
Good governance and transparency are essential for MicroBank to safeguard the interests and earn 
the confidence of all stakeholders. Therefore, the Bank has its own Audit and Risks Committee and 
Appointments and Remuneration Committee that report to the Board of Directors. 
 
In line with best practices for risk management and control, the Bank has adopted the three lines of 
defence model implemented at CaixaBank, which establishes for the second line of defence the 
existence of a risk management function, and a regulatory compliance function. Therefore, the Bank 
has its own Control department, which liaises with CaixaBank's Regulatory Compliance Department 
to ensure correct and coordinated compliance between MicroBank and its sole shareholder and 
agent, CaixaBank, in the regulatory areas that affect it. 
 
Changes in the composition of the Board__________________________________________________________ 
 

The changes in the composition of MicroBank's Board of Directors agreed in 2021 are as follows: 

Chairperson of the Board of Directors: 

 

 

 

Directors: 

Raphaël Alomar (No changes) 

Christian Eugene de Noose (No changes) 

Ana Díez Fontana (No changes) 

Richard Fowler Pelly Re-elected as member and Chair of the Audit 
and Risk Committee and as member of the 
Appointments, Remuneration and Social 
Impact Committee on 18/02/2021 

Carles Alfred Gasòliba Böhm Re-elected as member and Chair of the 
Appointments, Remuneration and Social 
Impact Committee and as member of the 
Audit and Risk Committee on 18/02/2021 

Alberto López Martínez (No changes) 

Ana Rocío Sáenz de Miera Cárdenas (No changes) 

Joaquín Vilar Barrabeig (No changes) 

 

Board Secretary (non-director): 

 

 

Juan Carlos Gallego (No changes) 

Montserrat Pérez Simeón (No changes) 
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1.3 Business model   
 
MicroBank, the Group’s social bank, is a leader in the field of financial inclusion, using micro-loans 
and other loans with a social impact.  
MicroBank combines the contribution of value in social terms, satisfying needs that are not sufficiently 
covered by the traditional credit system, with the generation of the resources needed so that the 
project can continue to grow at the pace required by existing demand, following the parameters of 
rigour and sustainability of a banking institution. This establishes a social banking model that facilitates 
access to credit through quality financial services, with the following objectives: 
 

 
 

MicroBank's main figures in 2021 
       
         

      
 
 
Institutional support _______________________________________________________________________________ 
The support of leading European institutions in the promotion of entrepreneurship and micro-
enterprises is key to the achievement of MicroBank’s goals. 
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2. Risk management 

MicroBank, within CaixaBank Group, maintains a comfortable capital adequacy 
and comfortable liquidity metrics, in line with its business model. 
 
Taking into account the type of customers the Company serves, primarily families with a low income 
level, as well as entrepreneurs and microenterprises (which are not required to provide guarantees 
for the granting of loans), it is expected that the MicroBank credit portfolio will present a slightly more 
impaired risk profile than that for other customer groups within the Group. However, the guarantees 
provided by the different coverage agreements entered into with the European Investment Fund (EIF) 
and the Instituto de Crédito Oficial (ICO), allow the Bank to maintain its risk profile at the appropriate 
level, in line with the social approach of its activity. 
 
The implemented risk management systems are adequate for the Company's risk profile. 

As part of the internal control framework and in accordance with the provisions of the Corporate 
Global Risk Management Policy, the Group has a risk management framework that enables it to make 
informed decisions on risk-taking consistent with the target risk profile and appetite level approved 
by the MicroBank Board of Directors. This framework contains following elements: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Governance and organisation 
Internal policies, rules and procedures ensure adequate supervision by the governing bodies, steering 
committees, and by CaixaBank's specialised teams. 
 

Strategic risk management system 
1. Identification and assessment of risks. (Risk Assessment). 

2. Classification and definition of Risks. Corporate Risk Catalogue. 

3. Risk Appetite Framework (RAF). 
 

Risk culture 
The Group’s risk culture is imparted through training, communication and the performance-based 
assessment and remuneration of staff. 
 

Corporate Risk Catalogue ________________________________________________________________ 

The Corporate Risk Catalogue is a taxonomy that lists the Group's material risks. It covers both the 
definition of the material risks to which the institution is exposed, and it defines emerging risks and 
strategic events. It facilitates internal and external monitoring and reporting and is subject to periodic 
review, at least on an annual basis. This update process also assesses the materiality of the emerging 
risks previously identified in the Risk Assessment process. 

 

 

Note 3 to the Individual Annual Financial Statements for 2021 provides additional information on risk 
management and the Company's internal control model. 
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3. Context and outlook 

Economic context ___________________________________________________________________ 

Global and euro zone developments _____________________________________________________________ 

 
After the historic recession in 2020 (3.1% drop in global GDP), as a result of COVID-19 and the severe 
restrictions on activity imposed to contain it, the global economy recorded a strong recovery in 2021, 
with an estimated increase in GDP of around 6%. The rapid and robust economic policies that began 
in 2020 and followed in 2021, together with the gradual withdrawal of a large part of the restrictions, 
propped up the recovery throughout the year.  

However, the recovery was uneven; just as the shock had a heterogeneous impact, some countries 
felt the recovery more than others. Thus, when the pandemic erupted in 2020, and wave after of 
wave came crashing down, despite being a global shock, the intensity varied from one place to 
another depending on the sectoral characteristics of the local economy; the more or less aggressive 
containment strategy; and, finally, the degree of economic stimulus adopted.  

 

 

 

If the shock was global, but the impact local, something similar is happening with the recovery. In this 
regard, the key factors that have defined 2021 were the degree of vaccination of the population; the 
fiscal and monetary capacity to continue supporting the economy; the appearance of new variants 
of the virus, which have spread in widely disparate vaccination contexts; and the disruption of global 
supply chains. Thus, China's economy did not shrink with respect to 2020 (+2.3%) and it grew by 
8.1% in 2021; the United States already reached pre-pandemic GDP levels in Q2 2021 (-3.4% in 2020 
and 5.7% in 2021); the eurozone did not reach these pre-COVID levels until 2021 (-6.5% in 2020 and 
5.2% in 2021). 

Looking ahead to the coming quarters, the pace of recovery of the global economy will depend on 
new variants of the virus, global supply chain disruptions, the unfolding invasion of Ukraine by Russian 
troops and the inflationary pressures that result from all these elements. With regard to the crisis in 
Ukraine, there is a high degree of uncertainty about its macroeconomic impact, which will depend 
mainly on how long the conflict lasts. Although it seems premature to draw a clear macroeconomic 
scenario, there is no doubt that it will be necessary to revise the forecasts of downward growth, and 
inflation upward, in most economies.  
 
Similarly, the effects will again be uneven, with a greater impact on the European economy and 
emerging countries dependent on raw materials and with liquidity problems. At its March meeting, 
the ECB estimated a possible impact on GDP growth in the eurozone in 2022 of 0.5 percentage 
points, a figure that rises to 1.7 percentage points in an adverse scenario. It also placed eurozone 
average inflation at between 5.1% and 5.9% in 2022, depending on the scenario. In this context, the 
ECB announced an accelerated reduction in its debt purchase programme, although it leaves open 
the possibility of recalibrating this decision, according to how the scenario evolves. In the United 
States, it is expected to continue with its rate hike plan. The proximity of its labour market to full 
employment, high inflation rates (7.9% in February 2022) and higher energy prices as a consequence 
of the conflict support this scenario (with financial markets pricing in about 6 hikes in 2022). At a 
more regional level, the crisis in the Chinese real estate market and the implications it may have on 
the Asian giant's economic growth rates remain a matter of concern.  
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Developments in Spain ____________________________________________________________________________ 

In 2021, the Spanish economy recorded an intense recovery in activity and, above all, employment, 
which returned to pre-pandemic levels. However, the evolution throughout the year was 
characterised by ups and downs. After a hesitant start to the year, due to the effects of the third wave 
of the pandemic and adverse weather conditions, activity resumed its recovery in the second quarter 
thanks to widespread vaccination and the consequent easing on infection rates and hospital pressure. 
This, in turn, helped reactivate tourism flows and family spending, especially in activities that require 
more social interaction and which were more affected by the prior restrictive measures. These include 
activities that are hugely important to our economy, such as hospitality, leisure and tourism.  

In the last stretch of the year, activity kept growing, albeit at a more moderate pace, against the 
backdrop of a strong rise in inflation due to the energy increase and supply chain difficulties due to 
bottlenecks. For 2021 as a whole, the GDP grew 5.0%. This means that, at the close of the year, GDP 
would still be 4.0% below pre-crisis levels (fourth quarter of 2019). 

Expectations for 2022 until 24 February, with Russia's invasion of Ukraine, were favourable, and we 
forecast GDP growth of 5.5%, based on increasing resilience of economic activity to the pandemic, 
the recovery of the tourism sector, the impact of European funds and pent-up demand. However, 
the outbreak of the war has meant a change of scenario and how it unfolds affects all expectations. 
Given the high uncertainty, it is too early to quantify the impact on GDP growth. One of the main 
consequences that is already being observed is an additional increase in energy prices, which adds 
pressure on inflation adding pressure on inflation, already at 7.6% in February.  
 
The Spanish economy will also be affected by lower growth in private consumption, given the 
increased uncertainty and the fall in purchasing power that higher inflation will entail; weaker export 
momentum stemming from slower growth in our main trading partners, higher transport costs, and 
tighter global supply chains. Similarly, the scarcity and high prices of some raw materials and industrial 
metals will also negatively affect the manufacturing industry and the agro-food sector. 
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Technological, social and competitive context ____________________ 

Business profitability and solvency 

The improvement in the economic situation with respect to 2020 has allowed banking 
institutions to see their profitability return to levels similar to those observed before the 
outbreak of the pandemic. In particular, the return on equity (ROE) of the Spanish banking 
sector reached 10.94% in the third quarter of 20211, representing a year-on-year increase of 
13.5 percentage points. The improvement was mainly due to positive extraordinary results in 
the first half of 2021 (especially the impact of the CaixaBank and Bankia merger) and lower 
provisions. Excluding CaixaBank and Bankia and, therefore, this positive extraordinary 
adjustment, the sector's aggregate ROE reached 9.78%, a similar profitability level as before 
2020. 

However, the sector's profitability levels remain relatively low when compared to other sectors, 
and they remain below the cost of capital. This is explained by a lower capacity for revenue 
generation as a result of prolonged low interest rates and the moderation of recurring activity. 
In particular, the credit portfolio, after growing significantly at the start of the pandemic as a 
result of economic policy support measures (mainly ICO guarantee lines), remains stable in 
2021. Up to November 2021, the portfolio of credit to private-sector residents had increased 
by 0.6% in the year to date, although with marked differences in the evolution of the portfolio 
of credit to households and non-financial companies and the self-employed. 

On the other hand, economic reactivation has led to a reduction in risks affecting financial 
stability, although the macroeconomic environment is still demanding and some vulnerabilities 
can be observed, including the financial vulnerability of households and businesses most 
affected by the restrictions on activity imposed during the pandemic.  

To date, credit quality has remained stable, thanks to a range of measures introduced by the 
Government and the sector (moratoria, furlough programmes and public guarantee schemes), 
which have significantly mitigated the effects of the pandemic on household and business 
incomes and prevented non-performing loans suddenly surging. In fact, the sector's NPL rate 
in Spain has maintained its downward trend in 2021 (although at a lower rate than in the years 
prior to the pandemic), and in November 2021 it reached 4.29%, 0.3 percentage points below 
November 2020. As a result of this, and following the significant effort in provisions made in 
2020, the sector reduced provisions to pre-pandemic levels in 2021, a fact that has been 
reflected in the recovery of the aggregate results of banks. 

 

 

 

 

However, the final impact of the pandemic on credit quality could still take some quarters to 
materialise (which could have an impact on the results of banks). Similarly, as the Bank of Spain 
points out, despite the aggregate reduction in non-performing loans, certain signs of 
impairment of credit quality and heterogeneous behaviour are observed by activity sectors. Of 
particular note are the significant increase (53% year-on-year) in loans under watch-list 
performing2, particularly in the sectors most significantly affected by the pandemic (hospitality, 
transport, and car manufacturing) and the year-on-year recovery in refinancing or 
restructuring, which shows that banks have relied more on this resource to facilitate loan 
repayment.  

 

Falling income for banks means additional efforts will be needed to reduce 
operating costs and improve efficiency and, thus, ensure the future 
sustainability of the sector. 

 

Meanwhile, higher levels of capital compared to the 2008-2014 crisis mean the Spanish 
banking sector has greater capacity to absorb potential losses, even in more adverse scenarios. 
More specifically, in the third quarter of 2021, the Spanish banking sector's CET1 capital ratio 
increased by 87 basis points compared to 2019 levels1, to 13.66%, while the LCR stood at 213%, 
up from 196% a year earlier. Likewise, the results of the Bank of Spain's stress tests show how, 
in an adverse scenario, despite the fact that banks would consume part of their capital to 
absorb new losses, their aggregate solvency level would still be adequate. 

 
1. Bank of Spain data. 
2. A credit is classified under watch-list performing when a significant increase in credit risk has been observed since the time it was granted, even if 
no default has occurred. In this regard, loans under watch-list performing are more likely to be impacted compared to loans in a normal situation. 
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       Digital Transformation 

The prevailing digital habits and behaviours that emerged in the wake of the COVID-19 
pandemic have accelerated the process of digitalising the environment in which financial 
institutions operate.  

For the banking sector, the digital transformation is leading to a growing focus on customers 
and greater demands to keep them satisfied (in terms of convenience, immediacy, 
personalisation and cost). More specifically, customer satisfaction is becoming increasingly 
important at the same time that customer loyalty is diminishing, as it is easier to change bank 
in the digital environment. Furthermore, the digitalisation of the banking sector causing new 
non-traditional competitors to appear, such as Fintech and Bigtech digital platforms, with 
business models that leverage new technologies, raise service quality standards and increase 
pressure on the sector's margins.  

In turn, access to data and the ability to generate value from them have become an important 
source of competitive advantage. In particular, the use, processing and storage of data results 
in information that is used to create products that generate greater value for the customer and 
that are more adapted to their risk profile. Additionally, there has been an increase in the use 
and development of new technologies (such as Cloud, Artificial Intelligence and Blockchain) in 
the sector, although with different maturity levels. In any case, the use of new technologies in 
the sector means players will have to adapt business processes and strategies to the new 
environment.  

The digitalisation of the sector brings with it numerous opportunities to generate greater 
income. In particular, thanks to the use of digital technology, companies can expand their 
customer base and provide services more efficiently and at a lower cost, as they can reach a 
greater number of potential customers without having to expand their network of branches. 
In turn, digitalisation also produces new business opportunities, for example, by offering its 
digital platforms for third parties to market their products, or by introducing new financial 
products that best suit the needs of each customer.  

Meanwhile, payment habits are changing. COVID-19 has accelerated the reduction in the use 
of cash as a means of payment in favour of electronic means of payment. Digital payment 
systems are also evolving away from a model dominated almost exclusively by card systems 
(linked to bank deposits) towards a more mixed model in which Fintech and Big Tech also 
participate (and are beginning to offer alternative payment solutions), with the emergence of 
new types of money and payment methods, such as stablecoins. Against this backdrop, the 
central banks of the most developed economies are assessing the possibility of issuing digital 
money (in the medium term) as a complement to cash. In Europe, last July the ECB announced 
the start of the research phase of the digital euro where basic elements of its design will be 
outlined and defined.  

CaixaBank’s strategy for meeting the challenge of digitalisation, which also involves MicroBank, 
focuses on improving the customer experience. Accordingly, the digital transformation process 
brings new opportunities for the entity to get to know its customers and offer them a value 
proposition through an omnichannel service model. In particular, CaixaBank has a distribution 
platform that combines immense physical capillarity with strong digital capabilities—proof of 
this is that the bank has more than 10 million digital customers in Spain. In response to 
changing habits resulting from the health crisis, special emphasis is also being placed on 
initiatives that allow for improved interaction with customers through non-face-to-face 
channels. The digital transformation is also helping the organisation to develop enhanced 
capabilities such as advanced analytics and the provision of native digital services. Regarding 
this last point, Imagin offers a digital ecosystem and lifestyle platform focused on the younger 
segment and offering financial and non-financial products and services. The Bank is also 
developing new, more transversal and collaborative ways of working, seeking active 
partnerships with new entrants that offer services that can be incorporated into the group's 
value proposition. In the payment field, CaixaBank is participating in sector level initiatives to 
develop new payment solutions.  

Cybersecurity 

Digital transformation is vital for the competitiveness and efficiency of banking, but it also 
brings increased technological risks. In this regard, the increased digital operations of 
customers and employees make it necessary to increase the focus on cybersecurity and 
information protection. CaixaBank is aware of the existing threat level and therefore constantly 
monitors the technological environment and applications in order to ensure the integrity and 
confidentiality of information, the availability of IT systems and business continuity. This 
monitoring is carried out through planned reviews and a continuous audit (including the 
monitoring of risk indicators). CaixaBank also performs the studies needed to ensure its security 
protocols are adapted to new challenges, with a strategic information security plan that is 
designed to keep the bank at the forefront of data protection, in accordance with the best 
market standards. Finally, the bank develops and distributes extensive cybersecurity awareness 
content and programs for all its employees, customers and society in general. 
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       Sustainability 

The goal of decarbonising Europe’s economies in the medium-term has led to increased 
regulatory activity at all levels and growing pressure (from investors as much as regulators and 
supervisors) on companies to adjust their strategies accordingly.  

New standards and recommendations are being issued to guide companies, investors and 
supervisors, and provide them with the tools needed for proper management and governance. 
This is where EU's green taxonomy comes into play. It establishes a classification system for 
sustainable activities and the adoption of the Delegated Act1 of the European Commission that 
implements the reporting requirements on the degree of alignment with the taxonomy for 
companies subject to the Non-Financial Reporting Directive (NFRD). For credit institutions 
(subject to this directive), it has been proposed to disclose (from 2022) the proportion of 
exposures that are within the perimeter of the taxonomy, and from 2024, the proportion of 
exposures aligned with the taxonomy (Green Asset Ratio).  

Elsewhere, in the area of banking oversight, the ECB's action plan (with deliverables in 2024) 
explicitly incorporates climate change and energy transition into its framework of operations. 
The plan, which will be implemented in parallel with the introduction of European initiatives 
and policies in the field of sustainable reporting, seeks to ensure broad disclosure of climate 
risks by companies and financial institutions and a greater understanding of climate risks and 
their impact. This way they can be treated as a further financial risk. In addition, a climate stress 
test will be launched in 2022 to assess the resilience to climate risks and the level of 
preparedness of banks to deal with them—although this exercise will not have an impact on 
banks' capital requirements for the time being.  

 

CaixaBank considers it essential to make progress in the transition to a low-carbon 
economy that promotes sustainable development and is socially inclusive. 

 

For its part, the EU has passed the European climate law (which sets the bloc's 2050 emissions 
neutrality target as a legal commitment) and has begun to deploy measures to reduce 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and move towards a decarbonised economy. The Next 
Generation EU (NGEU) Recovery Plan is also intended to make a major contribution to 
decarbonising the European economy. In particular, measures and initiatives promoting 
climate objectives are one of the main elements of the recovery plan, which in the case of 
Spain account for nearly 40% of European non-refundable transfers (€27,600 million). This 
commitment offers a unique opportunity to support the building of a more sustainable 
economy by advising and mobilising investments that accelerate the green transition and 
contribute to climate change mitigation and adaptation.  

In this context, transitioning to a neutral carbon economy that encourages sustainable 
development and is socially inclusive is essential, in CaixaBank’s view. 

Social and governance matters are also receiving increasing attention from investors and 
society as a whole. CaixaBank shows a strong commitment to improving financial culture and 
inclusion, in which MicroBank also plays a vital role, in order to boost financial services across 
all sectors, and to developing active social policies that go beyond its financial activities and 
seek to ameliorate social problems. 

With regard to the latter, the company channels and promotes hundreds of social initiatives 
through its branches thanks to CaixaBank's network of volunteers and to the strategic 
partnership with the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation. Similarly, through the issuance of social 
bonds (€1,000 million issued in 2021), the company contributes to the development of a 
sustainable society by fighting poverty and promoting employment creation in the most 
disadvantaged areas. 

 

 

 
1. Delegated Act on article 8 of the taxonomy Regulation 
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4. Strategy   

The year 2021 marks the end of the 2019-2021 Strategic Plan of the CaixaBank Group. A people-
focused plan, which sought to promote technology at the service of customers and employees, 
generate attractive returns for shareholders and strengthen the Group's socially responsible banking 
model. 

In short, the plan sought to generate value sustainably for all CaixaBank stakeholders (customers, 
shareholders, employees and society) and in accordance with the Group's mission to contribute to 
the financial well-being of our customers and the progress of society. 

However, the COVID-19 pandemic and the deterioration of the economic environment made it 
difficult to fully realise many of Plan's financial objectives (including profitability) in 2020 and 2021. In 
addition, the pandemic also forced the bank to adjust some business priorities to deal with the 
worsening macroeconomic scenario in 2020. Changes brought about by the pandemic, such as the 
increased use of digital and remote tools by customers and employees, have led other priorities of 
the 2019-2021 Strategic Plan to be redefined. These include accelerating the bank's digital 
transformation and improving the capabilities of its digital channels while making it possible for a 
substantial part of the organisation’s employees to work from home.  

Meanwhile, CaixaBank culminated the legal merger with Bankia in March 2021. The operation, which 
was not contemplated in the 2019-2021 Strategic Plan, is best understood as the bank's strategic 
response to the major challenges facing the sector, which have been accentuated by the COVID-19 
pandemic. The merger puts CaixaBank in a strong position and lays the foundations for sustainable 
future growth. On the one hand, the merger has strengthened the CaixaBank Group's leadership in 
Spain with 21 million customers. On the other hand, it has enabled it to reach a critical size to improve 
efficiency and enjoy a further investment capacity in technology and innovation, with improved 
financial strength and greater capacity to generate sustainable returns. However, with the merger, 
some objectives of the 2019-2021 Strategic Plan ceased to be relevant, as the scope on which they 
were defined included only CaixaBank. In addition, several strategic initiatives had to be rethought in 
order to adapt to the new post-merger context.  

 

 

 

 

All this calls for a strategic update to set the roadmap for the coming years for the new bank born 
from the merger. With this in mind, the preparation of the next Strategic Plan is currently ongoing. 
The new plan is expected to be presented in spring 2022. 

 

MicroBank Strategic Plan _______________________________________________  

 

MicroBank also closed its 2019-2021 Strategic Plan in 2021. A plan aligned with the CaixaBank Group's 
Strategic Plan and focused on evolving the bank towards a more ambitious model, moving from 
being a bank specialising in microfinance towards being a leading bank in financing with social 
impact. 

But also in this case, the circumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic altered some of the objectives of 
the plan, with priority being given at all times to reaching the groups that needed it most at such a 
delicate time from a social and economic point of view. In this way, MicroBank's role has enabled it 
to reinforce its joint commitment with CaixaBank: to contribute to society's well-being, especially in 
the case of the most vulnerable groups. 

The main lines set out in the 2019-2021 Strategic Plan have been achieved to a high degree. 
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In a changing environment, the bank faces new challenges every day, which require a strategic 
update to set the new roadmap for the coming years. In this regard, the next Strategic Plan—which 
is currently being addressed—will reflect new opportunities for growth within a framework of action 
in which digitalisation and new strategic alliances will also be fundamental in MicroBank's mission to 
promote financial inclusion, facilitating access to credit for the most vulnerable groups and continuing 
to contribute to the Sustainable Development Goals. 

MicroBank's contribution to the 2030 Agenda: 

In September 2015, the United Nations General Assembly adopted the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable 
Development, an action plan for people, the planet and prosperity, which also intends to foster 
universal peace and access to justice. The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development sets out 17 

Sustainable Development Goals with 169 targets covering economic, social and environmental 
spheres. 

Through its activity and business model, MicroBank contributes to the Sustainable Development 
Goals. Specifically, three priority SDGs have been identified, which in turn are interrelated with six 
other SDGs, to which Microbank also contributes in a cross-cutting manner.  
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5. Financial reporting and 
results 
Main financial metrics ____________________________________________  

MicroBank's directors and management, for the purposes of business management and decision-
making, use the financial management information referring to the Company's individual data, but 
also taking into account CaixaBank Group's solvency and liquidity metrics.  
 
The main financial metrics are shown below: 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following section "Results" shows the performance of MicroBank's businesses, except when 
indicated otherwise. 
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MicroBank Results _________________________________________________________________________  

MicroBank's statement of profit or loss for 2021 is shown below, together with a comparison with the 
previous year. 

 
Income after tax for the financial year 2021 amounts to EUR 36.4 million, +572.6% compared to the 
previous year. Four factors stand out:  

(i) the reduction in net interest income, as a result of the reduction in the average rate of the 
portfolio, both due to the fall in rates on the various lines of credit and the change in the 
composition of the portfolio, with a greater relative weight of financing to businesses as 
opposed to lending to households. Although this reduction is not very significant in absolute 
terms, it is noticeable when looking at the amounts of net income in relation to the average 
loan portfolio for each of the two years (5.9% in 2021 and 6.9% in 2020);  

(ii) the recovery of fees and commissions related to the recovery of unpaid debts, which during 
the previous year was largely replaced by the formalisation of payment facilities (grace periods 
and moratoria) offered to customers in the context of the COVID-19 crisis;  

(iii) a slight reduction in administrative expenses, influenced by the costs derived from the agency 
agreement and the services provided by CaixaBank (with a notable impact in the previous year 
as a result of the high number of loans arranged in the entrepreneur and business lines); and, 
above all,   

(iv) the decrease in impairment losses on financial assets observed in 2021, following the 
considerable, and prudent, effort in loan-loss provisioning made in 2020 in order to approach 
the next year with healthy metrics.   

 
Net interest income_______________________________________________________________________________  
 

Net interest income amounted to EUR 113.5 million (-2.3% compared to 2020). Against a backdrop 
of rock-bottom interest rates, this decrease is due to: (i) lower credit revenues following a decrease 
in rates, also impacted by the change in the structure of the loan portfolio (exceptionally due to the 
increase in ICO loans). This rate decrease has been partially offset by a higher portfolio volume. 

The interest expense for the year as a percentage of the average volume of financing (deposits from 
credit institutions) has remained at a similar level as the previous year, although the higher volume 
of financing led to an increase in absolute expenditure. 
 

Fees and 
commissions_______________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Net fee and commission income amounted to EUR 4.9 million (+26.4% vs. the previous year), 
particularly impacted by the increase in fees linked to debt recovery, due to the normalisation of 
operations following the implementation of moratoria, grace periods and other credit facilities 
granted during the previous year because of COVID-19. 

Other operating income and expense __________________________________________________________ 

 

Other operating income and expenses amounted to EUR 1.1 million and basically include the fees 
corresponding to the management service for CaixaBank's Monte de Piedad and the amount 
corresponding to contributions to the Single Resolution Fund (SRF) and the Deposit Guarantee Fund 
(DGF).  
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Administration expenses and depreciation and amortisation________________________________________  
 

The year-on-year evolution of administrative expenses and depreciation and amortisation (-3.3%) 
reflects the adjustment of agency and service costs paid to the sole shareholder for the services 
provided to MicroBank. Personnel expenses increased 8.7%, other administrative expenses decreased 
4.6% and depreciation and amortisation increased 9.7%. The total for the heading was EUR 36.3 
million, giving an efficiency ratio of 30.4%.  

 

 

 
 
Impairment losses on financial assets and other provisions _______________________________________ 
 

Impairment losses on financial assets stood at EUR 31 million (EUR 75 million in 2020).  This cost, 
which already includes the recovery of NPL losses based on the coverage agreements established 
with the E.I.F., represents 1.6% of the average portfolio for the year. 

Its evolution is marked both by the losses actually materialised (the number of loans that have been 
written off, which in the current year was lower than in the previous) and by the evolution observed 
in the macroeconomic scenarios and the weighting given to each of these scenarios used in the 
estimation of the expected loss for credit risk, and which are specified in the internal model used by 
the Group to calculate provisions. The scenarios used, with internal economic forecasts, are assigned 
different severity levels and the combination of scenarios makes it possible to mitigate the uncertainty 
in the projections, although the level of provisions set aside accordingly will be updated in the coming 
quarters with the new information available. 

As a result, at 31 December 2021, a provision for credit risk of EUR 114 million was recognised, which 
prudently anticipates any losses due to impairment of the bank's loan portfolio.  
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Balance sheet______________________________________________________________________________________  
 

MicroBank's total assets amounted to EUR 2,000 million at 31 December 2021 (+13.1% compared to 
year-end 2020). CaixaBank Group's main figures are as follows, including those corresponding to 
MicroBank: 

 

 
 
 
Asset quality_____________________________________________________________________________________  
 

The bank's NPL ratio increased to 4.66% (from 3.75% in December 2020), closing the year with EUR 
97 million of non-performing assets (EUR 69 million in 2020).  

The EUR 114 million of loan-loss provisions implied a coverage ratio of 118% of non-performing assets, 
notably lower than in 2020 (167%) but prudently adjusted to the evolution observed during the 
current year, after the initial doubts and uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 context. 

The write-off ratio (debt transferred to write-offs as a percentage of accumulated amount of credit 
granted and now past due or cancelled since the start of the bank's activity, excluding refinancing) 
was 6.1%, before taking into account recoveries due to coverage by the E.I.F., and 4.7% after applying 
the amounts recovered under the various guarantee agreements with the E.I.F. 
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Liquidity __________________________________________________________________________________________  

The Group manages liquidity risk to maintain sufficient levels so that it can comfortably meet all its 
payment obligations and to prevent its investment activities from being affected by a lack of lendable 
funds, at all times within the risk appetite framework. 

The Group's main liquidity and funding structure figures are as follows: 

 

 

The regulatory liquidity requirements in the case of the reporting and regulatory compliance 
perimeter for the "Single liquidity subgroup" (consolidated CaixaBank without BPI and without 
CaixaBank Wealth Management Luxembourg, S.A.) are as follows: 

The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) at 31 December 2021 was 336%, showing an ample liquidity 
position (320% LCR average last 12 months) well clear of the minimum regulatory requirement of 
100%. 

The Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) stood at 154% at 31 December 2021, above the 100% regulatory 
minimum requirement. 

Note 3.3.2 "Liquidity risk" to these financial statements describes the company's strategic principles, 
risk strategy and risk appetite in relation to liquidity and funding risk. 

 

 

 
1. Data corresponding to the reporting and regulatory compliance perimeter for the "Single liquidity subgroup" (consolidated CaixaBank without BPI and without 
CaixaBank Wealth Management Luxembourg, S.A.). 
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Capital management ______________________________________________________________________________  

Within the framework of CaixaBank Group, and in accordance with the provisions of the 
aforementioned regulations, the Company maintains the exemption from individual compliance with 
the general own funds requirements, stating that the Company meets all the requirements of the 
regulations in force for these purposes, and there are no future or foreseeable practical impediments 
or legal instruments for the immediate transfer of own funds or reimbursement of liabilities. 

For this reason, the figures in this section correspond to the information of the CaixaBank Group. 

 

The decisions of the European Central Bank (ECB) and the national supervisor, following the 
integration with Bankia, require the CaixaBank Group to maintain capital requirements of 8.19% for 
CET1, 9.99% for Tier 1 and 12.41% for Total Capital by 2021.  

 
Solvency information is included in Note 4 of the accompanying financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Evolution of Liquidity in MicroBank 
 
In the case of MicroBank, the Company is basically exposed to daily demands on its available liquid 
resources as a result of contractual obligations relating to the credit drawdowns and customer liability 
balances. 

Once again this year we would like to highlight MicroBank's excellent commercial relationship with 
both the Council of Europe Development Bank (CEB), with which it has a debt balance of EUR 230 
million at 31 December (basically aimed at facilitating financing for entrepreneurs and 
microenterprises), and with the European Investment Bank, whose debt balance at the end of the 
year was EUR 30 million. In addition, a debt balance of EUR 19 million is also held with the ICO. This 
financing is a fundamental supplement to the credit line that CaixaBank provides to the Company 
and which, also at year-end, represents a debt volume of EUR 1,241 million, of which EUR 1,206 million 
correspond to loans and EUR 35 million to the balance drawn down on the credit account (the latter, 
the credit account, which at 31 December 2021 had a limit of EUR 75 million, is the basic management 
tool used by MicroBank to meet short-term operational liquidity needs). 

 

In note 3.3. "Liquidity risk" to these financial statements describes the Company's strategic principles, 
risk strategy and risk appetite in relation to liquidity and funding risk. 
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6. Non-financial 
information 
 
The non-financial information of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U., is contained in point 03: Statement of 
non-financial information, of CaixaBank Group's Consolidated Management Report.  
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Glossary – Financial information 
 
In addition to the financial information prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) and Bank of Spain Circular 4/2019, this document includes certain Alternative 
Performance Measures (APMs) as defined in the guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures 
issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority on 30 June 2015 (ESMA/2015/1057). 
CaixaBank uses certain APMs, which have not been audited, for a better understanding of the 
company's financial performance. These measures are considered additional disclosures and in no 
case replace the financial information prepared under IFRSs. 

Moreover, the way the Group defines and calculates these measures may differ to the way similar 
measures are calculated by other companies. Accordingly, they may not be comparable. 

ESMA guidelines define an APM as a financial measure of historical or future performance, financial 
position, or cash flows, other than a financial measure defined or specified in the applicable financial 
reporting framework. 

In accordance with these guidelines, following is a list of the APMs used, along with a reconciliation 
between certain management indicators and the indicators presented in the consolidated financial 
statements prepared under IFRS: 

Profitability and cost-to-income 

Customer spread: this is the difference between: (i) average rate of return on loans (income from 
loans and advances divided by the net average balance of loans and advances for the period); and 
(ii) average rate for retail funds (cost of retail funds divided by the average balance of those funds, 
excluding subordinated liabilities). 

N.B.: The average balances of the analysed period are calculated on the basis of the daily closing balances of said 
period, except in the case of some subsidiaries, for which the average balances are calculated as the arithmetic 
average of the closing balances of each month. 
 
Balance sheet spread: this is the difference between: (i) average rate of return on assets (interest 
income divided by total average assets for the period); and (ii) average cost of funds (interest 
expenses divided by total average funds for the quarter). 

N.B.: The average balances of the analysed period are calculated on the basis of the daily closing balances of said 
period, except in the case of some subsidiaries, for which the average balances are calculated as the arithmetic 
average of the closing balances of each month. 
 
ROE: profit/(loss) attributable to the Group (adjusted by the amount of the Additional Tier 1 coupon 
reported in equity) divided by average shareholder equity plus valuation adjustments for the last 12 

months (calculated as the average value of the monthly average balances). This allows the Group to 
track the return on its shareholder equity. 

ROTE: Quotient between: (i) profit attributable to the Group (adjusted by the amount of the Additional 
Tier 1 coupon reported in equity); and (ii) 12-month average shareholder equity plus valuation 
adjustments deducting intangible assets using management criteria (calculated as the value of 
intangible assets in the public balance sheet, plus the intangible assets and goodwill associated with 
investees, net of impairment allowances, recognised in Investments in joint ventures and associates 
in the public balance sheet). Metric used to measure the return on tangible equity. 

ROA: quotient between the net profit (adjusted by the amount of the Additional Tier 1 coupon 
reported in equity) divided by average total assets for the last 12 months (calculated 
as the average of the daily balances for the period analysed). 

RORWA: net profit (adjusted by the amount of the Additional Tier 1 coupon reported in shareholder 
equity) divided by average total risk-weighted assets for the last 12 months (calculated as the average 
value of the quarterly average balances). 

Core Income: total of net interest income, fee and commission income, income from the life-risk 
insurance business, the result of using the equity method for SegurCaixa Adeslas and income from 
the insurance investees of BPI. 
 
Cost-to-income ratio: operating expenses (administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation) 
divided by gross margin (or core income for the core efficiency ratio) for the last 12 months. 

Risk management 

Cost of risk (CoR): total allowances for insolvency risk (twelve months) divided by average of gross 
loans to customers plus contingent liabilities, using management criteria (calculated as the average 
value of the monthly closing balances). Metric used to track the cost of insolvency allowances on the 
loan book. 

Non-performing loan ratio: quotient between the non-performing loans and advances to customers 
and contingent liabilities, using management criteria, and the total gross loans to customers and 
contingent liabilities, using management criteria. 

Coverage ratio: quotient between the total credit loss provisions for loans to customers and 
contingent liabilities, using management criteria, and non-performing loans and advances to 
customers and contingent liabilities, using management criteria. 
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Real estate available for sale coverage ratio: quotient between the gross debt cancelled at the 
foreclosure or surrender of the real estate asset minus the present net book value of the real estate 
asset; and the gross debt cancelled at the foreclosure or surrender of the real estate asset.  

Reflects the coverage level via write-downs and accounting provisions on foreclosed real estate assets 
available for sale. 

Accounting coverage ratio for available-for-sale real estate assets: accounting coverage (accounting 
provisions for foreclosed assets) divided by the gross carrying amount of the real estate assets (sum 
of net carrying amount and accounting provision). 
 

Liquidity 

Total liquid assets: sum of HQLAs (High Quality Liquid Assets within the meaning of Commission 
Delegated Regulation of 10 October 2014) plus the available balance under the facility with the 
European Central Bank (non-HQLA). 

Loan-to-deposits: quotient between net loans and advances to customers using management criteria 
excluding brokered loans (funded by public institutions), and customer deposits on the balance sheet. 
Shows the retail funding structure (allows us to measure the proportion of retail lending being funded 
by customer funds). 

Other relevant indicators 

Market capitalisation: share price multiplied by the number of issued shares minus the number of 
treasury shares held at the end of the period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adjustment of the structure of the public income statement to the management format___ 

Net fee and commission income. Includes the following line items: 
• Fee and commission income. 
• Fee and commission expense. 
 
Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities and others. Includes the following line items: 
Gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss (net). 
Gains/(losses) on financial assets not designated for trading compulsorily measured fair value through 
profit or loss (net). 
Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net. 
Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting, net. 
• Exchange differences (net). 
 
Administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation. Includes the following line items: 
• Administrative expenses. 
• Depreciation and amortisation. 
 
Pre-impairment income. 
• (+) Gross income. 
• (-) Operating expenses. 
 
Impairment losses on financial assets and other provisions. Includes the following line items: 
• Impairment/(reversal) of impairment losses on financial assets not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss or net profit or loss due to a change. 
• Provisions/(reversal) of provisions. 
 

Of which: Allowances for insolvency risk. 
• Impairment/(reversal) of impairment losses on financial assets not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss corresponding to Loans and advances to customers, using management criteria. 
• Provisions/(reversal) of provisions corresponding to Provisions for contingent liabilities, using 
management criteria. 
 
Of which: Other charges to provisions. 
• Impairment/(reversal) of impairment losses on financial assets not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, excluding balances corresponding to Loans and advances to customers, using 
management criteria. 
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• Provisions/(reversal) of provisions, excluding provisions corresponding to contingent liabilities using 
management criteria. 

Gains/(losses) on derecognition of assets and others. Includes the following line items: 
• Impairment or reversal of impairment on investments in joint ventures or associates. 
• Impairment/(reversal) of impairment on non-financial assets. 
• Gains/(losses) on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments, net. 
• Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss. 
• Profit/(loss) from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying 
as discontinued operations, net. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

  
Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. 
 

Preparation of the 2021 Financial Statements and the management report. 

Official notice issued by the Secretary of the Board of Directors of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U., Ms Montserrat Pérez Simeón, stating that 
on 25 March 2022, the Board of Directors of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. proceeded to prepare by means of this document comprising 130 
sheets of paper sealed on the reverse side of class 8, numbered from 005606363 to 005606492, both inclusive, the financial statements 
and management report of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. for the year ended 31 December 2021, plus this sheet number 005606493, which 
include the signature of all the Directors whose full name appear following this official notice. 

Madrid, 25 March 2022 
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